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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 as well as the prospect of our business portfolio.

In 2023, the Group demonstrated remarkable resilience in the face of a
challenging macroeconomic environment. Despite the global economic
downturns and the significant influence of government policy, market
demand, and environmental regulation on the coking coal market
in Shanxi Province (“Shanxi”), the Group stood firm, maintaining its
stability.

During the year, the Group concentrated on the coal mining business,
mainly developing the Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine for the
commencement of full construction work, and the coal operation
business includes coal processing, the sale of coal products, and the
provision of coal-related services. Both provided a steady cash inflow
and a strong foundation for the Group’s financial stability throughout
the year.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) is undergoing an
environmental paradigm shift, transitioning to a global leader in the fight
against climate change. The coal regulatory authorities in Shanxi have
adopted stringent policies and regulations on safety, environmental
protection, and production control to implement the national safety
protocol for coal mines as the PRC government pursues its goal of
promoting ecological civilization.

Following the reorganization on 19 January 2024, the Group lost
control over its coal mining business and leading to deconsolidation.
As a result, the Group’s liabilities have significantly decreased. The
Board is optimistic about the coal operation business. We aim to
increase our market share by allocating more resources, enhancing
our competitive edge, and improving performance at a steady pace.
The Group will also explore business opportunities related to the
coal industry, further underlining our commitment to this sector. We
will actively seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities
to improve the overall financial position of the Group and actively
generate favorable returns for our shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

The Group is ready to build on its accomplishments in 2023 and to ANEBR T - =FEE &KL - K AR
attain a better development for the diverse portfolio of the Company. SEE#TZ L BEMER - AAZREKRE
On behalf of the Board and management, | wish to express my SZg@kEEE  HEF « £KEHE - ARQF]
sincere gratitude to our clients, business partners, the shareholders — J&EE ([BREE ) & E b =5 () HEH AR E B ER T H
(the “Shareholder(s)”) and other stakeholders of the Company for their 3 MERBBUAR LRS- TMBRORERSHET
unwavering support and belief in the Group, and to our employees for ~ HITNEE N R HERE S - REBRNFERRE
their tireless dedication and professional competence that are the fuel BRI °

to drive the Group’s ongoing development.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam ey
Chairman R EAE
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024 EH —E-_mWE=A-+/\H
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 58, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 June 2013. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from |LI 78 B 48 K £
(Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Accounting and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from &/I# 2Bt (Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business®). Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management in mining, investment, finance and other industries.

He was appointed as an executive director of PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (“PINE”) (Stock Code: 1079), a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), on 8 June 2017. He was also designated as the chairman
of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, the chairman of
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of
PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (“Mr. Tse”), aged 66, was re-appointed as an
executive Director on 1 September 2016, and now being the chairman
of the Board, the chief executive officer and the chairman of each
of the nomination committee and the risk management committee
of the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Company. He was an executive Director from 12 February 2007 to
30 November 2015. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in
Biological Science from the University of California, Berkeley and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of San
Francisco.

Mr. Tse has over 30 years of experience in corporate management
in the agriculture, manufacturing, mining and merge and acquisitions
sectors. Mr. Tse was a registered consultant to Asian Development
Bank and held key positions in several companies listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (“Mr. Ho”), aged 56, was appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 5 August 2020 and
now being the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and
the member of each of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration (Hons.), major in
Accounting, from Hong Kong Baptist University. He has over 29 years
of experience in finance and accounting, company secretary, initial
public offering, takeover, deposition and debt restructuring. He is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

He was also respectively appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Yadong Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1795) since
21 October 2020, an independent non-executive director of JW
(Cayman) Therapeutics Co. Ltd (Stock Code: 2126) since 22 October
2020, and an independent non-executive director of MicroTech
Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2235.HK) since 19 October
2021. The securities of the above companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
CECEP COSTIN New Materials Group Limited (Stock Code: 2228),
a company has been delisted from the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 14 February 2022, on 6 August 2018 and has resigned
on 8 February 2022.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Rosan
Resources Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 578), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 1 July 2020 and has
resigned on 1 November 2022.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEBEHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tian Hong (“Mr. Tian”), aged 59, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 10 August 2020, and now
being the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
and the member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the risk management committee of the Company. He
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from || 75 B4 48 K
B2 (Shanxi University of Finance & Economics*) in 2009 and qualified
as a senior economist of The Bank of China in 1998. He has over
30 years of experience in banking and finance.

Mr. Tian was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 4 July 2017
and designated as the member of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committees of PINE.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

Mr. Shen Weidong (“Mr. Shen”), aged 54, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 2 November 2020, and now
being the member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. He holds a Executive Master of Business
Administration Degree from Southwest International University, the
United States. He has over 25 years of managerial experience in hotel
and real estate industries.

Mr. Shen held multiple managerial roles in a number of reputable
corporations since 1996. Mr. Shen is currently the managing director
of LAKEEE R FHERIEFR QA (Shanxi Economic and
Trade Group Dingxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*) and KR
BEEMEMZEAR AR (Taiyuan Hengxin Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.").

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

During this year, the Group operated in a challenging macroeconomic
environment. The global economic condition significantly influences
the Shanxi coking coal market through its impact on steel demand,
industrial output, and trade flows. In current year, the global economic
downturns have reduced steel demand, leading to decreased
coking coal consumption. Internally, the Shanxi coking coal market,
influenced by government policies, market demand, and environmental
regulations, experienced a decrease in prices due to factors such as
softened export demand and adjustments to meet new regulatory
standards. Despite robust domestic consumption within China’s steel
industry, economic conditions and regulatory changes contributed to
downward trend on prices. During the current year, the decrease in
the Group’s turnover was primarily attributed to lower selling prices
and reduced sales volume of coking coal.

Coal mining business

The Group had 5 coking coal mines which are Fuchang Mine, Jinxin
Mine, Liaoyuan Mine, Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine in the Guijiao,
Taiyuan City, Shanxi with an allowed aggregate annual coal production
capacity of 1,650,000 tonnes as at 31 December 2023. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, approximately 990,000 tonnes (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately 1,026,000 tonnes) of
coals were produced and approximately 850,000 tonnes (for the year
ended 31 December 2022: approximately 919,000 tonnes) of coals
were sold.

Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuan Mine, which entered the joint trial
operation in October 2016 and September 2018 respectively, passed
the inspection for completion in January 2017 and December 2018
respectively and obtained (&Z&4£EFTA]E) (the Permit for Safe
Production®) in January 2023 and November 2022 respectively.
Regarding of Fuchang Mine and Liaoyuen Mine, the expected
production capacity for each is 600,000 tonnes per year. In addition,
Fuchang Mine was recognised by the Coal Industry Bureau of Shanxi
Province as a {ZH{ L2 EEZELERE) (Second Class Safe
Production Standardisation Coal Mine*) with a valid period of 3 years
from August 2023.

In November 2022, the Mine reorganisation and consolidation of
Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine had been approved by the Department
of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province. The existing Mine resources
(the “Mine Resources”) of Xinfeng Mine will be combine with production
schedule of Bolong Mine. The expected production schedule for Safe
Production Date of the Mine Resources is after finishing the original
production schedule of Bolong Mines.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Coal mining business (continued)

In accordance with regulatory documents such as the {87 #e 1 /£ T2
WEEEAMNEHEER) (BHIE[2017]59%) (Opinions of
Implementation on Reduction and Reorganisation of Coal Enterprises
(Jin Zheng Fa [2017] No.59)*) issued by the People’s Government of
Shanxi Province, and the BN E —#tXERESBE T ROUE) (B
BAL R PR [2020]45%) (Approval of the Proposal for the Second
Reduction and Reorganisation of Coal Enterprises (Jin Mei Hua Jie
Chan Neng Ban Fa [2020] No.4)*) issued by the Office of the Leading
Group for the Resolving of Excess Capacity and Achieving
Transformation and Development in the Coal Industry of Shanxi
Province, it is imperative to underscore that Jinxin Mine and Shanxi
Coal Sales Group Century Tuoxin Coal Industry Co., Ltd. (“Tuoxin”) are
entities bound by regulatory documents and mandatory requirements,
and as such, they are obligated to fulfill their relevant responsibilities
and obligations.

In light of this, Jinxin Mine and Tuoxin are committed to fully
cooperating with relevant departments and actively implementing
the reduction and geographical restructuring plans, with the aim of
achieving the objectives set forth in the regulatory documents and
making positive contributions to the sustainable development of the
industry.

As at 3 January 2024, the trial operations of Bolong Mine had been
approved by the Department of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province.
The full operation of Bolong Mine is expected to be after six months of
trial operations and subject to the completion of the compliance review
by the Department of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province.

On 19 January 2024, Jinneng Holdings Group Limited* (& g% & &
BR A7) (“Jinneng”) transferred its 41% equity interest in Shanxi Coal
Transportation and Marketing Group Energy Investment Development
Company Limited* (LR R EHEEEREEREERAQF)
(“Shanxi Coal Group”) (including its rights to appoint directors of
Shangxi Coal Group) to Shanxi Coking Coal Group Coal Management
Company Limited* (LFAEEEBEKEEXEEBR A F]) (“Shanxi
Coking”) and such equity interest is managed by its subsidiary, Xishan
Meidian (Group) Company Limited* (FILEE(EE)ER S ERQT)
(“Xishan Meidian”). As at the date of this report, the filing procedures
in the PRC for the registration of Shanxi Coking as a 41% shareholder
of Shanxi Coal Group are still in progress. Each of Jinneng, Shanxi
Coking and Xishan Meidian are state-owned enterprises of PRC. For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
19 January 2024 and 7 February 2024.

*  For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Coal operation business

The business objective for the coal operation of the Group is to
establish a leading enterprise that prioritizes profitability alongside
safety, environmental responsibility, and community engagement.
This objective is supported by a strategic framework that emphasizes
operational excellence, diversification, environmental compliance,
safety management, and social responsibility. Through the
implementation of a comprehensive business plan encompassing
market analysis of the coal operation sector, financial projections,
operational strategies in the management of the coal operation
business, environmental assessments and risk management, the
business aims to achieve sustainable growth, mitigate risks, and
create shared value for Shareholders. By aligning organizational goals
with market dynamics, regulatory requirements, and sustainability
principles, the coal operation business of the Group can position
itself for long-term success and contribute positively to regional
development and environmental sustainability.

The revenue-generating model for the coal operation business of the
Group revolves around the processing, and sale of coal products,
supplemented by long-term contracts with key customers, spot
market sales, and value-added products such as coal derivatives,
processed coal products. The coal operation business can optimize
revenue generation, mitigate market risks, and capitalize on emerging
opportunities by diversifying the revenue models.

Our leadership team has diverse backgrounds in mining, engineering,
finance, and environmental compliance. Management with technical
expertise in mining operations, safety management, and environmental
compliance is essential for optimizing operational efficiency and
ensuring regulatory compliance. Additionally, we have managed
the scale of manpower to support mining operations, maintenance,
and administrative functions. By prioritizing safety, environmental
compliance, and workforce development, the business can drive
sustainable growth while maintaining a safe and productive work
environment for all employees.

Gujiao Hengbaitai Coal Trading Co., Ltd.* (§ X MEBEEKXKZESHE
fR A B]) (“Hengbaitai”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
established in Shanxi, its principle activities are coal processing, sale
of coal products and the provision of coal related services. Hengbaitai
is under the coal operation segment throughout the years and
commence its operation in second half of 2021 and recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$95,680,000 for the years ended
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$160,994,000).

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Cambodia business

The Group is seeking business opportunities related to cassava-based
agricultural and deep processing business in Cambodia.

Environmental, social and corporate responsibility

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
a higher environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. During the year, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group understands a better future depends
on everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate
in environmental and social activities which benefit the community as
a whole. The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high
quality products and services to its customers so as to ensure
sustainable development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

(Loss)/profit for the year

Loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$3,339,315,000 (profit for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$347,694,000). The change in the loss for the year
was mainly attributable to the combined effects of the factors as stated
below:

(i) Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1,463,280,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$2,305,799,000), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$842,519,000 or 36.5%, which the revenue is
generated from mining operation and mainly came from Fuchang
Mine and Liaoyuan Mine. The decrease in revenue is mainly due
to the decrease in the selling price and production units of mining
products throughout the year.

(i) Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
gross profit of approximately HK$21,968,000 with a gross profit
ratio of 1.5% (31 December 2022: approximately HK$767,973,000
with a gross profit ratio of 33.3%). The decrease in gross profit
and gross profit ratio is mainly due to the decrease in the selling
price of mining products and increase in production costs per
production units during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

(Loss)/profit for the year (continued)

(iii) Administrative and other operating expenses

The administrative expenses and other operating expenses of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$448,353,000, representing an increase of
approximately HK$18,628,000 as compared to approximately
HK$429,725,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
increase in administrative expenses and other operating expenses
was mainly attributable to the increase in technological and
innovation costs within the mining operations segments. The
management of the Company will continue to adopt cost saving
measures in order to improve the financial performance of the
Group.

(iv) (Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss recognised in

v)

respect of mining rights and property, plant and equipment
(“PPE”)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment loss
recognised in respect of mining rights and PPE was approximately
HK$1,953,199,000 (31 December 2022: reversal of impairment
loss approximately HK$812,445,000) and approximately
HK$910,749,000 (31 December 2022: reversal of impairment loss
approximately HK$322,063,000) respectively. This was mainly due
to the decrease in coal prices during the year lead to decrease
in aggregate estimated value in use amount of the Group’s coal
mines.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly consisted of interest expenses on
borrowings from non-controlling interests, other borrowings and
advances drawn on discounted bills, other payables and lease
liabilities. Interest expenses on borrowings relating to construction
in progress for coal mines are capitalised to the extent that they
are directly attributable and used to finance the project. Finance
costs were calculated from total borrowing costs less interest
expenses capitalised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
(Loss)/profit for the year (continued)
(v) Finance costs (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, finance costs amounted
to approximately HK$387,929,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$896,523,000), decreased by approximately
HK$508,594,000, mainly resulting from the decrease in
(i) interest on other borrowings and advances drawn on
discounted bills from approximately HK$527,533,000 to
approximately HK$186,153,000; and (ii) interest on other
payables from approximately HK$176,290,000 to approximately
HK$17,680,000 during the year.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, loss attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$1,803,269,000 (for the
year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$229,533,000),
mainly due to decrease of revenue and gross profit generated from
mining operations and the change from reversal of impairment loss
on mining rights and PPE of approximately HK$1,134,508,000 in the
2022 to impairment loss on mining rights and PPE of approximately
HK$2,863,948,000 in current year.

Valuation of coal mines

The decrease in fair value of coal mines as at 31 December 2023 was
mainly due to the decrease in coal prices during the year. Greater
China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China”), an independent qualified
professional valuer, estimated the recoverable amounts of the coal
mining business based on income approach using a discount rate of
12.50% (31 December 2022: 12.50%) and expected cleaned coal
price of RMB1,541 per tonne (31 December 2022: expected cleaned
coal price of RMB1,627 per tonne) based on information obtained
from Shanxi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Greater China has consistently applied the income approach for the
valuation of coal mines as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Periods”) respectively. The key assumptions and
parameters in the valuation of coal mines as at the Reporting Periods

are set out as below:

Methodology

Key Assumptions
1. Production Schedule — Safe
Production Date
Bolong Mine
Fuchang Mine
Jinxin Mine

Liaoyuan Mine

Xinfeng Mine

2. Coking Coal Price (per tonne)

3. Recovery rate (cleaned coal)
4. Discount Rate (post-tax)
5. Mine Operating Costs, Capital

Expenditures and Production
Schedule (annual production)

6. Allowable annual working days

FERR

HERRER -2

HERH
HERE

=

ESRE

TERR

ERER (BH)

g (R )

BRE(HR)

BREZKA X
X REERRR

(FEE)

BAEFEI(ER

Bt 75 1= o (4)

HRE G E ()

BESHEHEBR _Z_=F+=A=
F+—ARZE=F+A=+—HU®RSE
)z HEERBERWRAE - EIER RS H
ZHEMAZEZBERZEEINNOT

Reporting Periods

BEH
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
ZBZZf+ZA=+-H ZBCCE+ZA=1-H
Income Approach Income Approach
N WA
Third quarter of 2024 Third quarter of 2023
“ECREEZE “RC=FE=
Operating Operating
EEH EiEH
Note Il Third quarter of 2023
= ZEZCFE=F
Operating Operating
EEH 2ET
Note llI Note Il
HEE= =
RMB1,541 RMB1,627
AR¥1,5417% AE¥A1,6277C

44.8%-51.5%
12.50%

Based on technical report
issued by John T. Boyd
in 2017 and actual
performance (Note IV)
BEABTHELR
REB-LFHB2RMERSE
REBRE(MED)

276 days
276H

48.4%-53.7%

12.50%

Based on technical report
issued by John T. Boyd
in 2017

RENAT.BERFR
R EHBRMIRE

276 days
276H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Valuation of coal mines (continued)

Note [:

Note I

Note Il

Note IV:

As shown in the above table, the primary change in valuation
assumption would be the adoption of coking coal price in the years
and delay in mines’ commercial operation schedule. The coking coal
price is based on the existing and past quoted commodity prices
in the mining industry. The production schedule is affected by the
policies and regulations issued applicable to the coal industry. The
coal mines under construction inevitably experienced construction
delay or suspension, therefore reducing the effectiveness of
construction period during the year, leading to further extension of
the respective construction period. There was no change in valuation
methodology in those valuations. For discount rate, calculation of
weighted average cost of capital is based on market participant’s
data which are varied daily due to new information and changing
market expectation every day.

During the second half of the year, Jinxin Mine was implementing
the reduction and geographical restructuring plans under mandatory
requirements. As such, the value from the Jinxin Mine is excluded
from the valuation of the value-in-use.

In November 2022, the Mine reorganisation and consolidation of
Bolong Mine and Xinfeng Mine had been approved by the Department
of Natural Resources of Shanxi Province. The existing Mine resources
of Xinfeng Mine will be combine with production schedule of Bolong
Mine. The expected production schedule for Safe Production Date of
the Mine Resources is after finishing the original production schedule
of Bolong Mines.

Production schedule is based on the technical report adjusted with
updated mining license of each mine. Assumptions of mine operating
costs and capital expenditures of mines with operating records are
based on actual performance, while assumptions of mine operating
costs and capital expenditures of mines without operating records
are based on the technical report with economic adjustments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Total capital deficiencies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$5,222,570,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$8,969,435,000), which were financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$8,936,183,000 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$9,435,125,000) and total capital deficiencies of
approximately HK$3,713,613,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$465,690,000).

Gearing

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio as computed
as the Group’s total debts which included amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings
and lease liabilities divided by capital deficiencies attributable to
owners of the Company. Gearing ratio is not meaningful as the Group
has capital deficiencies attributable to owners of the Company as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Liquidity

The Group had total cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$101,430,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$161,675,000). The Group did not have any bank
borrowings for both years.

EEENWR DN

RBEERUBER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWE D

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS MEARRRIER

The Board has set out the following key financial performance ZEESH|EH AT I EIMIEELIEZ - UEHS
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance RERAEENEE T -_=F+=-A=+
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the comparative figures for —HIFFERNEBREL T - —FHESF
the corresponding year in 2022: ERLRET :

Indicators 2023 2022 Objectives:

B —®B-=f —_T__— B #:

Revenue growth rate (%) (36.5) 43.0 assess the growth of the Group’s businesses and
W AR R (%) overall sales performance

AEARBEBNER N BEHEXE

Gross profit margin (%) 1.5 33.3 review the pricing strategy of the Group’s
FEHZE(%) products and services and direct cost control
e AN S B E mn R AR TS B e (B R BE %
HER A

(Loss)/profit before taxation (HK$’'000)  (3,976,091) 575,714 measure the operating profitability of the Group’s
BB AT (E51R), B A (FHE L) overall businesses
HMEREERBREHNRNEN

Current ratio 0.09 0.09 assess the Group’s ability to meet its short-term
BN debt obligations
AR EERESHRERRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.19 AND
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

Reference was made to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022, 20 July 2022,
25 July 2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September 2022, 21 October
2022, 21 November 2022, 21 December 2022, 20 January 2023,
20 February 2023, 21 March 2023 and 20 April 2023.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
19 April 2022, the Company was in discussions with a potential
offeror (the “Potential Offeror”) and other potential investors (the “Other
Potential Investors”), Mr. Zhang, an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder, and a holder of the convertible loan note, China Huarong
Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (the “2017 Noteholder”),
in the outstanding aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000
(the conversion period of which has expired) (the “2017 Convertible
Loan Note”) for proposed restructuring of the Group which involves,
among other things, (i) subscription of shares by the Potential Offeror;
(i) subscription of shares by the Other Potential Investors; (i) sale of
94,292,961 shares held by China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”) which
is ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang and the sale notes
held by China OEPC and Mr. Zhang’s spouse to the Potential Offeror;
(iv) engaging Mr. Zhang to manage the existing coal business of the
Group; (v) settling the debts owing to the 2017 Noteholder under the
2017 Convertible Loan Note; (vi) disposal (the “Disposal”) of certain
subsidiaries relating to operations of the Group in Cambodia to Mr.
Zhang; and (vii) waiver of all the outstanding amounts due from the
Company to China OEPC and Mr. Zhang respectively (after offsetting
the amount payable by Mr. Zhang under the Disposal) (the “Proposed
Restructuring”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.19 AND
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
20 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from the
2017 Noteholder on 17 June 2022 demanding redemption by the
Company of all of the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the
Company to the 2017 Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding
principal amount of US$40,000,000 by repayment of the whole of
the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid interest
accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other amounts due
but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full to the 2017
Noteholder.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
on 22 July 2022, demanding the Company to pay the amount of
US$84,943,738.72 under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.

On 20 April 2023, the Company announced that (i) the discussion with
the Potential Offeror and the Other Potential Investors in relation to the
Proposed Restructuring is terminated; and (i) no formal agreement has
been entered into between the Company and the Potential Offeror and
the Other Potential Investors in relation to the Proposed Restructuring.
As such, the Proposed Restructuring involving the Potential Offeror
and the Other Potential Investors will not procced further. Details can
be referred to the relevant announcements of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks

TERMB

Business/Operation Risk

ES Y

Economic risk

z«< zr‘?K J_L |§M

Liquidity risk

MEBETRR

Description
B

With the enhancement of structural reform
by the state on the supply side of coal,
coal enterprises are required to support
implementing policies on de-capacity and
optimization. The state tightens requirements
on and ramps up inspection efforts in design,
safety, and environmental protection aspects
of coal mines under construction. In recent
years, relevant policies and regulations on
safety and environmental protection applicable
to the coal industry have become increasingly
stringent and refined.

BEEERGRRUGABEENRE - KRD
RARAERBEERMBICBE - Bxmas

EEZNFEERGT Z2MRBEREFTANE
SKIFENSE - WINAKBRENE o HFRK - @
RARERITENEBZ 2 MRIERENEEH
BERER A BRBRIEHMTE -

Economic risk is the risk of macro-economy
and policies in PRC, the business of mining
operations where the Company operates in is
facing various risks and uncertainties.

BRI AT B ABEEMRE AR - A
R PR 2 PR A T e S R L K

THBREZE -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would
not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.
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FERRBRTHABEER

Mitigating actions

RIBIETE

The Group will closely monitor and speculate the
existing mines that major technical renovations
are carried out and ensure the production,
environmental, and safety procedures
measures are in line with the relevant regulatory
requirements and national standards.

AEBRBEVERLBIRAER - AETT
ERRMYSGE - WHREE  REMLERE

FriE 51T & AR B E R E MBFRIRE -

The Company closely monitors the change of
macro-economy policies in Mainland China and
adjusts its business strategy.
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In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWE D

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FTERK

Credit risk

EERR

Price risk

B E R

Description
i

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter
party will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

EERREHFIERESVETMERA
SEELMBER AR -

Price risk is the risks of significant fluctuations
in international coal prices from year to year,
will cast corresponding significant fluctuations
in year end valuations of intangible assets as
well as exploration and evaluation assets
which may have material impacts on the
Group’s financial results due to the resultant
impairment losses or reversal of impairment
losses, and also on the Group’s total non-
current assets.

ErRRRIEER R R ERZFERENE <A
2 BERERLEEANDRMEEEL
FRGELRBERENNE - KM AR
ELZREBESREREREMYAEEZ
MBREELBATE  THAKBEZIER
BDEEREELEATE -
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TERBRRTABEEGE

Mitigating actions

RIEHE

The Group sets different categories for
customers settling with bills according to
internal credit rating assessment. The Group
does not accept bills from customers with low
credit rating.

AEBERBEASEEFRTERAREET
REZEPRETAER - ARETEXE
EFABREZEPAiRHZER -

The Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of
supervision and control over market price risk
and alert thereof, continuously improves its risk
control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses
control.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks
FERK

Exchange rate risk

PEE = e\ B

Environmental Risks

RIRAR

People risk

AT R

Legal and regulatory risk

ERREERR

Description
it

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
foreign exchange rates would affect the
Group’s income and the value of its holdings
of assets.

SMERBRISE RSB K ERNEERARE
B EEEE AR -

Environmental Risks is the risk of stringent
requirements in relation to environmental
protection in the Environmental Protection
Law of PRC.

RGARZETBEREREEHHRFRE
ROEBZR AR -

People risk is the risk of loss the services of
any Directors, senior management and other
key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s businesses.

ATERBRETFNES  SREEEREME
2 AERER A e M AR BEBEXNE AT
Mgz Rk

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
breach of laws and regulations could lead to
litigation, investigations or disputes, resulting
in additional costs on civil and/or criminal
proceedings and reputational damage being
incurred.

R MEERRIEE RAEREMR A e EEGR
W AT - MEBBRERSMER
RELBEIMNANBEZBZER -
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Mitigating actions

RIRHE

The management closely monitors foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

BEEETUERINERR  XHREFER
ZREHERINERR -

The Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further
strengthens supervision and examination in
terms of environmental protection. It also
constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

ARRTH=EEEHE  BERME  E—
FIRRREBRSE - ARAMSEHRBE
BERBE ©

The Group provides competitive reward and
benefit packages to attract and retain the
employees the Group need and ensure that
the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job
and maximise their satisfaction at work.

AEBRERABRF N2 BB REMNFE - U
B MBMBEAREFTELZEE - WHRAE
BeBTHAERBECIIERE  FEEITERN
BRESREZTERREZAREMESET
EmEE °

The management closely monitor changes and
developments in the regulatory environment
and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory
changes and seek legal or other specialist
advice as appropriate.

EEETYEREERRIEPHNER - #
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWE D

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

Share charges of entire issued share capital of several subsidiaries of
the Company, charges over the shares and the convertible loan notes
of the Company owned by China OEPC Limited, charge on accounts
receivables to be owed to the Company and land charges over certain
lands in Cambodia acquired or to be acquired by the Group have been
created for securing the convertible bonds. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 27 June 2017.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds from equity and/or debt financing activities. All
financing methods will be considered as long as such methods are
beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits are in HK$, RMB, US$ and
Cambodian dollars (“KHR”).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The Group had capital commitments for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which were contracted but not provided for as at
31 December 2023 of approximately HK$321,450,000 (31 December
2022: approximately HK$457,573,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group earned revenue in
RMB and incurred costs in HK$, RMB, US$ and KHR. Although the
Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy,
it does not foresee any significant currency exposure in the near
future. However, any permanent or significant change in RMB against
HK$, may have possible impact on the Group’s results and financial
positions.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Reference was made to the announcements of the Company dated
19 January 2024 and 7 February 2024.

On 19 January 2024, Shanxi Coal Group complete a reorganisation to
the relevant government policies by the Shanxi Provincial Government
which 2 directors additionally onto the Shanxi Coal Group by the
Group pursuant to a resolution of the shareholders of Shanxi Energy in
2009 shall abstain from exercising their voting rights at the meetings of
the board of Shanxi Coal Group. As a result of the completion of the
reorganisation, the Group has loss of control over Shanxi Coal Group
and no longer to consolidated Shanxi Coal Group as subsidiaries
and will be accounted for as associates of the Group under equity
accounting method. Details can be referred to announcements of the
Company.

PROSPECTS

Shanxi coking coal market is anticipated to face a dynamic landscape
characterized by a mix of challenges and opportunities. Despite
a stable demand outlook driven by ongoing infrastructure and
construction projects both domestically and internationally, the coal
production industry may experience supply-side constraints due to
efforts aimed at rationalizing and streamlining the coal sector.

Environmental regulations and policies could also lead to tighter
production restrictions and increased compliance costs, impacting
coal output for us. Additionally, technological advancements and
innovation within the coal production sector could enhance productivity
and competitiveness, while policy initiatives focused on cleaner energy
sources and carbon emissions reduction may shape the regulatory
environment.

The management and staff of the Company will be the first to assume
responsibility, take the initiative, focus on key areas, and tackle
difficulties with the aim of better implementing the national strategy
and rewarding all Shareholders with new achievements of high-quality.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MBERBE

The following is a summary of the published results and the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group, prepared on the
basis set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

N T RAEERRGEEMERRMEMEE
ERHUZEDNMEBUAREE - ABENIFE
PR ME - W ES TEREEZSZE
AR EP —#D o

statements.
RESULTS EF
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f -—FT--f —TE-—H —T-FTF —T-HEF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TERT THET BT FHET THET
Revenue A 1,463,280 2,305,799 1,612,858 1,303,796 944,258
(Loss)/profit before taxation ~ Br¥ia1 (&), A (3,976,091) 575,714 998,967 (852,913) (1,323,913
Income tax credit/(expense)  Fri3HE R, (BAX) 636,776 (228,020)  (247,460) 192,455 119,054
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER),B8H (3,339,315) 347,694 751,507  (660,458) (1,204,859)
Less: Attributable to o ERER
non-controlling
interests 1,536,046  (577,227)  (485,835) 348,096 509,209
(Loss)/profit attributable YNGR 2SN
to owners of the Company (B18]), & (1,803,269) (229,533 265,672 (312,362)  (695,650)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE - BERFERER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —T--f T —T-FTF —T-HF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TAERT FAT FHET FAET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,519,499 8,261,323 8,076,108 6,803,141 7,049,630
Current assets MBEE 703,071 708,112 550,434 275,090 196,646
Current liabilities nEaRE (7,874,708) (7,806,699) (7,524,993) (6,535,843) (2,454,463)
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (7,171,637) (7,098,587) (6,974,559) (6,260,753) (2,257,817)
Total assets less current liabilities & E @ ER RSN E & (2,652,138) 1,162,736 1,101,549 542,388 4,791,813
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,061,475) (1,628,426) (1,766,988) (1,966,376) (5,693,848
Non-controlling interests FEiE ke = (670,500) (2,121,661) (1,685,622) (1,196,916) (1,552,400)
Capital deficit attributable to V/NGIE 2PN 3
owners of the Company BB (4,384,113) (2,587,351) (2,351,061) (2,620,904) (2,454,435)
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) coal exploration and
development, sale of coking coal, coal processing, sales of coal
products and provision of coal related services; (i) the development
of cassava cultivation and deep processing business for the related
ecological cycle industry chain; and (iii) the sale of information
technology products, provision of system integration services,
technology services, software development and solution services.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 of
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position and
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Summary Financial Information” on page 4, page 9
to page 26 respectively. Such discussions constitute an integral part of
this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 93 of this
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% <81E /%
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 16 of the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 526,260,404 shares of
HK$0.001 each in issue (31 December 2022: 526,260,404 shares).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 97, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 (the “Act”) of Bermuda (as amended),
the contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay dividend,
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as they
become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the

aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2023, the Company had no retained profits available
for cash distribution or distribution in species. Subject to the Act, the
Company’s contributed surplus of approximately HK$9,049,712,000 is
distributable (31 December 2022: approximately HK$9,049,712,000).
The Company’s contributed surplus and share premium account in the
amount of approximately HK$9,049,712,000 at of 31 December 2023
(31 December 2022: approximately HK$9,049,712,000), following a
reduction thereof in compliance with the Act and the Shareholders’
approval, may be set off against the Company’s accumulated losses.
Thereafter, any balance in the Company’s share premium account
may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) provides that the
Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws
or the laws of Bermuda, the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMER AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
70% of the Group’s total sales in 2023. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 99% of the Group’s
total sales in 2023.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 100%
of the total purchases in 2023.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or any of the substantial

Shareholders (which are disclosed to the Directors) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the Company
have been entered into or have existed.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated according
to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy are
reviewed on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 889
full time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. The Group remunerates
its employees based on individual and business performance. Other
employee benefits include mandatory provident fund, insurance and
medical coverage, training programs and share option.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s
performance, prevailing market conditions and the market emoluments
for directors of other listed companies and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The Group’s total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
for the year ended 31 December 2023 under review amounted to
approximately HK$86,979,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$150,717,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff in Hong
Kong . Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC
government. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. Details of the retirement
and employee benefits scheme of the Group are disclosed in the
section headed “Employee benefits” set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report respectively.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any charitable donations
(2022: Nil).

DIRECTORS
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

In accordance with Bye-laws 111(A) and the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. Zhang Sanhuo and
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. All the above retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as executive Director or
independent non-executive Director (as the case may be).

All other remaining Directors shall continue in office.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The Company has received the confirmation of
independence from all three (3) independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”), namely Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen Weidong and
Mr. Tian Hong in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and concluded
that all of them are independent within the definition of the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the INEDs has been impaired up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which, the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, substantial Shareholders nor any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which causes or may cause competes or may cause any
significant competition with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except as disclosed above and in Note 15 of the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares granted to any of the Directors
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by any of them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, or related companies a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWE

EECERE

EEESZEEABHRNESTEERE]—

£ -
EERBEN

BRAEARNBFRRRE EEEETL
EEYEEARARBFTLARAAER—F
AL BB E CRE R ERRIN 2 IR A&
# o

EENEHN &R

FAMBEETEARRAHEERMB AR
ERUASEEXRBEEAZEZEAAYD
o BERIEEEEENEDER -

B RS

FREF FERRAEARESAZH
BAEERELTHRADBENEXNRERE
TR S AT RERE A B T+ Sk AT RE B A (E T B AR
FZEBHREAEMERS -

EEBRARODNESF 2 EF

B EX RERE M BMRMT1I6MREE I -
REREMER - ARAEEREMNESL
REEBZRBIARMIBHR L FRE L AIHE
BAROMER ZHEMN @ RETRETEEMR
SN ARRREEMMBERR - K
BARTEZ2BEAZE  BRESARE
EES YN B E R Vi

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #z <8R EEHR AT 33



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”)
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “HKCO”), were as follows:

(i) Long/short position in the shares

No. of

Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held

EEnE BEME FisROEE

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Corporate Interest 94,292,961
R=EEHE EE S

91,361,894

7,658

Mr. Tse Michael Nam Beneficial owner
B

HEERE T B A
Notes:

1 China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth Enterprises Limited
(“Best Growth”) and is ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang.
Therefore, by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by China OEPC. As at 31 December 2023,
China OEPC held 94,292,961 shares in which 91,361,894 shares
had been pledged.

2 The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) Long/short position in the underlying shares

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares held
BEpg &t FrERHEE
Personal Family Corporate
Interests Interests interests
BARS RiEER HEER
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Beneficial owner - 68,181,818
R=EkE ERBEA
Interest in controlled - - T2r212,127
corporation
RREHEEZ
Notes:

1

These underlying shares are held by Ms. Hao Ting (“Ms. Hao”),
spouse of Mr. Zhang, for the amount of HK$15,000,000 convertible
loan notes (“CN”), which are convertible into 68,181,818 shares. By
virtue of the SFO, these underlying shares are deemed as a family
interest to Mr. Zhang. The HK$15,000,000 CN have been fallen due
on 20 October 2022.

These underlying shares are held by China OEPC which is beneficially
owned by Best Growth and is ultimate beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhang for the amount of HK$380,000,000 CN, which are
convertible into 1,727,272,727 shares. By virtue of the SFO, these
underlying shares are deemed as a corporate interest to Mr. Zhang.
The HK$380,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(i) REBERGZEFR XA E)

(i) Long/short position in the underlying shares

(continued)

In addition to the above, as at 31 December 2023, certain
Directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests in certain
subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the
purpose of complying with the minimum company membership
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executive and their respective associates
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code and the HKCO, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

So far as the Directors and the Chief Executive are aware, as at
31 December 2023, other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive as disclosed, the following persons
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would are required to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of the Group:

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares

No. of shares

and/or

Name of substantial underlying

Shareholders Nature of interest shares held

FrgRiR,~

TERRER EmME HEBERKRGEE

Ms. Hao Ting Beneficial owner 68,181,818
g+ E=EBA

Interest of controlled 1,821,565,688
corporation

R rE S

Best Growth
Enterprises Limited

91,361,894
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders

(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Name of substantial
Shareholders

FERRERE

China OEPC Limited
o R (B )
ERERAF

China Huarong (Macau)
International Company
Limited

B 5 CRPT) B BR
1D B R A

China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd.

PEEREEEIRRD
BRAF]

Notes:

No. of shares

and/or

underlying

Nature of interest shares held

FEROR,

EEuE SRR A& B

Beneficial owner 1,821,565,688

E=mEA A

91,361,894

Interest of controlled 208,937,651
corporation
Sy EE S

Interest of controlled 208,937,651
corporation
S EE R

1 Ms. Hao beneficially owns the amount of HK$15,000,000 CN which
are convertible into 68,181,818 shares. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Hao is also deemed to be interested in the 94,292,961 shares and
derivative interest held by China OEPC. The HK$150,000,000 CN
have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

FERREREMALTREROR
HERG 2 S RX A (&)

BRRARBESRNEHKM
SEXVERFE2K 30 BRI B 2 MR
KEZALTREERRE

() RERGRIEER G B (&)

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

capital as at

31 December

Note Position 2023

R=-B=-=F

+=A=+-8

HEBRTREAZ

MiEE ¥R BABEDL

2 Long 346.1339%
e

Short 17.3606%
KB

36 Long 39.7023%
5=}

3-6 Long 39.7023%
e

st

1 NZEtEZHEAE15,000,0008 L2 0]
BREE  ZSABRBREETLBRE
68,181,818 &t ° RIKFEFH K HIE &
Bl - ML RARTEEREEZ
94,292,961 [% B% 179 K T 4 8 2 P kB 4

38 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %

25 ° #%15,000,00078 LAl AR HE B R



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2

China OEPC beneficially owns 94,292,961 shares in which
91,361,894 shares had been pledged and the amount of
HK$380,000,000 CN which are convertible into 1,727,272,727
shares. China OEPC is beneficially owned by Best Growth and
ultimate beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Zhang and Best Growth are deemed to be interested in
those shares and derivative interests held by China OEPC. The
HK$380,000,000 CN have been fallen due on 20 October 2022.

China Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (“Huarong
(HK)”) beneficially owns shares and convertible loan note. Huarong
(HK) is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong (Macau)
International Company Limited (“Huarong (Macau)”). By virtue of the
SFO, Huarong (Macau) was deemed to be interested in those Shares
and derivative interests held by Huarong (HK). Such convertible
bond have been fallen due on 9 July 2020 and the Group is in the
negotiation with Huarong (HK) to restructure the repayment timetable
of the Company’s financial obligation.

Huarong (Macau) is held 51% of shares by Huarong (HK) Industrial
Financial Investment Limited (“Huarong IFI”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong IFI was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong (Macau) was interested.

Huarong IFl is wholly and beneficially owned by Huarong Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huarong REC”). By virtue of the SFO, Huarong REC
was deemed to be interested in those shares and derivative which
Huarong IFI was interested.

Huarong REC is wholly and beneficially owned by China Huarong
Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong AM”). By virtue of the SFO,
Huarong AM was deemed to be interested in those shares and
derivative which Huarong REC was interested.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 526,260,404 shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

ESEWE

FERRREMALREROR
MER Dz EE KX R ()

BEARBREZRIPERA
SEXVERSE2R 3D BN B 2 R
KBZATREERR(H)

(i)

IR R GBI (7 2 #E 1 (48)

BEE - (8)
2 PERIREREF4,292,961 MM (B

91,361,894 8% % 15 B 1EIK 1) & A
380,000,000/ 7T 2 A] # A& = #% (R] H i
51,727,272, 727 B 7)) - FREIREIR
Best GrowthB#H A MR EERKRE
HHEE c BEEHFRBERY  REE
Best Growth# 18 AR EERIEE 2
ZERMEITET AR HEARERS -
380,000,000 T AR EEE R =
T -F+A-F+HIE-

HEIERRF(EB)REERER DA
(ERERBDERERRND KABRKRE
REE - - ERBEHTEERCRFDE
BREROAERAR(ERRMD2EER
A - REEFRAEKRL - ERURM
WRANERERIZA 2R ERMN KRIT
ETAREGTHEAED - ZUBRES
ER-_Z-_TFLANBEE  A&H
FRERBEEEREELARANUBESE
HE SRR

EROAPTE R (BB ERREERA
A EBERRDE ) BES1%B - £
3 ) B RRAR AR
BRERRPIFEHES 2 ZE R BT
4 T A R -

ERERRENERBEXERETAA
(TEREXN2EREES - REES
RAEGRD  FMEBERRANERE
MEEHREERZZERORITETA
AR -

ERBEXEATREREIETERNER
RA(ERBEEEENEEERHER -

RIBESRMEED] - EREETER
BRANERBEREARR ZRERN R
THET R EARER -

ZEALIRE-_E-_=F+_-A4
=+ —HBE#*177526,260,404 &A% 17
E -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #z <8R EEBR AT 39



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ESEWRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Persons who have an interest or short position
which is disclosable under Divisions 2 and 3 of
part XV of the SFO and substantial Shareholders
(continued)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares (continued)

Except as disclosed above and so far as the Directors were
aware, as at 31 December 2023, there was no other party who
had an interest or short position in the shares, the underlying
shares or debentures of the Company which would be required to
be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
herein.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
approved and adopted by the Company based on the Shareholders’
resolution passed on 28 May 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share option (the “Share Option(s)”) to certain employees of
the Group and any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group in recognition of their contribution to the
Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each eligible participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant. Any further grant will be conditional upon Shareholders’
approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Options
may be exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to
be determined by the Board but in any event no later than 10 years
from the date of grant. There is no specified minimum period for which
the Share Options must be held before it can be exercised. An offer
of the grant of the Share Options shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of 28 days from the date upon which is it made and a
non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of the Share Options.

The exercise price of the Share Options granted under the Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of
the share on the date of grant.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 24 April 2015.

On 31 May 2019, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
Shareholders at an annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM”), approving, inter alia, the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit under the Share Option Scheme. Upon the refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant the Share Options
entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum number
of 43,866,160 Share Options, representing approximately 8.34% of
the number of issued shares as at the date of the 2019 AGM (the
“Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”). Further details of the refreshment
of the scheme mandate limit can be referred to the circular of the
Company dated 29 April 2019 and the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2019.
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SHARE OPTIONS i8R A
The particulars of movements in the Share Options during the year REZE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIEFEZ
ended 31 December 2023 are set out as follow: B EFEHINOT
Number of Share Options
EREZA
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed as at
Share 1 January during during during during 31 December
Options type 2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
R-B-=% R-B-=£
-B-H RER RER RER RER  +=A=+-H
BRESR HRTE b % B P HARTE
Other grantees 2018 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Eft#REA —Z)\F
Details of specific categories of the Share Options are as follows: BEEABRECFBEAT
Closing price
Share Vesting before the  Exercise
Options type Date of grant  proportion  Vesting period Exercisable period grant date price
Riti A 8AI 2
BREER RitiAH BELE BERE g KhE  TEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
2018 24 May 2018 50.00% Immediately vested 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2028 5.60 7.00
ZE-N\F “E-N\E ka3 “E-\FRAZTWmEZE
EA-TMA “E-)\fRA-+=H

50.00% 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2019 24 May 2019 to 23 May 2028
—ZE-\&RA-tMAZE Z—E-NERA-1WHEZE
“E-AFREA-t=H —“E- \fREA-+=H

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of the Shares Options W-_ZT-_=F+_-_A=+—8 ' RIEERE
available for issue under the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit of the &t &| 2 & B Fat 2R R B AI 21T 2 BEBR
Share Option Scheme is 43,866,160, representing approximately — ##221/543,866,16017 * HE N AR AR
8.34% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this ~ F ¥R HHI v 2 31TILAKL8.34% -

annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no Share Option was granted, exercised, R EXXFI#FTEEIN - FAMERERERIZE
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme during the year. ARIETEIER L « 1T « TEEHERRN ©
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group as far as the Board is aware.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a good standard of corporate
social governance essential for bringing a framework for motivating
employees to contribute to our community.

The Group has made continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in daily business operations. The principles of recycling
and reducing will always be encouraged to adhere to as much as
possible, such as implementing green office practices of double-sided
printing and copying, setting up recycling bins and switching off idle
lightings and regulating air-conditioning in different zoning.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report conducted by a
professional third party for year 2023 will be published separately in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) has resigned as the auditor of
the Company (the “Auditor”) with effect from 20 January 2021, while
Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) has been appointed as the Auditor
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Crowe, until the
conclusion of the 2021 annual general meeting of the Company. Elite
was appointed and re-appointed as the Auditor at the 2021 and 2022
annual general meetings respectively. Save as disclosed above, there
was no other change in the Auditor in the past three years.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 had been audited by Elite, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as the Auditor at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023

The following is an extract of the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Disclaimer of Opinion

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$3,339,315,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group
had accumulated losses of approximately HK$13,536,612,000 and
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets and total
liabilities exceeds its total assets of approximately HK$7,171,637,000
and approximately HK$3,713,613,000 as at 31 December 2023. As at
the same date, the Group’s total borrowings (including amount due to
a director, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings,
amounts due to related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to
approximately HK$6,506,062,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted bank balances) amounted to approximately
HK$118,099,000 only.

In addition, as at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
borrowings and other payables were overdue for repayment or
contained a repayable on demand clause as below: (a) convertible loan
notes issued in 2017 with the remaining outstanding principal amount
of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) and the default
interests were matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2023; (b) convertible loan notes issued in 2020 with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 were matured and overdue
for repayment as at 31 December 2023; (c) other payables with the
carrying amounts of approximately RMB119,709,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$131,836,000) and the default interests was matured
and overdue for repayment as at 31 December 2023; and (d) amounts
due to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,621,071,000
were outstanding by the Group as at 31 December 2023. Included
in amounts due to non-controlling interests with the amounted of
approximately HK$3,868,176,000 were matured and overdue as at
31 December 2023, while the remaining portion of approximately
HK$1,752,895,000 were contained a repayable on demand clause.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (continued)
Muiltiple uncertainties relating to going concern (continued)

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, there is no winding up petition against
the Company nor new demand letter received by the Group and the
overdue balances are remain unsettled in relation to the above items.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Directors have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position so as to be able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the eventual successful outcome of
these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including
whether: (a) the Group can successfully negotiate with the convertible
loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due dates; (b) the
Group can successfully negotiate with other payables related to
consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries due by the Group for
extending the repayment due dates; (c) the Group can successfully
take active measure to increase the profitability of the Group’s coal
operation in order to improve operating cash flows and its financial
position; and (d) the Group can successfully to obtain the external
facilities and/or fund raising opportunities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (continued)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements because of the lack of detailed analysis provided
by management in relation to its plans and measures for future
actions in its going concern assessment which take into account
the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and measures and how
variability in outcome would affect the future cash flows of the Group.
Any adjustments found to be required may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated net liabilities of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and the consolidated loss and total comprehensive
expense and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, and the related elements and disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2023 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(@) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the 2017
Noteholder with the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) in respect of the
amount due by the Group is still in progress;

(b) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2020 Noteholders”) of the convertible loan notes issued in
2020 (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes”) with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 in respect of the amount
due by the Group are still in progress and the parties expect to
reach a consensus in the near future;

(c) the Group is in the negotiation with the counterparty (the “Other
Creditor”) of other payables related to consideration for acquisition
of subsidiaries due by the Group for extending the repayment due
dates;

(d) the Group is actively taking measures to increase the profitability
of the Group’s coal operation in order to improve the operating
cash flows and its financial position; and

(e) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.

In forming its view, the Directors have also considered, among others,
(i) the 2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current
intention to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the
Company to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan
Notes; (i) notwithstanding that the Company had not repaid the debt
within 3 weeks from the date of service of the statutory demand, the
Group has not received any further notice from the 2017 Noteholder
of having commenced legal proceedings against the Company;
(i) notwithstanding that the Group had received a demand letter on
3 November 2022 from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the Other
Creditor demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the
default interest outstanding by the Group, the Group has not received
any further notice from the Other Creditor of having commenced
legal proceedings against the Company; and (iv) save for the
aforementioned, the Group has not received any winding-up petition
against the Company nor additional demand letters and/or statutory
demands up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN
(CONTINUED)

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successful negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder and the 2020
Noteholders to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations;

(i) successful negotiation with the Other Creditor to extend the
repayment due dates;

(i successful increase of the profitability of the coal operation in
order to improve operating cash flows and financial position; and

(iv) successfully obtaining external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

2017 Noteholder

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 April
2022, the Company was in discussions with the Potential Offeror and
the Other Potential Investors, Mr. Zhang, and 2017 Noteholder for the
Proposed Restructuring of the Group which involves, among other
things, (i) subscription of shares by the Potential Offeror; (i) subscription
of shares by the Other Potential Investors; (iii) sale of 94,292,961
shares held by China OEPC which is ultimately and beneficially
owned by Mr. Zhang and the Sale Notes held by China OEPC and
Mr. Zhang’s spouse to the Potential Offeror; (iv) engaging Mr. Zhang to
manage the existing coal business of the Group; (v) settling the debts
owing to the 2017 Noteholder under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note;
(vi) the Disposal; and (vii) waiver of all the outstanding amounts due
from the Company to China OEPC and Mr. Zhang respectively (after
offsetting the amount payable by Mr. Zhang under the Disposal).

On 17 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from
the 2017 Noteholder demanding redemption by the Company of all of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the Company to the 2017
Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) by repayment of the
whole of the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid
interest accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other
amounts due but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full
to the 2017 Noteholder.

On 22 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
demanding the Company to pay the amount of US$84,943,738.72
under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)
2017 Noteholder (continued)

On 20 April 2023, the Board announced that (i) the discussion with
the Potential Offeror and the Other Potential Investors in relation to the
Proposed Restructuring was terminated; and (i) no formal agreement
has been entered into between the Company and the Potential
Offeror and the Other Potential Investors in relation to the Proposed
Restructuring. Therefore, the Proposed Restructuring involving the
Potential Offeror and the Other Potential Investors would not proceed
further.

As at the date of this report, despite receiving the Statutory Demand
from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder, China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited on 22 July 2022,
the Company had not repaid the debt within 3 weeks from the date
of service of the statutory demand and the Group has not received
any further notice of the 2017 Noteholder having commenced legal
proceedings against the Company. The Company has been actively
negotiating with the 2017 Noteholder for possible extension and/
or settlement. However, the repayment timetable has yet to be
finalized. For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s) will
be made by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing
Rules requirements to inform the public and its Shareholders upon
entering into the relevant definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the
2017 Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2017
Noteholder.

For details, please refer to the relevant announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022,
20 July 2022, 25 July 2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September 2022,
21 October 2022, 21 November 2022, 21 December 2022,
20 January 2023, 20 February 2023, 21 March 2023 and
20 April 2023.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2020 Noteholders

The Company and the 2020 Noteholders are in the course of
negotiating for an extension of the maturity date of the 2020
Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders of new convertible notes with the subscription monies to
be satisfied by setting off against the amount due by the Company to
the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes. The
2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current intention
to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the Company
to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes
as at the day of this report. For details, please refer to the relevant
announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022.

The Group and the 2020 Noteholders expect to reach a consensus
in the near future regarding the extension of the 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing
Rules requirements to inform the public and its Shareholder upon
entering into the relevant definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the
2020 Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders.

Other Payables

On 3 November 2022, the Group received a demand letter from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the Other Creditor, demanding
the Group to repay the principal amount and the default interest
outstanding by the Group. As of the date of this report, the Group is
still negotiating with the other payable on the repayment.

Coal Operation Business

Despite ongoing infrastructure and construction projects driving a
stable demand outlook, both domestically and internationally, the coal
production industry may face supply-side constraints due to efforts
aimed at rationalizing and streamlining the coal sector.

For the year 2024, the Group will maintain our strategy of making
progress while ensuring stability and effectively promoting high-
quality development. We anticipate a steady inflow of cash, which will
contribute to an overall improvement in our financial position.
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ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

External Facilities and Fund Raising

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached a number of financial institutions and/
or other investor(s). Up to the date of this report, the Group has not
concluded or reached any agreements with those financial institutions
and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to explore
appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend
upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows.
Assuming that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid
measures, the Group considers it would address the going concern
issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the Directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2024. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending
31 December 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
(8) members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the Auditor the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

By the order of the Board
Mr. Tse Michael Nam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board and the Company’s management are highly committed to
maintaining good corporate governance practices, internal control,
risk management and transparency in fulfilling their corporate
responsibility and accountability to the Shareholders. The Board and
the management recognise that the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices is an essential factor in achieving financial
success and enhancing Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles set out with the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on corporate
governance practices.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the following
deviations:

—  Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
Mr. Tse Michael Nam has taken up the roles of the chairman
(the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) of
the Company which constituted a deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has extensive management skill,
knowledge of experience. The Board believes that vesting the
roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in the same person can
facilitate the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
boost the effectiveness of its operation. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in this circumstance. In addition,
under the supervision of the Board, which is comprised of two
(2) executive Directors and three (3) independent non-executive
Directors, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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Vision B #J

e Competitive

BEBFEH
¢ Innovative
#5 Value f&{E
e Customer focused * Integrity
RLERA

e Sustainability

Mlssmn FE= GIESY 1
We pursue sustainable e Safety
growth by providing ZE
high quality products e Excellence
and services to Bl

own customers

B HEBRECH
EFRUHSEEERMK
FRIG REEH G E B R

In view of the company’s core business are coal mining and coal ZERARQRIMZLEEAEREMERES
operation, we straightly comply with the national safety protocols 1B BIZBRRERLZ2RE - T2ERFE
for coal mines, the policies and regulations on safety, environmental A EIEHISHE LR @ G 0ELRERE
protection, and production control in line with the corporate culture ﬁﬁzﬁﬁ’]%laﬂt&ﬁ%ﬁﬁl{fi&iﬁ AR
in order to develop a safety working environment for our employees I EFPIRHEENERLRE - EEE 1
and provide high-quality products and services for our customers. The #EVEEANEB A EREOKE - A
Board will continue to look for suitable opportunities for the sustainable 32 ANE B E(E - W AKRFAEE S HEF
development of the Group to enhance the value of the Group and  #¢77 °

create higher profitability for its shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Up to the date of this report, the Board is composed of five (5)
members comprising two (2) executive Directors (the “ED(s)”) and
three (3) independent non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”).

Composition
Executive Directors:

Mr. Tse Michael Nam (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin
Mr. Shen Weidong
Mr. Tian Hong

The number of INEDs represent more than one-third of the Board
membership. One INED has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The names and biographical details of each Director are
disclosed on page 6 to page 8 of this Annual Report. There is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among the Board members.

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions

The Board is tasked with the responsibility of directing and supervising
the Company’s businesses and affairs and promoting its success and
growth. The Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company and is responsible for directing and
supervising the overall management of the Company with regards to
the implementation and maintenance of internal control procedures
and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements, the
Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.
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TRERKRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as required under the CG Code. The major roles and functions
of the Board in respect of the corporate governance are:

— to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

— to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

— to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

— to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance matters
for the financial year 2023:

— review the policy and practices on corporate governance;

— review of the compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the CG Code; and

— review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

During the year, the management had provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance and position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under
the Listing Rules.

The Company had maintained an appropriate level of insurance cover
in respect of legal action against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company in a timely manner of any
change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. All such changes
during the year and up to the date of this report have been disclosed
in the Report of the Directors section of this annual report.

Due notice and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and CG Code. Generally,
at least 14 days notice of regular Board meetings are given and the
Company aims at giving reasonable notice of other Board meetings.
Prior to each Board meeting (for regular meetings, at least 3 days
prior), the Chairman, with the support of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), ensures that every Director has
been properly briefed on issues and provided with the agenda and
accompanying Board papers containing adequate information provided
by the management to enable them to make informed decisions at the
meeting. Every member of the Board has an opportunity to propose
matters in the agenda for discussion at each Board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, accountabilities & contributions
(continued)

Minutes of the Board meetings and the committees meetings are
taken by the Company Secretary and maintained at the Company’s
premises. Minutes of the Board and the committees meetings
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board or the
committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors or dissenting views expressed. Drafts and final
versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments within
a reasonable time after the Board and the committees meetings are
held. Every member of the Board is entitled to inspect Board papers
and related materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Where queries
are raised by any of the Directors, responses are provided as promptly
and fully as possible. The Directors may also upon reasonable request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the expense of the Company. So far and save as disclosed, there has
not been any case where a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a
conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material.

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors

A Director may be appointed either by the Shareholders in a general
meeting or by the Board upon the recommendation from the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will take into
consideration criteria such as expertise, experience, integrity and
commitment in appointment of new Directors. All candidates must also
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing
Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as independent non-
executive Director should also meet the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company had complied with Rules 3.10(1),
3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment
of a sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors and
at least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Appointments, re-election and removal of Directors
(continued)

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are appointed for a fixed term of not more than two years. Under
code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Under the Bye-laws 111,
one-third of the Directors, with the exception of Chairman or Deputy
Chairman, Managing Director or joint Managing Director, are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting of the
Company. Under the Bye-laws 114, new Directors appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy during any year are required to retire and
submit themselves for election at the first general meeting immediately
following their appointments. Notwithstanding the provisions of the
Bye-laws, the Company intends to comply with the code provision
B.2.2 of the CG Code by way of having one-third of all the Directors,
including those appointed for a specific term, subject to retirement
by rotation at each annual general meeting at least once every three
years.

Chairman and chief executive officer

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
not performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and chief executive officer should be
established and written.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Tse Michael Nam
has taken up the roles of the Chairman and the CEOQ, it constituted
a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Tse has
extensive management skills, knowledge and experience. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in
the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost its operational effectiveness. Besides, under
the supervision of the Board comprising of two (2) EDs and three
(3) INEDs, the Company is of the view the Board is appropriately
structured with a balance of power to provide sufficient checks to
protect the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.
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TRERKRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Diversity

The Board adopts a board diversity policy which aims to build
and maintain diversity of the Board in terms of skills, professional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age, and
other attributes and strengths that are required for the Company’s
business from time to time. The policy stipulates that the Board
appointments will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective selection criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee is
delegated by the Board to review the board diversity policy annually,
make recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity of the Board as appropriate and monitor the
progress on achieving the objectives.

The Board understands a single gender board will not consider
diversity to be achieved. The Board has looked forward the potential
candidates and will appoint a director of a different gender no later
than 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 889 staffs. The
ratio of male to female is 6:1. The Board is satisfied that the Company
has achieved gender diversity in its workforce and will continue to
maintain gender diversity among all our staff as the goal.

Independence

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
INEDs to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to
achieving sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees
independence at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
Accordingly, the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of independence on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews and evaluates the Board and the committees’
structure, as well as the appointment, tenure, and remuneration of
the non-executive Directors (including INEDs), and also conducts the
annual assessment of the independence of the INEDs. In addition,
the Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to review the
Independence Policy annually and make recommendations to the
Board to ensure the effectiveness of the policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had
been in compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules by having at all times three INEDs on its Board with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

Each of the non-executive Director (including INED) was appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years from the date of his/her
appointment. Upon the expiry of the initial term, the appointment may
be renewed automatically for another term of not more than two years.

The Company had received written confirmation of independence for
the year ended 31 December 2023 from all INEDs. Each of the INED
met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considered each of them to be so.

The non-executive Directors (including INEDs) have been participating
in Board meetings to being an independent judgement to bear on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standard of conduct, taking the lead where potential
conflicts of interests arise, serving on the Audit Committee, the
Nomination, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committees, scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring performance
reporting, making a positive contribution to the development of the
Group’s strategy and policies through independent, constructive and
informed comments and giving the Board and committees in which
they serve, the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active participation.
Each Director has also given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

BOARD COMMITTEE
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in June 2005 with
specific written terms of reference detailing the Remuneration
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and
making recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration and review of the policy and
the procedure annually. The Remuneration Committee has been
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board for the remuneration of the
non-executive Directors (including INEDs) after conducted the Board
evaluation annually.

In fulfilling its functions, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment, and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and whether the remuneration packages are
competitively attractive to retain the executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee members may consult
the Chairman about their proposals relating to the remuneration
of the Directors and have access to sufficient resources including
professional advice if considered necessary. No Director can, however,
approve his own remuneration.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three (3) members, all of whom were INEDs.
The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of
this report are Mr. Tian Hong (the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin and Mr. Shen Weidong.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
and the remuneration package of the other Directors and the senior
management (which had remained unchanged from the previous year)
and other related matters including the Board evaluation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 December 2015
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Nomination
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee had been published on the Company’s website
as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprised four (4) members, three (3) of whom were
INEDs. The members of the Nomination Committee as at the date of
this report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Tian Hong and Mr. Shen
Weidong.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are, among
other things, review the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company
corporate strategy; identify candidates with suitable qualifications
as Directors, select and make recommendations to the Board on
selection of Board members; assess the independence of INEDs;
and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment and succession planning for Directors
and assessing the independence of INEDs.

In fulfilling its functions, the Nomination Committee has been provided
sufficient resources by the Company to seek independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has a policy concerning diversity of
Board members which aims to maintain the Board with a diversity of
Directors in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, with a view to enhancing the quality of
performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets not less than once a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; (ii) review the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service) of the Board; and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s
corporate strategy; and (i) review the procedures for Shareholders to
elect Director which had been published in the Company’s website as
well as the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in June 1999 with clear written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
had been published on the Company’s website as well as the Stock
Exchange’s website.

The Audit Committee was comprised of three members during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this report, all of
whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit Committee as at the
date of this report was Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (the chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”), the Directors and other members of the
management. The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor twice
during the year ended 31 December 2023 with regards to review of
the Company’s financial report and accounts.

The Audit Committee meet at least twice a year to review (i) the
Company’s results and the accompanying auditor’s report; (i) the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company; and
(iiiy the financial, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established in September 2017
with specific written terms of reference detailing the Risk Management
Committee’s role and authority. The terms of reference of the Risk
Management Committee had been published on the Company’s
website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for reviewing of the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function, and such other duties as stipulated
under the Codes as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

During the year and as at the date of this report, the Risk Management
Committee comprised four (4) members, one (1) ED and three (3)
INEDs. The members of the Risk Management Committee as at the
date of this report are Mr. Tse Michael Nam (the chairman of the
Risk Management Committee), Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin, Mr. Shen
Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong.

The principal responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
are, among other things, (i) advise the Board on the Group’s risk
appetite statement(s), risk principles and other risk-related issues
including corporate actions and proposed strategic transactions
such as mergers, acquisitions and disposals; (ii) oversee risk
management framework to identify and deal with financial, operational,
legal, regulatory, technology, business and strategic risks faced
by the Group and amend and supplement this from time to time;
(iii) approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances; (iv) consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively; (v) review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies; (vi) review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including the enterprise
risk management program, the risk management systems, the
internal audit function relating to risk management and the Group’s
contingency plans; (vii) review the Group’s capital adequacy and
solvency levels; (viii) monitor stress testing results of the Group’s key
risk exposures; (ix) to deal with other work assigned by the Board;
and (x) issue report(s) on how the Risk Management Committee met
its responsibilities in its review of the risk management, the internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Risk Management Committee (continued)

In fulfilling its functions, the Risk Management Committee has been
provided sufficient resources by the Company to seek for independent
professional advice to perform its responsibilities.

The Risk Management Committee meets at least twice a year to
(i) review the terms of reference; and (i) review any risk or potential
risk of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related
matters and the overall risk management strategies of the Company.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses and
formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors financial
performances and discusses the annual and interim results, as well as
discusses and decides on other significant matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Attendance records at meeting

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The attendance of each Director at the general meeting (included
annual general meeting), the Board meetings and the meetings of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee held during the year

are set out below:

General
Meeting
LEPN-
Number of meetings 1
SERY
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo 1/1
KR=E%X4E
Mr. Tse Michael Nam 1/1
A RE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin 11
EjEA=pitd
Mr. Tian Hong 1/1
AE%E
Mr. Shen Weidong 1/1
MEREE

Board

Exg

11

11/11

11/11

11/11

11/11

11/11

AN\ e g
1F %/ﬁiﬁ%

EEZEE2(#)
HESRTE

BREENFRBTZRERE (BREEBEF
BRAE) EE2g% EHRZESS
& FHEZEged REZEggaELA
REERZEEERIHERNT

No. of meetings attended/held

HE/BIEERY
Risk
Audit Remuneration = Nomination = Management
Committee Committee ~ Committee Committee
RBERE
ENZEER FMzEe REEET Z8®
4 2 2 3
- - 2/2 -
- - 2/2 3/3
4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3
4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3
4/4 2/2 2/2 3/3
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TRERERE

BOARD COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Directors’ training and professional development

Every Director knows that they should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The Company is responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training for the Directors. Accordingly, during the year, the
Company had made available trainings and development programmes
for the Directors for their participation.

Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective
training record pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.
During the year, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group’s business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.

Directors

E=x

Executive Directors
BITES

Mr. Zhang Sanhuo
R=Bk4E

Mr. Tse Michael Nam
HEESLE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BAKHTES

Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin

S EE

Mr. Shen Weidong

ILERELE

Mr. Tian Hong

HRFEE

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B: attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that all employees,
including all Directors, are sufficiently compensated for their efforts
and time dedicated to the Company and remuneration offered is
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and individual
performance, qualification, experience and the remuneration policy
are reviewed on a regular basis. Other employee benefits include
mandatory provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, training
programs and share option. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The EDs are closely involved in and are directly responsible for
all activities of the Group. The Board considers that the senior
management comprises the EDs. Particulars regarding senior
management and other Directors’ remuneration and the five (5)
highest-paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the year
fell within the following bands:

Nil = HK$500,000

HK$500,001 — HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the years, the Company reappointed Elite Partners CPA
Limited as the Auditor in the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 2 June 2023. The Auditor’s remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2023 was as follows:

Nature of work

THHEE

Audit services

BT

Non-audit services

FEEZIRF

T 500,000 7T

500,001 7T & 1,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T -
2,000,001 7T & 2,500,000/ 7T -
2,500,001 7T 2 3,000,000/ 7T -

AN\ e g
1F %iﬁﬂﬁ%

A BUR

ARRAZFEHHREEEREBER (B
EREF)IEFRARRANHZE N R
RS T HMEIE - MR ZFHMIRIER
TANTHSMNETE » W E BT @AR
B BF  KREFHBEE - HMESRH
BREBHERES - RIRREEERM - F
AEINERE  BEEFHEEMBHEAR
TTRABSHEBEEAS ZHH -

EERSREERHM

WITEETY2ERERAEANKBZE
A EEERASAETEERFBUNTE
- RELTARRMBED2ZATRESBSMR
EIEE N H A E A K T (5) % & = #r A
BEZHIFEN R A M RRMES -

B REEE M

FANINFEEREEEZHHNTIUTE
:

[}

BT =

RER  RRARER-_E-_=F~A-HE

TZBEFERRRE LENEERTEEER

MEBABERATAZEA BHE-_T ==

FT_A=T—HBLEFEZZHMB £
T

Amount

&8

HK$’000

FET

1,888

410
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TRERKRE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the Company’s financial statements and that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. It is also the responsibility of the
Directors to ensure the timely publication of the Company’s financial
statements. During the year, the management has provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval including the monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

A discussion and analysis of the Groups’ performance, an explanation
of the basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering the Company’s
objectives have been prepared and included in the Chairman
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this
report.

The statement of the Auditor on their reporting responsibilities in
respect of the Company’s financial statements is set out on page 88
to 92.

The Directors confirm that, except for the issues as explained under
the basis of presentation section in Note 2 to the consolidate financial
statements, they are not aware of any other material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2023. To ensure Directors’ dealings in the securities of
the Company are conducted in accordance with the Model Code, a
Director is required to notify designated executive directors in writing
and obtain a written acknowledgement from the designated executive
directors prior to any dealings the securities of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to paragraph A.3 of Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, the
Directors are prohibited from dealing in any securities of the Company
on any day on which its financial results are published and during the
period of 60 days and 30 days immediately preceding the publication
date of the annual results and interim results respectively. The
Company has also established written guidelines in staff handbook on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions
by employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance
with the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted
by the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy with effect
from 29 March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”). The payment of dividend
is subject to the compliance with related laws and regulations,
including the laws of Bermuda, the Bye-laws, the Listing Rules, and
the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted. The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right to amend or modify the Dividend Policy as and when
the Board may deem necessary. There can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

The Company intends to create long term value for the Shareholders
through maintaining a balance between dividend distribution,
preserving adequate liquidity and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements and capturing future growth opportunities. When
considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

— the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

— the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

DIVIDEND POLICY (CONTINUED)

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or
period as:

1. interim dividend;
2. final dividend;
3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
ratio and the Company’s dividend distribution record in the past, if
any, may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no
way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months from 31 December 2023 after taking
into consideration of the following:

(@) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2017 Noteholder”) of the convertible loan note issued in
2017 (the “2017 Convertible Loan Note”) with the remaining
outstanding principal amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$312,000,000) in respect of the amount due by the Group is
still in progress;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN
(CONTINUED)

(b) discussions and negotiations between the Group and the holders
(the “2020 Noteholders”) of the convertible loan notes issued in
2020 (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes”) with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 in respect of the amount
due by the Group are still in progress and the parties expect to
reach a consensus in the near future;

(c) the Group is in the negotiation with the counterparty (the
“Other Creditor”) of other payables related to considerations for
acquisition of subsidiaries due by the Group for extending the
repayment due dates;

(d) the Group is actively taking measures to increase the profitability
of the Group’s coal operation in order to improve the operating
cash flows and its financial position; and

(e) the Group is actively seeking external facilities and fund raising
opportunities.

In forming its view, the Directors have also considered, among others,
(i) the 2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current
intention to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the
Company to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan
Notes; (i) notwithstanding that the Company had not repaid the debt
within 3 weeks from the date of service of the statutory demand, the
Group has not received any further notice from the 2017 Noteholder
of having commenced legal proceedings against the Company;
(i) notwithstanding that the Group had received a demand letter on
3 November 2022 from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the Other
Creditor demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the
default interest outstanding by the Group, the Group has not received
any further notice from the Other Creditor of having commenced
legal proceedings against the Company; and (iv) save for the
aforementioned, the Group has not received any winding-up petition
against the Company nor additional demand letters and/or statutory
demands up to the date of this report.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

MANAGEMENT VIEW ON GOING CONCERN
(CONTINUED)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, which will
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial and
operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successful negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder and the 2020
Noteholders to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s
financial obligations;

(i) successful negotiation with the Other Creditor to extend the
repayment due dates;

(i) successful increase of the profitability of the coal operation in
order to improve operating cash flows and financial position; and

(iv) successfully obtaining external facilities and/or fund raising
opportunities for fulfilling its other existing financial obligations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW ON GOING CONCERN

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the disclaimer of opinion
relating to going concern (the “Audit Qualification”), the Board’s
response to the disclaimer of opinion, and the Company’s action plan
in addressing the Audit Qualification and concurred with the Board’s
view. The Audit Committee is in agreement with the Management with
respect to the Audit Qualification and the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and the actions or measures to be implemented
by the Management or the Group. The Audit Committee’s views are
based on a critical review of: —

(i) the Management’s action plan to address the Audit Qualification
(and the assumption of successful and continued implementation);
and

(i) a review of the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a
period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2023, and
also discussions between the Audit Committee, the Auditor and
the Management regarding the Audit Qualification.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the Management should
continue its efforts in implementing the actions and measures set out
in the action plan below to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and
remove the Audit Qualification.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN

The Group has commenced the following action plans to remove the
Disclaimer of Opinion:

2017 Noteholder

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 April
2022, the Company was in discussions with a potential offeror (the
“Potential Offeror”) and other potential investors (the “Other Potential
Investors”), Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (“Mr. Zhang”), an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder, and 2017 Noteholder, China Huarong
Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited, in the outstanding aggregate
principal amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000
and the conversion period of which has expired) for proposed
restructuring of the Group which involves, among other things,
() subscription of shares by the Potential Offeror; (i) subscription of
shares by the Other Potential Investors; (iii) sale of 94,292,961 shares
held by China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”) which is ultimately
and beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang and the Sale Notes held by
China OEPC and Mr. Zhang’s spouse to the Potential Offeror;
(iv) engaging Mr. Zhang to manage the existing coal business of the
Group; (v) settling the debts owing to the 2017 Noteholder under
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note; (vi) disposal (the “Disposal”) of
certain subsidiaries relating to operations of the Group in Cambodia
to Mr. Zhang; and (vii) waiver of all the outstanding amounts due
from the Company to China OEPC and Mr. Zhang respectively (after
offsetting the amount payable by Mr. Zhang under the Disposal) (the
“Proposed Restructuring”).

On 17 June 2022, the Company received a notice of demand from
the 2017 Noteholder demanding redemption by the Company of all of
the 2017 Convertible Loan Note issued by the Company to the 2017
Noteholder on 10 July 2017 in the outstanding principal amount of
US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) by repayment of the
whole of the outstanding principal amount, together with all unpaid
interest accrued thereon (including default interest) and any other
amounts due but unpaid under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note in full
to the 2017 Noteholder.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2017 Noteholder (continued)

On 22 July 2022, the Company received a statutory demand from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder pursuant to
section 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
demanding the Company to pay the amount of US$84,943,738.72
under the 2017 Convertible Loan Note.

On 20 April 2023, the Board announced that (i) the discussion with
the Potential Offeror and the Other Potential Investors in relation to the
Proposed Restructuring was terminated; and (i) no formal agreement
has been entered into between the Company and the Potential
Offeror and the Other Potential Investors in relation to the Proposed
Restructuring. Therefore, the Proposed Restructuring involving the
Potential Offeror and the Other Potential Investors would not proceed
further.

As at the date of this report, despite receiving the Statutory Demand
from the legal advisers acting on behalf of the 2017 Noteholder, China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited on 22 July 2022,
the Company had not repaid the debt within 3 weeks from the date
of service of the statutory demand and the Group has not received
any further notice of the 2017 Noteholder having commenced legal
proceedings against the Company. The Company has been actively
negotiating with the 2017 Noteholder for possible extension and/or
settlement. However, the repayment timetable has yet to be finalized.
For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s) will be made by
the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules requirements
to inform the public and its Shareholders upon entering into the relevant
definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the 2017 Convertible Loan
Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2017 Noteholder.

For details, please refer to the relevant announcements of the
Company dated 19 April 2022, 20 May 2022, 20 June 2022,
20 July 2022, 25 July 2022, 24 August 2022, 23 September
2022, 21 October 2022, 21 November 2022, 21 December 2022,
20 January 2023, 20 February 2023, 21 March 2023 and 20 April
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

2020 Noteholders

The Company and the 2020 Noteholders are in the course of
negotiating for an extension of the maturity date of the 2020
Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders of new convertible notes with the subscription monies to
be satisfied by setting off against the amount due by the Company to
the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes. The
2020 Noteholders have indicated that they have no current intention
to demand for the repayment of the amount due by the Company
to the 2020 Noteholders under the 2020 Convertible Loan Notes
as at the day of this report. For details, please refer to the relevant
announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022.

The Group and the 2020 Noteholders expect to reach a consensus
in the near future regarding the extension of the 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company in compliance with the relevant Listing
Rules requirements to inform the public and its Shareholder upon
entering into the relevant definitive agreement(s) on an extension of the
2020 Convertible Loan Notes and/or the subscriptions by the 2020
Noteholders.

Other Payables

On 3 November 2022, the Group received a demand letter from the
legal advisers acting on behalf of the Other Creditor, demanding
the Group to repay the principal amount and the default interest
outstanding by the Group. As of the date of this report, the Group is
still negotiating with the other payable on the repayment.

Coal Operation Business

Despite ongoing infrastructure and construction projects driving a
stable demand outlook, both domestically and internationally, the coal
production industry may face supply-side constraints due to efforts
aimed at rationalizing and streamlining the coal sector.

For the year 2024, the Group will maintain our strategy of making
progress while ensuring stability and effectively promoting high-
quality development. We anticipate a steady inflow of cash, which will
contribute to an overall improvement in our financial position.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRE

ACTION PLAN ON GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

External Facilities and Fund Raising

In respect of seeking external facilities and fund raising opportunities,
the Group had approached a number of financial institutions and/
or other investor(s). Up to the date of this report, the Group has not
concluded or reached any agreements with those financial institutions
and/or other investor(s). The Company will continue to explore
appropriate fund raising opportunities.

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern will depend upon
the Group’s ability to generate adequate financial cash flows. Assuming
that the Group can successfully implement the aforesaid measures, the
Group considers it would address the going concern issues.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditor needs to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the audit
evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As such, assuming
the successful implementation of the action plan in time with sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the Directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer of Opinion is expected to be removed in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2024. The Company will continue to exercise its best
endeavours to resolve the audit modification within the year ending 31
December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised three
members, all of whom were INEDs. The composition of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Ho Kin Cheong, Kelvin (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Shen Weidong and Mr. Tian Hong. Mr. Ho Kin
Cheong, Kelvin is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. None of the members is a partner
or former partner of the Auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management in conjunction
with the external auditor of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
risk management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the CEQO. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the Company
Secretary is subject to the Board approval.

Ms. Chu Ka Ying, joined the Company since 2020. She holds a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and a Master Degree
in Corporate Governance. She has solid experience in company
secretarial field from both listed companies and professional firms in
Hong Kong. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. During the year, she has completed over 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring a
sound and effective internal control system is maintained within
the Company and its subsidiaries so as to safeguard the Group’s
assets and its Shareholders’ investments. The Board established
the Risk Management Committee to conduct annual reviews of the
effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting
and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

The Risk Management Committee reviewed the need for an internal
audit department and considered it appropriate to adopt an internal
group policy to review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, as opposed to a separate internal audit department, the
Risk Management Committee engaged an independent professional
third party for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

The Risk Management Committee conducted a review on the
internal control system of the Group on an annual basis and has the
responsibility to maintain an effective internal control system in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests. It covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company. And the
policy had be reviewed annually by the Board to ensure it fulfilled the
statutory requirement.

The Risk Management Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function. The Risk Management Committee will keep review and
monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place are
adequate.

Risk management system
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises

the following phases:

e |dentification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual

risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted for the year 2023, no
significant risk was identified.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT A 2B B e B i R (48
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system A EBEE IR E

The Company has in place an internal control system which is ZANAFRERNEEILFIE - HE S E R EK
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the B SFHELZEQERAHN T —=F %
Treadway Commission 2013 framework. The framework enables the i Z{EZ2— 8 o ZIEZR{E R EE RN LB R X
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency KKzt ~ BA RSB 3R 2 A] Se M LA X2 8 ~F i V&
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with il RJARE HEEEER B IZ - :ZIER 2 A
applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework B EB D &5 20T :

are shown as follow:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures  ES#FIRIE : A—EZ%E - BFNEE - AKX
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the — SEE#7TRNIFELIEIRHLEE -

Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying o REB(E : BA—EBENRRENRE

and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a AHE R TEERR - EMEBAE
basis for determining how risks should be managed. ErBZ - RRHIEEERAENRNE

IR ©

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures o Ef¥E®) : LB E R FHIETS - #

to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the M EREEEMATERBAZENKE
achievement of objectives are carried out. E TS AT ©

e Information and Communication: Internal and external o &K BE® @ EITRINEEER  AAE
communication to provide the Group with the information needed EREAEER AETEEEETIE -
to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain o  B5$% : #7745 8 R A RIEML - ARER A

whether each components of internal control is present and HEZENSEAXS S DM BEEE
functioning. B o
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Internal control system (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an
inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group, which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

e The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year 2023, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal audit

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal audit
team, which consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such
as Certified Public Accountant), which reports directly to the Risk
Management Committee.

In addition, the Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of
internal control to perform regular review of the internal control system
of the Group and the results were summarized and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for
a better control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and
adopting the recommendations made by the professional advisory
firm.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
review of the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Risk
Management Committee’s reviews, which include but not limited to
(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the
last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
systems.

The Risk Management Committee, through its reviews and the reviews
made by internal audit function and Audit Committee, concluded that
the risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

Based on the above, the Risk Management Committee is of the view
that the Company has established a proper internal control system
which is effective and adequate. And the Board also considers the
internal control systems of the Company effective and the resources,
qualifications and experience of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, adequate for the period in review.

In year 2023, the Group has engaged Insightnetic Consultancy
Limited, an independent professional third party, to review the Group’s
internal audit function. The internal audit function is independent
of the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness. An internal audit
plan as suggested has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted annually and the results are reported to the
Audit Committee afterwards.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company’s
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general
meetings for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of
conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement
of the general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with
such procedures.

The Company’s last annual general meeting was held on
2 June 2023 (the “2023 AGM”). Notice of the 2023 AGM was sent
out 21 clear days before the 2023 AGM. All the resolutions proposed
at the 2023 AGM were approved by the Shareholders by poll. Details
of the poll results are available on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s website. The Directors, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Auditor’s representative, and the Company’s legal advisors were
available at the 2023 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 21 April 2023, the Company announced that the Bye-laws was
proposed to be amended for the purpose of, among others, (i) bring
the Bye-laws in conformity with the core shareholder protection
standards, (i) bring the Bye-laws in line with other requirements of
the Listing Rules and applicable laws of Bermuda, and (jii) incorporate
certain consequential and house-keeping amendments.

The amendments to the Bye-laws and adoption of amended and
restated Bye-laws were approved in the 2023 AGM. Details of
the amendments to the Bye-laws were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 April 2023, the circular of the Company dated
28 April 2023 and the announcement of the Company relating to the
poll results of the 2023 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and the Bye-laws during the financial year
2023. Copy of the latest version of the Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws has been posted on the Company’s website as well as
the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of general meetings

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a general meeting. Shareholders holding an aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the Company’s paid up capital may send a
written request to the Board to request for the convening of a general
meeting. The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and
the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the requirements of
the Act once a valid requisition is received.

The Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal (which may
properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company: (a) any number of members representing not less
than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of the Company on
the date of the requisition; or (b) not less than 100 members holding
Shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal
must be deposited at the Company’s registered office. The Company
would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible for the
expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements of the Act once valid documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as Director at a general meeting, the Shareholder
should lodge at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F., Central 88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong, the necessary documents as mentioned in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director of the Company” which had already been published in
the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may make enquiries with the Board at the Company’s
general meetings or at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact
details are as follows:

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited

Unit A, 12/F., Central 88,

88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2889 6289

Fax: (852) 2897 9137
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS
GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
93 to 212, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have
not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of HK$3,339,315,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group had accumulated
losses of approximately HK$13,536,612,000 and the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets and total liabilities exceeds its
total assets of approximately HK$7,171,637,000 and approximately
HK$3,713,613,000 as at 31 December 2023. As at the same date, the
Group’s total borrowings (including amount due to a director, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings, amounts due to
related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to approximately
HK$6,506,062,000, while its cash and cash equivalents (including
restricted bank balances) amounted to approximately HK$118,099,000
only.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

In addition, as at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
borrowings and other payables were overdue for repayment or
contained a repayable on demand clause as below: (a) convertible loan
notes issued in 2017 with the remaining outstanding principal amount
of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) and the default
interests were matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2023; (b) convertible loan notes issued in 2020 with the amounts of
HK$380,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 were matured and overdue
for repayment as at 31 December 2023; (c) other payables with the
carrying amounts of approximately RMB119,709,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$131,836,000) and the default interests was matured
and overdue for repayment as at 31 December 2023; and (d) amounts
due to non-controlling interests of approximately HK$5,621,071,000
were outstanding by the Group as at 31 December 2023. Included
in amounts due to non-controlling interests with the amounted of
approximately HK$3,868,176,000 were matured and overdue as at
31 December 2023, while the remaining portion of HK$1,752,895,000
were contained a repayable on demand clause.

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, there is no winding up petition against
the Company nor new demand letter received by the Group and the
overdue balances are remain unsettled in relation to the above items.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED 4% <81E /%

RS R

Z;%ﬂa—%nmﬁmg (mﬁ)
FRFERENZEIEIRE (A

sy RZBZ=F+_HA=+—H' &
EH%FF%&E@%HmE@%@EEi
SREREEBRTOT  @RE—tF

%TT%T*T&E&$$%E?%40,000,000%7E(*ﬁ
E1312,000,0008 70) K AT IR E R EE K&
BAONMBR _ZE_=+-A=1+—RHE%
M EEE R ETFEFTHAR
REFEE - B8 A 2%380,000,000% 7T
R AR IR E SRR X AR 5815,000,00078 7T
MT%%Eﬁﬁfw_z::¢+:ﬂz+
—HEEHBRaHEE  FEmENARE
119,709,00075(*5“‘%%@131 836,000/ 7T)
MEMENHRERENFINER-_Z=_=F+
:H:+—Eaﬂ%&@%ﬁa, (e}
E_ZF+-_A=+—8" EB{DKRE
@E’Jfﬁaﬁ [ #E &5 FRIB 45, 621 071,000/
B e JE I I i 2 SR IE £93,868,176,000
%nﬁ_gz—¢+ A=t+—HZ3HE
BHEEFK - MR T 309 1,752,895,000/8 T &L
BRERKEENER -

BERAMBHRREML ERKET
Sl %\’Aﬂlﬂiﬁgﬁcﬁﬁ%ixxlﬁﬂ’]
BREFRIOERL - MR ARE

3z
g

MIBRKRAGTEEATEERE - HAlse
o BEENFELERIENEARM -

SEHFRAR 89



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (CONTINUED)
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
(continued)

The directors have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position so as to be able
to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, which are set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the eventual successful outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including whether: (a) the Group can successfully to negotiate with the
convertible loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due dates;
(b) the Group can successfully to negotiate with other payables related
to considerations for acquisition of subsidiaries due by the Group for
extending the repayment due dates; (c) the Group can successfully
take active measure to increase the profitability of the Group’s coal
operation in order to improve operating cash flows and its financial
position; and (d) the Group can successfully to obtain the external
facilities and/or fund raising opportunities.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements because of the lack of detailed analyses provided
by management in relation to its plans and measures for future
actions in its going concern assessment which take into account
the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and measures and how
variability in outcome would affect the future cash flows of the Group.
Any adjustments found to be required may have consequential
significant effects on the consolidated net liabilities of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and the consolidated loss and total comprehensive
expense and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, and the related elements and disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QOur responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a
basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower
33 Lockhart Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F T F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5T FExT FHEIT
Revenue A 8 1,463,280 2,305,799
Cost of sales SHE AR (1,441,312 (1,537,826)
Gross profit EF 21,968 767,973
Other operating income Hihag e e 8 6,697 7,944
Selling and distribution expenses HENMDHEA (2,928) (2,597)
Administrative and other operating THRHEAEEE R
expenses (448,353) (429,725)
Write-down of non-current asset SEAFLHEERBEEZ
classified as held for sale OB 23 (293,995) =
(Impairment loss)/reversal of RERTEEER Z CRERE),
impairment loss recognised in REBERE
respect of mining rights 17 (1,953,199) 812,445
(Impairment loss)/reversal of TWE - BEKEZBEER
impairment loss recognised (REEE),REEEREE
in respect of property, plant and
equipment 16 (910,749) 322,063
Impairment losses recognised in BIEEREEEEEAR
respect of financial assets under TRE EMRRERE
expected credit loss model, net of MR
reversal (7,603) (5,866)
Finance costs BB 9 (387,929) (896,523)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREL AT (B518), R R 10 (3,976,091) 575,714
Income tax credit/(expense) FriggiEe, (Fx) 11 636,776 (228,020)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BE),ER (3,339,315) 347,694
(Loss)/profit for the year LT ATEIEEE(ER),
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company RARHERA (1,803,269) (229,533)
Non-controlling interests e A (1,536,046) 577,227
(3,339,315) 347,694
Loss per share (HK cents) BREE (B
Basic BN 13 (343) (44)
Diluted g (343) (44)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREREMEEHKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(FR), B (3,339,315) 347,694
Other comprehensive (expense)/ Htt2mE @),
income:
Items that may be subsequently BEAEN HEEEm 2 HE
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBTEECER
translation of foreign operations =% (5,385) (51,300)
Reclassification adjustments for FREINER T EFN DL
foreign operations deregistration FHE
during the year - 144
Other comprehensive expense FEHMEZEMAX
for the year (5,385) (51,156)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FEZ2MEBFIX) UWEHEEE
for the year (3,344,700) 296,538
Total comprehensive (expense)/income U TATEEEEZ2EEX),
for the year attributable to: WS 4A%E -
Owners of the Company VINNEIEZFS N (1,796,762) (236,290)
Non-controlling interests R (1,547,938) 532,828
(3,344,700) 296,538
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
aRE B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2023 R—_Z-_=F+_-_F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FER FAT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE -~ BB RHEE 16 1,438,660 2,397,212
Mining rights PRI 17 3,019,165 5,785,597
Intangible assets B EE 8,368 10,814
Goodwill BES 18 = -
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHEMZE - BB REE2
property, plant and equipment BfiES 53,306 67,700
4,519,499 8,261,323
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 58 19 35,450 123,273
Trade receivables B 5 IR 20 355,642 260,449
Prepayment, deposits and other TERTFIE -~ e KA
receivables KRIE 20 161,881 154,125
Amounts due from related FEUL & N R FRIE
companies 21 5,872 5,996
Prepaid tax SELRR R 5,257 -
Restricted bank balances SR HISRIT 4S8R 22 16,669 2,594
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY 22 101,430 161,675
682,201 708,112
Non-current asset classified as held ~ D3 AFHEIERDEE
for sale 23 20,870 -
703,071 708,112
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B S RIE 24 24,138 21,672
Other payables H A e FRIE 24 1,500,853 1,353,099
Amount due to a director B —RESFHIE 21 14,821 14,821
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAST IE 1 AR i 2 BUIB
interests 25 5,621,071 5,700,952
Other borrowings HifgE 32 707,921 707,921
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 2,363 1,622
Income tax liabilities Frgti A& 3,541 6,612
7,874,708 7,806,699
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (7,171,637) (7,098,587)
Total assets less current liabilites ZEMAER KBS E (2,652,138) 1,162,736
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B IR R 3R

As at 31 December 2023 W=_ZE=—=F+_-_HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —=E-=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FHET
Capital and reserves EAXR#HE
Share capital [ 27 526 526
Reserves e (4,384,639) (2,587,877)
Capital deficiencies attributable = KA T #HEE AENERE 4
to owners of the Company (4,384,113) (2,587,351)
Non-controlling interests e IR =S 38 670,500 2,121,661
Total capital deficiencies EREAAEE (3,713,613) (465,690)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Provision for restoration, 18 ~ BB RIR B AN B S
rehabilitation and environmental
costs 28 84,462 84,126
Amounts due to related companies  JE{IFiE R B FUA 21 143,900 146,698
Other payables Hfh FE T FRIE 24 286,394 184,104
Lease liabilities HEGE 31 15,986 10,171
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 29 530,733 1,203,327
1,061,475 1,628,426
(2,652,138) 1,162,736

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised &AM BHREN T -_HF=A -+ /\BEK
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed ~EF&HENEETE  WHATEERS

on its behalf by: BE
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Mr. Tse Michael Nam
R=EEEE HEFLEE
Director Director
= EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTREARL
Convertible
Exchange Share  Statutory loan notes Non-
Share  Contributed  translation options surplus Other equity Accumulated controlling
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
T8k
EigE BRE  iEEs ERE8 FER

B AABH (] BF  DEER  ABER  BAER  ZHER it L it
HKBOOD  HKSO0  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKBODD  HKSOOD  HK$OOD
Tem  TEr  TEr TR TR TEm  TEn TR TR TR TR

(Note ) (Note i) (Note i) (Note i) (Note )
N N R 1) (H)

Asat 1 January 2022 R-E--£-f-H 56 9049712 (126,850) 831 136,274 128,349 40054 (11,5889%7)  (2361061)  1,685622  (665,439)
(Loss)/proft for the year EE(BR)EH - - - = = = S (953 (953 STIT 34760
Other compreensive expense for te year FREMZERR - = 6757) = = z = e B757) (@439 115
Total comprehensive (expense)income for theyear £ 2 (%) /B 48 - = 6,757) S S = S (2953 (26200 532808 2965%8
Appropriation of maintenance and production fund. B REEESHE - - - S 67,465 = = (67469) = = S
Utisaton of maintenance and production fund HREEREERS = = S S 31,163 = = 31,163 = = S
Expiy of conversion option of convertle loannotes TR & E Ak iE2|2 - = = = = = (49,054 49,054 e e S
Divdend paid to non-controling interests BfERERRS = = S S S = = = = 96789 (96,789)
Asat 31 December 2022 and asat 1 Janvary 2023 WZFZZ%

tzA=1-Ak

“3-zF-f-B 56 9049712 (133,607) 831 172,576 128,349 - (11806738  (2567.351) 2121661  (465,690)
Loss for the year FEEE C C - - - - - (180269 (1803269  (1,536,046) (3,339,315)
Other compreensive income/{expense) for theyear ~ EEEH2EME/(BR) - = 6,507 ° ° = = = 6,507 (1189 (5369
Tota comprehensive income/expense) or theyer  EF2ERE/ (FR)4E = = 6,507 = = = - (1803269 (1,796,762  (1,547,938) (3,344,700)
Aopropriation of mintenance and production fund. ~ #EREEESSHE S S © © 50,090 S S (50,000) S = =
Utisation of maintenance and production fund BLEREERS = ° ° - (122489) = - 12485 = = °
Contrbution rom non-controllng interests REFERER TE = = = = = = = = - 838 148338
Dividend paid and payable to non-controling interests 2 REMEARER TS = o = = = c c = = (51,561 (51,561)
As at 31 December 2023 it et 4

tZB=1-A 56 9049712 (127,100) 831 100,181 128,349 - (135%6,612)  (4,2384,113) 670500 (3,713,613

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #x <8I EEBR A E 97



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

Notes:

)

(i)

(il

(v)

Contributed surplus represents the reduction of the Company’s issued
share capital upon cancellation of paid up share capital, and the deemed
contribution from equity holder which has arisen from the waiver of
promissory notes in previous years and contribution from a shareholder in
current year.

Exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to
the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from
their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$") and are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. Such
exchange differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Share options reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to
be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over
the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised in administrative and other operating
expenses with a corresponding increase in the share options reserve.

Statutory surplus reserve consists of (i) subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) have appropriated 10% of the profit to the
statutory surplus reserve which is required to be retained in the accounts of
the subsidiaries for specific purposes and (i) pursuant to the relevant PRC
regulations, the Group is required to transfer maintenance and production
funds at fixed rates based on relevant bases to statutory surplus reserve
from accumulated losses. The maintenance and production funds can be
utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on production maintenance
and safety measured are incurred. The amount of maintenance and
production funds utilised would be transferred from the statutory surplus
reserve to accumulated losses.

Convertible loan notes issued are split into their liabilities and equity
components at initial recognition by recognising the liability component
at its fair value which is determined using a market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debts and attributing to the equity component
the difference between the proceeds from issue and the fair value of the
liability component. The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The equity component is recognised in the convertible
loan notes equity reserve until convertible loan notes are either converted (in
which case it is transferred to share premium) or the convertible loan notes
are redeemed (in which case it is released directly to accumulated losses).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReETH
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREL AT (B5R) % A (3,976,091) 575,714
Adjustments for: BT PR EELFE
Depreciation of property, Y BEREETE
plant and equipment 147,854 192,666
Amortisation of mining rights PR 5H 362,088 333,781
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEH 1,951 2,038
Finance costs AE KA 387,929 896,523
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment PERIERETER 2
loss) recognised in respect of mining REETE, (R{EEEERE)
rights 1,953,199 (812,445)
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment E - BEK
loss) recognised in respect of HIEER
property, plant and equipment BEE R, CRERIBRE) 910,749 (322,063)
Recovery of other receivables Uiz [B] L th FE U5 3R8 - (272)
Written off of prepayment S8 TR SRR = 6,573
Impairment losses recognised in RIETEHREEBEER
respect of financial assets under RERMEERRZRE
expected credit loss model, net of e - MkREE
reversal 7,603 5,866
Bank interest income RITHBHA (426) (281)
Gain on deregistration of B AR
subsidiaries - (3,594)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BERE#EZ
plant and equipment E518 = 17,009
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W= = (624)
Written off of property, plant and M E - BE KR E
equipment 4,323 -
Write-down of non-current asset SEAGLHEERBEE
classified as held for sale Z HUR 293,995 =
Operating cash flows before RtEEESEEA
movements in working capital KEEESRE 93,174 890,891
Change in inventories FTEEE) 87,045 18,969
Change in trade and B 5 & H A fE W kIR
other receivables ) (113,116) (214,336)
Change in amounts due FEW BRI N R IE
from related companies - (312)
Change in trade and B 5 R HAbFE FIA
other payables b2 56,486 (159,839)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERERX

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ —E -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E—-= T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHEx FHET
Cash generated from operations KEFRBRE 123,589 535,373
Income tax paid BT (23,859) (167,303)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETBRBRSFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 99,730 368,070
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Acquisition of property, plant and WY -~ RE KRR
equipment (90,488) (207,055)
Deposit paid for acquisition for property, WiEmE - BB REE
plant and equipment BEfi&e = (59,498)
Interest received B U H B 426 281
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWME - BB REE
plant and equipment Frissk18 = 7
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETBFAREERHE
ACTIVITIES (90,062) (266,265)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Advance from related companies W E R E AN T 11,440 11,150
Repayment to related companies mEE A TR ES (13,014) -
Repayment of bank advances on JEUYBEIR |4~ SR (T EA SR B 2
discounted bills receivables - (5,710)
Repayment to non-controlling interests MSEIEAR 2R VR H A X = (7,867)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests ) SR AR e 2 I B IR S (36,275) (96,789)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHNEAE (10,549) (15,411)
Interest paid [=ANEESS - (5,451)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETBARESERHE
ACTIVITIES (48,398) (120,078)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HB&RREZEYRLFHE
EQUIVALENTS (38,730) (18,273)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BEMIZREREESE
AT THE BEGINNING OF BY
THE REPORTING PERIOD 164,269 146,141
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SNEERBE 2
RATE CHANGES (7,440) 36,401
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REHRZ2RERRAESE
AT THE END OF By
THE REPORTING PERIOD 118,099 164,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries, (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is Unit A, 12/F., Central
88, 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding
and provision of finance and treasury services to the Group. The
Group was principally engaged in (i) the development of cassava
cultivation and deep processing business for the related ecological
cycle industry chain; (i) coal exploration and development, sales of
coking coal and other coal products and provision of coal related
services; and (iii) the sales of information technology products
and provision of system integration services, technology services,
software development and solution services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of HK$ (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated, which is also
the functional currency of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 2. RAFEHMBBRREE(E)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$3,339,315,000
(2022: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2023, and as of
that date, the Group had accumulated losses of approximately
HK$13,536,612,000 (2022: approximately HK$11,805,738,000)
and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
and total liabilities exceeds its total assets of approximately
HK$7,171,637,000 (2022: approximately HK$7,098,587,000)
and approximately HK$3,713,613,000 (2022: approximately
HK$465,690,000). As at the same date, the Group’s total
borrowings (including amount due to a director, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, other borrowings, amounts due to
related companies and lease liabilities) amounted to approximately
HK$6,506,062,000 (2022: approximately HK$6,582,185,000),
while its cash and cash equivalents (including restricted bank
balances) amounted to approximately HK$118,099,000 (2022:
approximately HK$164,269,000) only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
have given in consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the condition described above. Certain of the Group’s
payables were overdue and are explained below:

@)

convertible loan note issued in 2017 (the “2017 Convertible
Loan Note”) with the remaining outstanding principal amount
of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to HK$312,000,000) was
matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2023 and 2022. On 22 July 2022, the Company received
a statutory demand from the legal advisers acting on
behalf of the holder of 2017 Convertible Loan Note, China
Huarong Macau (HK) Investment Holdings Limited (the “2017
Noteholder”), demanding the Company to repay the principal
amount and the default interest outstanding by the Company;

convertible loan notes issued in 2020 (the “2020 Convertible
Loan Notes”) with the amounts of HK$380,000,000 (the “2020
Convertible Loan Note A”) and HK$15,000,000 (the “2020
Convertible Loan Note B”) were matured and overdue for
repayment as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

other payables related to consideration for acquisition of
subsidiaries with the carrying amounts of approximately
RMB119,709,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$131,836,000) was matured and overdue for repayment
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. On 3 November 2022,
the Group received a demand letter from the legal advisers
acting on behalf of the counterparty of other payables,
demanding the Group to repay the principal amount and the
default interest outstanding by the Group; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

(d) amounts due to non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$5,621,071,000 (2022: approximately HK$5,700,952,000)
as at 31 December 2023 were outstanding by the Group.
Included in amounts due to non-controlling interests with
the amounted of approximately HK$3,868,176,000 (2022:
approximately HK$3,954,932,000) were matured and overdue
for repayment and remains unsettled as at 31 December
2023 and 2022, while the remaining portion of approximately
HK$1,752,895,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,746,020,000)

were contained a repayable on demand clause.

Up to the date of approval and authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements for issue, the Group is still in negotiation with
counterparties to extend the maturity dates of the above items (a)
to (c) and there is no winding up petition against the Company nor
new demand letter received by the Group and the overdue
balances are remain unsettled in relation to the above items (a) to
(c). For item (d), amounts due to non-controlling interests were
included in ILFAEREHEEEIRIRERZBR A A (Shanxi
Coal Transportation and Marketing Group Energy Investment
Development Limited*) (“Shanxi Coal”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “Shanxi Coal Group”) which was loss of
control on 19 January 2024 as a result of reorganisation pursuant
to the relevant government policies. The amounts due to non-
controlling interests were derecognised as a result of loss of

control over Shanxi Coal Group.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s

ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient funds to
fulfill its financial obligations to continue as a going concern. The
Group has taken the following measures to improve the Group’s
financial position and alleviate its liquidity pressure, including, but

not limited to, the following:

(@) the Group can successfully to negotiate with the convertible

loan notes holders’ for extending the repayment due dates;

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Going concern basis (continued)

(b) the Group can successfully to negotiate with other payables
related to consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries due by
the Group for extending the repayment due dates;

(c) the Group can successfully take active measure to increase
the profitability of the Group’s coal operation in order to
improve operating cash flows and its financial position; and

(d) the Group can successfully to obtain the external facilities
and/or fund raising opportunities.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as
to whether management will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern would depend upon (a) the
Group can successfully to negotiate with the convertible loan
notes holders’ for extending the repayment due dates; (b) the
Group can successfully to negotiate with other payables related
to consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries due by the Group
for extending the repayment due dates; (c) the Group can
successfully take active measure to increase the profitability of the
Group’s coal operation in order to improve operating cash flows
and its financial position; and (d) the Group can successfully to
obtain the external facilities and/or fund raising opportunities.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTSTO 3. EAHI &8 BHREEARE

HKFRSs

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020 and

February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised information, or
information that only duplicates or summarises the requirements
of the HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the
material accounting policy information disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. The application of the
amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance.

Except for disclosed above, the application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors anticipate that the application of all amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z —Z —

=Ft-A=t—BLEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders

or other parties;

® rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line

with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between () the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and (i) the carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUSs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently whenever there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to the directors and other
employees of the Group and others providing similar services are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings, mining structure, plants and machineries in the course
of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than construction in progress) less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Mining structure 10%

Leasehold improvements 33'/3% or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33"/:%

office equipment

Motor vehicles 33'/3%
Plants and machineries 10%
Buildings 10% or over the lease terms

whichever is shorter
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of the exchange
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for mining rights is recognised on the units of
production method based on the total proven and probable
reserves of the mine.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables (exclude other
tax receivables), amounts due from related companies, restricted
bank balances and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of
ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the end of the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instruments as at the end
of the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instruments as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instruments’ external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. EXEHBERER (E)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) SRIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. EXEHBERER (E)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically for financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(exclude contract liabilities, accrued staff costs and other tax
payables), amount due to a director, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, other borrowings and amounts due to related
companies) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency
and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified, the
Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for
as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless
the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank
balances are disclosed in note 22.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average
method or first-in-first out method as appropriate. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling prices for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining
rights with finite useful lives other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “(loss)/profit before taxation” because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grant are presented under
“Other operating income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in PRC are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental expenses are based on estimates of required
expenditure to restore the sites of Group’s mines in accordance
with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its
liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash
expenditure to perform the required work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate for new circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EAETBERER (@)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the asset is available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Related party (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(viy The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of
whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members who

may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 5.

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policies,
which are described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimation, the directors have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the basis
as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Control over subsidiaries

The Group owns 49% equity interest in Shanxi Coal Group
(including a subsidiary in which Shanxi Coal own 34% equity
interest in LU 7E M k& S R B & R B E R B R A F] (Shanxi Coal
Transportation and Marketing Group Gujiao Fuchang Coal Industry
Company Limited” (“Fuchang”)). The Group’s ownership interest
in Shanxi Coal Group gives the Group the same percentage of the
voting rights in Shanxi Coal Group. The Group’s equity interest in
Shanxi Coal Group was acquired on 7 June 2013 and there has
been no change in the Group’s ownership in Shanxi Coal since
then. The remaining 51% of the registered capital of Shanxi Coal
is owned by two equity interest holders, who holds 41% and
10% respectively, belonging to a same group of companies. The
directors made an assessment as at the date of completion of
acquisition as to whether or not the Group has control over Shanxi
Coal Group based on whether the Group has the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of Shanxi Coal Group unilaterally.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. RS HERESTTIREMZ
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY FERR(E)
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying the entity’s accounting
policies (continued)

Control over subsidiaries (continued)

The directors concluded that it has had control over Shanxi Coal
since the completion of acquisition on 7 June 2013 on the basis
that under the memorandum and articles of association of Shanxi
Coal (as amended on 21 December 2009), the Group is able
to appoint five directors out of nine on the board of directors of
Shanxi Coal through its wholly owned subsidiaries and a resolution
to be passed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal requires
a simple majority. Upon Shanxi Coal being effectively acquired
by the Group on 7 June 2013, the Group is able to control the
decision making of the board of directors of Shanxi Coal through
its wholly owned subsidiaries.

In addition, all of Shanxi Coal’s shareholders agreed that they
will approve the plans and proposals, including operating
and investment plan, financial budgeting, profit appropriation,
extraction of discretionary reserve and the issuance of bonds,
proposed by the board of directors of Shanxi Coal. The directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting interests
to direct the relevant activities of Shanxi Coal, and accordingly the
Group has control over Shanxi Coal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account their estimated
residual values. The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such a difference may impact
the depreciation and amortised in the year and the estimate will be
changed in the future period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of non financial assets other than
goodwill

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and mining
rights are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation or
accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying amount of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of CGUs, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

Notwithstanding that the Group has used all available information
to make this estimation, inherent uncertainty exists and actual
write-offs may be higher or lower than the amount estimated.

Details of the impairment of are disclosed in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. RS HERESTTIREMZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at amortised
cost

Trade receivables and all other financial assets which measured at
amortised cost are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Mine reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are inherently
imprecise and represent only approximate amounts because of
the subjective judgments involved in developing such information.
There are authoritative guidelines regarding the engineering
criteria that have to be met before estimated mine reserves can
be designated as “proven” and “probable”. Proven and probable
mine reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have
taken into account recent production and technical information
of each mine. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and
assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical
and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production
techniques, recovery rates, production costs, transport costs,
commodity demand and commodity prices. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proven and probable mine reserves also changes. This change is
considered as a change in estimate for accounting purposes and
is reflected on a prospective basis in related amortisation rates
and impairment of mining rights.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates,
these estimates are used in determining depreciation expenses
and impairment losses. The capitalised cost of mining rights is
amortised over the estimated unit of production. The estimated
unit of production are reviewed annually in accordance with the
production plans of the Group and the proven and probable
reserves of the mines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration, rehabilitation and

environmental costs

The provision for restoration, rehabilitation and environmental
costs has been determined by the management of the Group
based on their best estimates. The management of the Group
estimated this liability for final reclamation and mine closure based
upon detailed forecast of the amounts and timing of future cash
flows for a third party to perform work, escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability, such that the provision reflects the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
However, the estimate of the associated expenditures may be
subject to change due to new government environmental policy
in the future. The provision is reviewed regularly to ensure that it
properly reflects the present value of the obligation arising from
the mining activities.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which
included amount due to a director, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to non-controlling interests, other
borrowings and lease liabilities, net of restricted bank balances
and cash and cash equivalents) and capital deficiencies
attributable to owners of the Company. The directors review the
capital structure monthly. As a part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on the recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues and repurchase of existing shares as well as issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information reported
to the directors (being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”)) for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment are as follows:

Cassava starch
operation
Mining operation -

Provision of cultivation and processing of
cassava starch for sale

Geological survey, exploration and
development of coal deposits, and
sales of coking coal

Coal processing, sales of coal products
and provision of coal related services

Coal operation -

Systems integration —
services and
software solutions

Sales of information technology
products, provision of systems
integration services, technology
services, software development and
solution services

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services. The management
of the Group monitors the operating results of its business units
separately for the purposes of making decisions on resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss which in certain
respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently
from the operating profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. ZEHERE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERH KRR LR EBHE DB E R
allocating resources between segments, the CODM also reviews T EELEARENEMNEMASHE
other segment information. ¥} o
Segment revenue and results DEWRAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT &S] 23D 5 2 NEE UK
reportable segments. NES

Systems integration

services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZESREHR
BEBARR ey ES Rk RERBER h

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
CECTE -F--F “B-=F -F--F “B-=F -F--F “B-=F -F--F “B-cE -3 F
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000  HKS'000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
T#n AT THEx  TEr  TEn  TEr TR THEr  TEr  TiEn

For the year ended BEt-B=1-A

31 December LEE

REVENUE B

Sales to extenal customers  FANIRPIEL 2 E o - 1,367,600 2144805 95680 160,994 = - 1,463,280 2,305,799
RESULTS S

Segment (loss)/proft AH(ER)/ & (119)  (357) (3,584,368) 1454352 9,047 31571 (1929) (6,866 (3,577,369) 1,478,700
Unallocated income LN 2 478
Unallocated expenses A (10,795)  (11,189)
Finance costs BERE (387,929)  (896,525)
(Loss)/profit before taxation B3 (E18) /F (3,976,001) 575,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. DEPER(E)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment (loss)/profit
represents the (loss)/profit from each segment without allocation
of central administrative expenses, including directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments, certain other income, certain other
operating expenses and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

For the purpose of assessment by the CODM, finance costs of
amounts due to non-controlling interests, other borrowings and
advances drawn on discounted bills and leases liabilities were not
included in segment results while the corresponding liabilities have
been included in the segment liabilities.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments.

2B A R A (E)
AE2ROBZEFTBRERNKE 2 &5
BERAAR - HE(ER),aiEE D%
ELz(BR),EF - MRS EHR
TBRHAX @ BREFERITHRAHMSE -
ETHMKRA  BETEMEEERLE
BRA - T E IR B MR IR AT A [
TERERREBEZFETA -

REBRERKELTHEMNS @ BN
R ERR  HEE RIEHRAER
REZBFFEERBEZBEKRARLR
FFADEEE  MEEEEBEDFADH
AR

TMWEERER
UNTRBEAIZB/ABANMZAREEE
REIE -

Segment assets DEEE

2023 2022
—E-= —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Systems integration services and R A AR R

software solutions fRR R 2,174 2,322
Mining operation RS 5,147,656 8,896,218
Coal operation B R SR 68,600 66,333
Cassava starch operation RNEWIDE 24 1,872
Total segment assets DEEERE 5,218,454 8,966,745
Unallocated corporate assets RAORBEEE 4,116 2,690
Consolidated total assets meEEERE 5,222,570 8,969,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7EBER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) THEERAEE
Segment liabilities DEEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Systems integration services and RS AR TS R B
software solutions fRR TR 4,234 4,420

Mining operation BT 7,347,251 8,046,801
Coal operation R ETE 30,852 33,162
Cassava starch operation NEBDE 3,098 3,108
Total segment liabilities DEPE(EEER 7,385,435 8,087,491
Unallocated corporate liabilities Aot ¥aE 1,550,748 1,347,634
Consolidated total liabilities LEBERE 8,936,183 9,435,125
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MEER D ERIR RN D EBHE » BB IR T
allocating resources between segments: Bl
- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than - FEEEASEZEZNZ2®HE -

certain property, plant and equipment, certain prepayment, WETNBREETYWE  BELRE -

deposits and other receivables and certain cash and cash BETHEMNRIA - ke REMERR

equivalents and assets jointly used by reportable segments. HURETHReRESEEYRA

ERAEZRNMARACHAZEE -

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other - FEAEASEZEZNE2®H
than certain other payables, certain amounts due to related ErBEEE THEMENKE - &F
companies, amount due to a director, other borrowings and ENEEARNRE BN —RES
liabilities jointly liable by reportable segments. M HihEERBEAZ2®MDE

HRAREZEE -
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 7EBER (&)
Other segment information Hihn HBEFR
Systems integration
services and
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation Cassava starch operation Unallocated Consolidated
FESABRBR
Bh@ARE REEH RRER RERBER AR &8
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 202 2023 202 2023 2022 2023 2022
Z§-zf -F--F CECDE -F--fF C§CZE “F--fF CZRIzZE -F--F CZBIZE SF--F CECZE CEoCfE

HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$000 HKS000  HK$000 HK§'000
TERL TR TER TR TR TR Tin TR ThRL TERL TERL TR

For the year ended BEt-A=t-B
31 December LEE
Amounts included in the STEAMEE)/ BHEL
measure of segment (oss)fproft  AEEERH R
Or segment assets: TR :
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - BERRE
and equipment it - - 146,878 191,538 - - - 165 976 963 147,854 192,666
Amortisation of mining rights RRiERY o = 362,088 333,781 ° = o = o o 362,088 333781
Amortisation of intanglble assets &/ AEEH = - 1,951 2038 - - - - - - 1,951 2038
Additons tonon-curentassels  FEERHEE
(excluded financial (FafEeBIE)
instruments) - - 124,641 217339 - - - - 1,935 12 126,576 277,351
Loss on disposal of LENE BRR
property, plntand equipment REZEE - - - 16,960 - - - 49 - - - 17,009

Impairent loss/reversal of SREERD L RES

impaiment loss) recogrised /(REFERR)

in respect of mining rights - - 1953199 B12449) - - - - - T 198190 (B2
Impaiment loss/[reversal of % BERGER

impaiment loss) recogrised RIREEE/ (5

in respect of property, EEERE)

plant and equipment - - 910,749 (322,083 - - - - - - 910,749 (322,083)
Impaiment loss/(reversal of REESEEHREL

impaimentlosses) recognised  EEBAERTZE

in respect of financial assets EER/ (IEEER

under expected credit loss ) REE

model, net of reversal - - 1,755 5,866 5,848 - - - - - 7,603 5,866
Written off of prepayment HEEMNTE - - - - - - - 6,573 - - - 6,573
Witten offof property, plantend ~ #$91% - BER&A

equipment - - 2476 - - - 1,847 - - - 4323 -
Wite-down of non-curentasset ~ ABAFHERRHE

classfied as held for sale EZH - - 293,995 - - - - - - - 293,995 -

Amounts regularly provided to EHRETEERS

CODM but not included in REERLESA
the measure of segment SESBER)
oss)/proft: i

Interest income EGON - - (416) (264) m (17) = - 6] - (426) (281)

Finance costs BERA - - - - - - - - 387,929 896,523 387,929 896,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. ZEHERE)
Other segment information (continued) Hfth 5 I & K (&)
Geographical information HEER
Since all of the Group’s revenue were derived in PRC and over ARAEEE2SRSEREARE - BAE
90% of the Group's non-current assets (excluded financial BB IERBEE(TEIEEHT
instruments) were located in PRC, no geographical segment BN R E - I EIRIEE ST BWmE
information in accordance with HKFRS 8 is presented. ERIESHRETHE D HPERL
Information about major customers ERETEREFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing HAREBEEBEFEEEE10%HIA L2
10% or more of the total sales of the Group are as follows: BEZBALT
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Customer A! BEA 175,353 -
Customer B! BB 170,347 338,685
Customer C! BEC 1,020,712 1,686,233
' Revenue from mining operation. T OBRRBEEB WA .
Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or Br EXXCPTHEEES - REZMBEEE - #
more to the Group’s revenue for both years. MEMER AEEEFR10%IA LUK
N1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. WARHMKZ WS
i) Revenue from goods and services i) EmREBEEKRA
Disaggregation of revenue D WA
Systems integration
services and Cassava starch
software solutions Mining operation Coal operation operation Total
ZRERRHER
Segments pox: | BEBARR RRER e AERBER gt
2028 2022 2028 2022 2028 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZBCCE CEC-F CBCCE CFCCF CECCE CRCCF CECCE CE-CF CBCZE CEoCF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000  HK$000
Tén TEx TEn TExr TEn  TExr  TEx  TExr  TEx  TEx
Types of goods or senvices £ @ RIEER
Sales of goods HEER
- Raw coals -RE o - 1,185,000 1,751,474 o - = - 1,185900 1,751,474
~Clean codls -k o - 170348 338686 92375 147546 = - 262728 486232
~Other coal products -EpERER o - 11352 5464 449 a7 = - 11801 55016
Coalsenicesfeeincome~ ERERIEMA = = = - 2856 13077 = - 2886 13077
= - 1,367,600 2144805 95680 160,994 o - 1,463,280 2,305,799
Timing of revenue WARZRE
recognition
A point in time B2 - - 1,367,600 2,144805 92,824 147917 - - 1,460,424 2292722
Over time ER = = = - 8% 13077 = - 285 13077
= - 1,367,600 2144805 95680 160,994 = - 1,463,280 2,305,799
Notes: ez -
() For sales of raw coals, clean coals and other coal products, () MEEREK BEREMERER

revenue is recognised when control of goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been accepted by customers
(acceptance) after goods delivered to the specific location or
picked up by customers. Transportation and handling activities
that occur before customers obtain control are considered as
fulfilment activities. Following acceptance, the customers have
full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. The normal credit term is up to 60 days upon

acceptance.

(i)

Coal service fee income is recognised when relevant services

provided to customer including but not limited to consulting
services, technical support and training services. Coal service
fee income was calculated on monthly basis, being the services
provided multiplied to a fixed fee. The normal credit term is up to

15 days upon services billed.

(i)

All performance obligations of the Group’s revenue are part of

contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to

these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

8. REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. WAREMIKE W= (E)

Government grants mainly represent Covid-19-related subsidies
which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Hong Kong government and subsidies granted by PRC local
government authority as a support. There is no unfulfiled condition or
contingencies relating to such government subsidies recognised.

(CONTINUED)
ii) Other operating income Hap e s
2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Bank interest income RITH BWA 426 281
Exchange gain, net b H W F 5R = 824
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W = 3,594
Compensation income EEEUWA 2,283 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBA Rz
(Note 39) (K12£39) - 624
Government grants (Note) BT w8 (B 71) 2,621 1,415
Sundry income MM 1,367 934
Recovery of other receivables Uit [5] H b i W 30 IR = 272
6,697 7,944
Note: Mt -

BB B EFBRTIRERME
FTEIMERERCOVID- 1918 M B R BlE
BT HREIAE T 2 FBE - LAESCH o #1
EEZEFOHAZBUTMIAER RE
BGIFEEAR R IR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERAK
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Effective interest expense on AR ERERECER
convertible loan notes (Note 26) MER (Hit26) - 40,229
Interest on other borrowings and HEMEERERMRERZ
advances drawn on discounted bills BR2FE 186,153 527,533
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGZFE 1,203 1,454
Interest on other payables EMpERRIEZFE 17,680 176,290
Interest on amounts due to FETIE R R i e BUIB 2 BB
non-controlling interests 194,393 218,778
Total interest expense on financial liabilities I JEIZ A FEFF AIBR 2
not at fair value through profit or loss SRAaE s ERATR%E 399,429 964,284
Less: amounts capitalised in construction & : REZETRRBEFTERZ
in progress (Note) SR (HE) (15,330) (70,296)
Imputed interest for provision for K18~ BIERIRIBA A E 2
restoration, rehabilitation and HERE(H7128)
environmental costs (Note 28) 3,830 2,535
387,929 896,523
Note: Kt -
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2023 REBEZE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFEHX
arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a EREEBEERAE —MEEELE  WKEA
capitalisation rate of 0.79% (2022: 3.45%) per annum to expenditure on REEREERMZNERNEERNFO0.79% (=
qualifying assets. TZZF  3.45%)5TH ©
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A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BB AT (B518) S5 F
2023 2022
—ZE-= -
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FiET
(Loss)/profit before taxation has been BRELRT(EBB),wH BN

arrived at after charging:

Auditor’s remuneration: ZEEE &

— audit services - ZERE 1,888 1,899

- non-audit services - R ERT 410 550
Amortisation of mining rights (included in  ERAERESE S (GT A Y & BAR)

cost of sales) 362,088 333,781
Amortisation of intangible assets (included 2 & B # (Gt A S & Ak AN)

in cost of sales) 1,951 2,038
Cost of inventories sold i EFERA 1,069,848 1,200,054

Impairment losses recognised on expected BRI EEEIE T E#ER

credit loss model, net of reversal: RERE - HIREE

— trade receivables -8B S EINEIE 7,603 5,866

— deposits and other receivables - TF R E b FE YR IE = -

7,603 5,866

Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREREOITE

equipment 147,854 192,666
Other tax expenses HafIEMAS 89,785 144,987
Written off of prepayment HEH TR OB = 6,573
Penalty and fine LIPS EIEN 4,709 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BER&E

and equipment E518 = 17,009
Written off of property, plant and M - BE K&

equipment 4,323 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

M. FFEHEER) BxX

2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
Current tax expense: BUEAfRIER X -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) PR EMEE
(TZEFEHD 15,494 108,355
Deferred tax (credit)/expense (Note 29) RIERIE (185%) /T (Ff i1 29) (652,270) 119,665
Income tax (credit)/expense FTBRGER) Hx (636,776) 228,020

)

(v)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
Independent State of Samoa (“Samoa”) and the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax
in Bermuda, Samoa and the BVI.

No provisions for Hong Kong Profits Tax have been made for
subsidiaries established in Hong Kong as these subsidiaries
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for both years.

Profit of the subsidiaries established in PRC are subject to
PRC EIT.

Under the Law of PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of EIT Law, the tax rate of PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Cambodia corporate income tax have been
made for subsidiaries established in Cambodia as these
subsidiaries did not have any assessable profits subject to
Cambodia corporate income tax for both years.
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11.Fi8#H (&%) B (&)
The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to FHNABHRASEESERER ZBRTA
the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit A E AR T -

or loss as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRE R (E1B), 5 A (3,976,091) 575,714
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, 1%/ B 717 % i@ A fi &
calculated at rates applicable in ST BB (EE), BRI
the jurisdictions concerned HEIE (977,068) 193,358
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BARBBMAZHBELE = (83,242)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ NAIHIFE IS 2 T2 &
tax purpose 332,585 137,059
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBE B NG E 8,440 59,021
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL A RER G EE
recognised (733) (78,176)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year ~ FRAEBREKR),FxZ (636,776) 228,020
DIVIDEND 12. R &
No dividend was paid or proposed for both years ended HE_Z_=ZFR-_FT-__F+-_/A=
31 December 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been +— B 1L W B F E I & R sk 5K X
proposed since the end of the reporting period. B B¥EHRARINE 2R A
fg B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —ZF —

13.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company are based on the following data:

=E+-fA=+—BILEE
13. 5 REE

THIRIE TP BUBRRT &

AREERABEERERNREGER

2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Loss [
Loss for the year attributable to owners M EBRERREERIE 2K
of the Company for the purposes NAEB ABLEEEER
of basic and diluted loss per share (1,803,269) (229,533)
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —ZF=-=
’000 000
TR T
Number of shares B8 E
Weighted average number of ordinary M EEREARBEEHE L
shares for the purposes of basic and AR INFE T B
diluted loss per share 526,260 526,260

HRITEBRELSEREABRELR
BErE WHERMBFE2SREE
EREYBREZETRE

The calculation of diluted loss per share for both years does not
assume exercise of share options, since these exercise would
result in an anti-dilutive effect on basic loss per share.
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A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

14.STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND 1B.EIRKN(FTEREESER

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS) THARME)

2023 2022

—E-=HE —E-=

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B, REWEF 76,799 138,166

Retirement benefit schemes contributions iR K& &5+ 214 =X 7,864 10,217

84,663 148,383

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate the MPF Scheme
which are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the subsidiaries in
independently administered funds. Monthly contributions made by
the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain percentages of
the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the

relevant requirements, as appropriate.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in PRC,
the subsidiaries of the Group in PRC participate in respective
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”) whereby
the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the Scheme to
fund the retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Monthly
contributions made to the Scheme are calculated based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated
under the requirements in PRC. The relevant authorities of PRC
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the
retired employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions under

the Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Scheme operated by the
relevant authorities of PRC and the MPF Scheme operated in

Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
forfeited contributions included in retirement benefits schemes

contributions (2022: Nil).

FEMBRRRARESE - HAT
REBZM - AEEERMNBRRZE
ENF BBIUEEBEESHEG-MEBL
A ARERFMEX 2ETAD LH
IR ERE A E /] B 2 Bl E KB R (1]
BRME)

RETFEERER A - AEEFH
B B~ B 7R 2 AN AR R U AR ¢ 48 A 5t 8
(BRI - Bt - ZZFWMBLRFE
FAREIHZK > REEREER ZRIK
BANRHES - BRAEZE A HIIR
FEREMERFHASI2ETED
HEtE - FEARERAEMRKESR
Xt eEERE -  AEEHERE
E-—EERKEXNAREREZH

ES
Koo

BARBANFERFEARERHTEA
MEREMIARAFAEINNEBENRZ
SRR RTEIN 2 HBEE -

BE T -_=%+-_A=+—8I#&
&+ R ORAE B FT B 300 4 B 18 U i
R F  J|) -

GREEN LEADER HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED #z <8R &EEHBRAF 155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 85 - THESMERE R
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEeSHMAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERITHARMS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for both years AP E 2 5 3B R 1T AR EET B H
were as follow: BT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z-_=f+=-B=+—HL
FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
¥e 2R BIRER
e ENER HER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr i i i
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (‘Mr. Zhang’)  R=ZEHE(REL]) = 240 12 252
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (‘Mr. Tse’) % £ (%)) = 1,560 = 1,560
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin WREEE 168 = = 168
Mr. Shen Weidong TERLE 168 = = 168
Mr. Tian Hong BEEE 168 = = 168
504 1,800 12 2,316
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for both years

were as follow: (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.5  THABMERES
&= #H M A £ (8)

(a) EERTHARNE (F)

A 9 18 4F 2 5 58 Je 17 R A48 50 BN
BT (8

HE_Z_—_F#+-_A=+—H1t

FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contrioutions Total
e 2R RAREN
ik ENEN SHEIf @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TiER TR TR T
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo (‘Mr. Zhang’)  R=ELAE(REE]) = 240 12 252
Mr. Tse Michael Nam (‘Mr. Tse’) & 50E (TI%EE)) = 1,560 18 1578
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin EjEA=pita 168 = = 168
Mr. Shen Weidong WEREE 168 = = 168
Mr. Tian Hong AL 168 - - 168
504 1,800 30 2,334
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Mr. Tse is also the chief executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Except for Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other material transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as the directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, 1 (2022: 1) was director (including the chief executive)
whose emoluments was set out above. The emoluments of
the remaining 4 (2022: 4) highest paid individuals were as

15. 2% - THAZMERER
BeEHMAL(E)

(b) EERSHMAL

AEEBREREFMALEBEIS
(ZE_—F 1R)EF(BHRTHK
mE) - BEZMEFN L - Bk

4R (CEZZF AR)ESFEMA

follows: TZMEmT
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & ~ 2B N EWEF| 2,165 2,667
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K& 5t 214 7 174 60
2,339 2,727
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZMEN T TFIEE -
2023 2022
—E-=F —Eo %
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE A BB AEK
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 4 4

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to any
directors, chief executive or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of the office both years. None of the
directors, chief executive or five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both years.

RZMEFE - A& B & @ EA
B THAZIOLEZEFHHIA
ITXNEE - ARSI ENAREKE
HIEDMANEE 2 LR BER AR
E&-RNEMEFE MEEE - =
ETRAHIOARRSHFALHEE
Sk [R B EE M o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BMERZHE
Furniture,
Construction fixtures
Mining i progress Right-of-use Leasehold  and office Motor  Plants and
structure (‘CIP")  Buildings assets improvements  equipment vehicles  machineries Total
ERIR ] AENE EREER BER
RBREN (RRIR) BF EREEE %6 BAZRE e B &5t
HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$j 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Thn Tér Tin Tién Tér T Fién Tin Thr
Asat 1 January 2022: RZFZZ§-f-0:
Cost A 1,868,379 1,100,563 205,469 98,500 151 24537 991 336,512 3,700,102
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RFT & RsiE (024,182) (70,655) (144,611) (33,000) (151) (23,124) (15,561) (248913 (1,460,287)
Carying amounts as at 1 January 2022 R-Z--%-f-Az
BEfE 944,197 1,029,908 110,858 65,410 - 1,413 1,430 86,599 2,239,815
Asat 1 January 2022, net of accumuiated ~ A=F=—%-A-H-
depreciation and impairment TR EFTEREE 944,197 1,029,908 110,858 65,410 - 1,413 1430 86,599 2,239,815
Additions 77‘? 81,868 187,537 1,303 - - 1,669 - 4974 277,351
Disposals i (1,843) (14,392) (118 - - (49) (14) - (17,016)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) HERBAR W59 - - - - - (t4) - - (14)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BRDHESRRE 131,340 116,648 4,110 6,379 - 1,281 185 62,120 322,083
Depreciation for the year ERfE (150,440) - (10,337) (2,762) - (798) (1) (28,278) (192,666)
Transfer from O EROLEIR 1757 (7,757) - - - - - - -
Exchange realignment ERAE (93819 (123493) (8,086) (1,389) - (652) 62 (4.941) (232,321)
Asat 31 December 2022, net of g 3
acoumulated depreciation and TZA=+-8 1k
impairment L MERRE 919,060 1,188,451 97,150 67,639 - 2,950 1,488 120474 2,397,212
As at 31 December 2022 and as at
1 January 2023:
Cost 1,770,030 1,188,451 239,549 96,544 101 17,482 13,933 319,142 3,645,232
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (850,970) - (142,399) (28,905) (101) (14,532) (12,445) (198,668 (1,248,020)
Carying amounts
as at 31 December 2022 and as at =
1 January 2023 R-B-=%
—R-AZEAEE 919,060 1,188,451 97,150 67,639 - 2,950 1,488 120474 2,397,212
Asat 1 January 2023, net of accumulated N =F-=F—-f-F"
depreciation and impairment MBZHAERAE 919,060 1,188,451 97,150 67,639 = 2,050 1,488 120474 2397212
Addtions ME 8,523 86,981 - 16,281 - Mm 25 14,495 126,576
Disposals and written off it Ritisa o (2,476) (1,847) o = = - - 4,323)
Impairment loss recognised EBRDAESE (252629) (602,382 (8841) (504) = (1,491) (184) (44718 (910,749)
Depreciation for the year FRfE (67,384) = (9,216) (6,504) = (943) (211) (635%)  (147,854)
Transfer from CIP BEAARIR o (65,198) S o = 2 = 65,196 =
Exchange reaignment B A% (17,999) (40) (1,368) (437) = (163) (16) (1,679) (22,202)
As at 31 December 2023, net of RoBZ=E42A=+
accumulated depreciation and -8 NREHFER
impairment HE 589,571 605,336 75,378 76,475 - 626 1,102 90,172 1,438,660
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZR
=t-A
Cost WX 1,736,872 1,149,407 232,300 104,086 101 15,648 13,404 393,183 3,645,001
Accumulated depreciation and ZEERAE
impiment (147301 (B440TY) (156922 (276M1) {01) (15022 (12302  (303011)  (2.206341)
Carrying amounts RZZ==H+ZA
as at 31 December 2023 Zt-B2EEE 589,571 605,336 75,378 16,475 = 626 1,102 90,172 1,438,660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the
valuation reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained
by the Group, the Group recognised impairment loss of
approximately HK$910,749,000 in respect of property, plant and
equipment (2022: reversal of impairments loss of approximately
HK$322,063,000).

Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The recoverable amounts of certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$161,729,000 (2022: nil) have been determined based on their
fair value less costs of disposal. The Group uses depreciated
replacement cost method to estimate the fair value less costs of
disposal of the assets which is based on the recent transaction
prices for similar property, plant and equipment adjusted for
nature, location and conditions of the property. The fair value
measurement is categorised into level 3 fair value hierarchy.
The directors referenced to the valuations performed by Greater
China Appraisal Limited and concluded that no impairment was
recognised as a result of recoverable amounts of these assets
were higher than carrying amounts.

Right-of-use-assets
The analysis of expense items in relation to lease recognised in
profit of loss is as follows:

16. 1% - BERRE (R

REBEEZZE-_=F+=A=+—HIEF
B BEAEERSZEHEERBEER
ZHERE  AEEEREEDE -
BB K& 2 BB E1847910,749,000
ERT(CE - —F  REBEREDY
322,063,000/ 7T) °

BT 1 2 BB R RS B 5 MR 3230
B -

REBBETYME BERZENHTRE
BRE £ E4161,729,0008 T (ZE - =
F - E\)DBBEEATEREERAE
E o AEBFEREEXRAINE L GHTE
ENAFERDERE - ZAEERE
Lz - BERZBEHLBAZISHER
WHRWENME - LB RAMKRIEL A
B NFEAEVDEALNTFEEBRFE=
BoEBEEDEZETEBRERRAETH
HE REHRZZFEEANKESES
RERTE £ ZEm I EERRE -

FEREEE
RIEFERNEHEEENAYIEE D
g/

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FHEIT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use LEMEEENEI DA%
assets by class of underlying asset: BEEMTEER -
— Properties and lands leased for -HEEBRZYERTH
own use 6,504 2,762
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9) HEBEZHEHZI) 1,203 1,454
Expenses relating to short-term leases and ~ EEHIERIKEBEEEERZ
low value assets Fix 26,112 60
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFREEE 16,281 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - = K& (E)

(CONTINUED)
Right-of-use-assets (continued)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 22(c) and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group leases various staff quarter, office premises and
lands for its operations. Lease agreements are typically made for
initial periods of 2 to 30 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
and the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

In addition, the Group owns several building where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated
reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and
warehouses. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases and low value
assets for office premises, warehouses and printing machine
which are regularly entered into by the Group, the Group entered
into several short-term leases for office premises, warehouses and
printing machine during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at
31 December 2023, HK$11,000 outstanding lease commitments
related to short-term leases (2022: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17.MINING RIGHTS 17. FRIERE
HK$'000
FHET
COST [2%:N
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F—AF—H 11,886,097
Exchange realignment P 5 AR (962,374)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEBE-_—_F+-A=+—HK
as at 1 January 2023 —ZT-=%—A—H 10,923,723
Reclassified to non-current asset classified as EMOBARLEIERDEE
held for sale (1,065,947)
Exchange realignment b % (236,054)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H 9,621,722
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Rt #E R E
IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 January 2022 RZZEZZ_F—H—H 6,077,682
Amortisation for the year FAEEH 333,781
Reversal of impairment loss recognised FRER R EBERE
during the year (812,445)
Exchange realignment & 5 A (460,892)
As at 31 December 2022 and R-BE-_—_F+-_A=+—HK
as at 1 January 2023 —E-=F—H—H 5,138,126
Amortisation for the year FNEEH 362,088
Impairment loss recognised during the year FNERZBIEBRE 1,953,199
Reclassified to non-current asset classified as ENMOBARLEIERDEE
held for sale (751,012)
Exchange realignment b (99,844)
As at 31 December 2023 ATE =+ _HA=+—H 6,602,557
CARRYING AMOUNTS FREE
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-_=F+=-HA=+—H 3,019,165
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+A=+—H 5,785,597
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

_Tﬁﬁ%ﬁf}%z%ﬂ%ﬁ—f i
NE+—ANBEZZE-_RF— )EH—_

17.MINING RIGHTS (CONTINUED)
The three mining licenses in relation to the coal mines will be
expired from 9 November 2024 to 12 January 2025 and subject

to renewal. In the view of the directors, the Group will be able to
renew the mining licenses in relation to the coal mines with the
relevant government authority continuously at insignificant cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the valuation
reports in relation to the mining operation as obtained by the

FEAREIE - AT AEH - EERA
A EE B 5 B AR AR AR AR ii*ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ
HERR /578 B BB 2 SRR T A AR 1

REBE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIF
B REASERESEZEERBEESZ

HEFRE  AEERARBEERERE
#91,953,199,000/8 TL(—Z T = —4F : &
BB E41812,445,000/8 7T) ©

Group, the Group recognised impairment losses in respect of
mining rights of approximately HK$1,953,199,000 (2022: reversal
of impairment loss of approximately HK$812,445,000).

Particulars regarding impairment assessment are disclosed in WA 2 BN E B wERMES0
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. Bz -
18. GOODWILL 18. &
HK$'000
FHET
COST A
As at 1 January 2022, as at 31 December 2022, HR-_ZE-_—F—HA—H —ZT_-_—
as at 1 January 2023 and as at 31 December +-A=+—H -ZE_=F—HA—B8K
2023 —E=F+-A=+—H 3,676,679
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT RRE
As at 1 January 2022, as at 31 December 2022, R-_TE-_—_F—H—H ZZT=-—
as at 1 January 2023 and as at 31 December —1— A=+—H -ZE=Z=F—F—AK
2023 —E=F+-_HA=+—H 3,676,679
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
As at 31 December 2023 R=-B-=f+=HF=+—H -
As at 31 December 2022 RZBEZZF+=ZA=+—H =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
18. B & ()

AKRBReELBUMEEZBMESR
EUNTOWMZREELEN

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
Goodwill arising from acquisition of CGUs were allocated to CGUs
in the following segments:

HK$’000

FHET

Mining operation R E 3,661,555

Systems integration services and REEN RIS REUFRRR T R

software solutions 15,124
As at 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+=ZA=+—8BK

as at 31 December 2022 —E-_—F+=-H=+—8H 3,676,679

19.INVENTORIES 190. 7€
2023 2022
—E-=H —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FET

Consumables SHAEM 3,715 3,522

Raw material R4k = 1,177

Finished goods LIRK om 31,735 118,574

35,450 123,273

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

BE R H M EYRIE

20. 2 B EWRIE - BAFIA

2023 2022
—E-= —_EF_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables from contracts with REREFPEHZEZEWFIA
customers 368,790 266,290
Less: Allowance for credit losses (Note (b)) & : 1= & BB & (H1:F b)) (13,148) (5,841)
Trade receivables net of allowance for B S EBGIAGIREEEIE
credit losses (Note (a)) B8 (0t i (a) 355,642 260,449
Prepayment, deposits and other FTERFIA -~ e REMERGRIA
receivables (Notes (c), (d) and (e)) (Mitc) ~ (d) &(e) 161,881 154,125\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT, 20. B3 EWARTE - EARIE

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Prepayment, deposits, bills receivables and other receivables
mainly comprised of other tax receivables of approximately
HK$3,940,000 (2022: approximately HK$26,001,000), prepaid
purchase of inventories of approximately HK$64,551,000
(2022: approximately HK$55,470,000), prepaid construction
cost of approximately HK$23,336,000 (2022: approximately
HK$13,870,000) and compensation cost receivables from
PRC government of HK$24,124,000 (2022: approximately
HK$22,734,000).

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to
approximately HK$77,147,000.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods up to
60 days which are subject to periodic review by management.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed
periodically.

Notes:
(@) The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables, net of

allowance for credit losses, based on earlier of the invoice dates or
revenue recognition date:

BE R H YRR ()

EANHE RehkHEMOERREEXE
R E b fE U FR T 493,940,0008 7T (=
T~ — 4 : 4926,001,000% T) « FEN
FERHN64,551,0008 (T ==
& 1 4955,470,000%7T) « AR EEK

K#923,336,0008 T (ZE=-—F : 4
13,870,000 7T) M F& W /b B B S s 1E
B H24,124,0008 T (ZE-—9F : 4

22,734,000/ 7T) 48X °

RZZE-_—HF—H—B REARFPAEY
ZESRWHEGIREEEBEREER)
#77,147,00078 7T °

AEBYERZFEHRTHTMER

[}
Ao °

AEE-RETEPRZ60RZER
By - 3 R E T IR e

REMRETAHELH - AREESFHE
EREPZEEERYREFPAEERE
B - BRTEPWREE MO TIERET

5t o
Hite -
@ UNTARIKREEEEREERKRBEREAH

W AR AR UAREE RE)FTE
ZE B RWGRIRRE DT :

2023 2022

—E-=HF - —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Within 30 days 30 KA 147,726 176,929
31 days to 60 days 31 REB0K 205,714 82,932
61 days to 90 days 61 REIOKR - 588
91 days to 180 days 91 RE180K - -
Over 180 days Z 180K 2,202 =
355,642 260,449
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

20. 2 B EWKE - RARIR
BE & H o WK TE (&)

Hiet - ()

(o) The movements in ECL of trade receivables that has been recognised o) RBEEELFZERZESIERUBGKRIBZE

under the simplified approach were as follows:

HEEBREFHNT

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-

impaired) impaired) Total

BEFED BEFEDY
HHEE EHEER
518 (3 4% 53]
FERME) (FERE

#Et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THET TAET THT

As at 1 January 2022 R-_TE-_—_%—HF—H = 130 130
Impairment losses recognised EHERREEE 5,866 - 5,866
Exchange alignment i 5 AR (171) 16 (159)
As at 31 December 2022 and KRB —F+=-A=+—H
as at 1 January 2023 MR -_=F—HF—H 5,695 146 5,841

Impairment losses recognised BHERREEIE 1,755 5,848 7,603
Written off 58 - (146) (146)
Exchange alignment PE I % 406 (556) (150)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-A=+—H 7,856 5,292 13,148

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance as at 31
December 2023 are aggregate carrying amounts of approximately
HK$2,202,000 (2022: approximately HK$83,520,000) which are past
due at the end of the reporting period and amounts of approximately
HK$2,202,000 (2022: approximately HK$588,000) has been past
due 90 days or more at the end of the reporting period and are
not considered as credit-impaired due to good track record of the
debtors with the Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables with the amounts of
approximately HK$5,292,000 (2022: approximately HK$146,000) was
determined as credit-impaired.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R-_FE-_=F+-_A=+—H " =K
EEESERABELEHBEERET A
B#12,202,0008 T (ZFE=-=-F : {4
83,520,000/ 7L) r ZE & BRME
HADEH  MRJBEHKR - BEY
2,202,000 7C(—Z — — 4 : £9588,000
BIT)NFIED BHIRA A L - mRE
BARNEBEZLRIFEE AR B
EERE ASETERZSESKFTE
(SRR

RIE-_=ZF+_A=+—H BHE
W IE 45,292,000 TL(— T -~ —4F ¢
#3146,000/8 D) EE AEERE -

REFHEF BRI AR A M RAR T
37 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENT, 20. B3 EWARTE - EARIE
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES BE K H e FRIE (48)
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) B - (&)
(c) The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of deposits (© TRIIR—MFET TR E UG
and other receivables under general approach: TEEERE 2 HR
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
BETFEER
TEREEERE
(BEREEEB)
HK$’000
F&T
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-=F—H—H 36,285
Exchange realignment bE N A% (2,938)

As at 31 December 2022 and as at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—HF+-fF=+—HK

—E-=%—AF—H 33,347
Written off HsH (33,347)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-A=+—8H =
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 37 to the WETHFBHANGEV R
consolidated financial statements. Se
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED

COMPANIES/A DIRECTOR
The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

The amount due to Mr. Zhang is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, certain related companies of the Group
had confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the
amounts due by the Group of approximately HK$143,900,000
(2022: approximately HK$146,698,000) before 1 July 2025 (2022:
1 July 2024). The respective amounts to related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and are classified as non-current liabilities
for both years.

Details of impairment assessment is set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

21. B (B BELR, —RE

EME
BRBEA MR ARER T B8R
FREREE -

N RELERAELEBER - A ENRA

BRI -

R-ZBE-_=F+-A=+—H K£E
ETHEARER  BETeR_2=

AFE+A—B(ZEZ-Z=: T -MF
tA—H)AERKEEREEMERK
TH#7143,900,0008 L (ZF = —F : &

146,698,000/87T) ° i S RE N 7
MERZMEFE AEERER - 5B
WHEARIIERBAE -

W E ET R IE BN AR A B R
37 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

22. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND CASHAND 22. Z[R4ISBEITEBRURRAERES
CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank (@) RERBLEEYURZRHIR

balances
Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances with amounted
to approximately HK$16,669,000 (2022: approximately
HK$2,594,000) that are restricted by bank as a result of
pending to complete administration work by the Group, such
balances were restricted to receive payments only.

The Group’s restricted bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB which of HK$16,669,000
(2022: HK$2,594,000) and HK$100,538,000 (2022:
approximately HK$161,395,000) are located in PRC are
subject to PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant, no allowance for ECL is provided for
both years.

Details of impairment assessment is set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

22. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 22. ZR&ISRITHBURAERTA S

CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) ZEY (&)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) METHELE2EEHE
activities
Bank
Amounts Amounts advances on
dueto  duetonon- Amount  discounted
related  controlling Other Lease  Convertible due to bills Dividend
companies interests  borrowings liabilities loan notes adirector  receivables payables Total
Bt
EHEE FER TaR Eff-2 BYMRER
ARFE BENE A& &SR et EsiE 28083 EffkE &3t

HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TR TiEn T TR TR T T TR FiEn

Asat 1 January 2022 R-E--E-f-H 144,755 5,976,141 313,621 21,506 35417 14,821 6,126 - 6,837,741
Changes from financing cash flows BARSRERY 11,150 (7,867) S (15,411) S = (5,710) (96,789) (114,627)
Exchange realignment EiAE (5,670) (486,100) S (1,756) S = (416) S (493,942)
Interest expense recognised BERFSHT = 218,778 = 1,454 40,229 = S S 260,461
Transfer to other borrowings BREEMER = = 395,000 S (395,000) S S S S
Consideration of disposal of HERBAAZRE

asubsidary - - 00 - - - - - )
Dividend declared tonon-contraling ~~~ FEERERE RARE

interests - - - - - - - 96,789 96,789
Deregistration of subsidiaries HHENBAR (3597) = = = = S = = (3537)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZE--f%

asat 1 January 2023 TZA=+-Rk

“B-=F-f-R 146,698 5,700,952 707,921 11,793 - 14,821 - - 6,582,185

Changes from financing cash flows BARSREZEY (1,574) ° = (10,549) 3 o - (36,215) (48,398)
Exchange realignment EiRE (1,224) (125,936) = (879) o = = = (127,539)
Contribution from non-controling FERERTA

interests o (148,338) o o o o o o (148,338)
Dividend declared tonon-contioling ~~ FSFEREREREEE

interests - - - - - - - 51,561 51,561
Interest expense recognised BERFSAT - 194,303 - 1,203 - - - - 195,596
New leases entered BE k) = = = 16,281 = = = - 16,281
As at 31 December 2023 i

tZA=t-8 143,900 5,621,071 707,921 18,349 - 14,821 - 15,286 6,521,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

22, RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 22. Z[REIBITHEMURREREASE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

:Eﬁ% (ME.)
(c) HERESRHHAZE

2023 2022

—E-= —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHExT FHT
Within operating cash flows KEREREN 26,112 60
Within financing cash flows RERSREA 10,549 15,411
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRE R ERE 36,661 15,471

23.NON-CURRENT ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

On 15 July 2023, the Group entered into transfer agreement with
Ly A B o 3 g SR Bt 42 F BT B 22 B IR 2 5] (Shanxi Coal Sales
Group Century Tuoxin Coal Industry Co., Ltd.*) (“Tuoxin”) to
transfer mining rights belonged to ILFAE B HEEE TR ELE S
#Z BR A 7](Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group
Guijiao Century Jinxin Company Limited*) (“Jinxin”) to Tuoxin with
the amounts of approximately RMB151,410,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$166,748,000). Such amounts will be settled by
referenced to future production from mining rights of Jinxin from
Tuoxin. As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the conditions are not fulfilled and the
disposal of mining rights is not yet completed.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$20,870,000 were recognised by reference to valuation
performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited by using Modified
Capital Asset Pricing method and the write-down of non-current
asset classified as held for sale of approximately HK$293,995,000.

*  For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. B R EMENRIE

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B SR FRIE 24,138 21,672
Other payables (current portion): H b eI IE (BN AR ) -
- Contract liabilities —aHBeE 16,143 24,243
- Accrued staff costs —EEFB IR 6,996 31,918
— Other tax payables —H I8 8,080 32,800
— Considerations for acquisition of —WEMB AR ZKRE
subsidiaries 211,333 216,072
- Payables for construction works and —BETE R AKS
purchase of machineries FERTRIB 100,564 102,481
— Accrued expenses and other payables ~— — 518 A K& H b B ZUE 224,577 225,250
- Dividend payables —ERRE 15,286 =
- Accrued interest payables — BT EETF 2 917,874 720,335
1,500,853 1,353,099
Other payables (non-current portion): H e /I8 GERNEREL ) -
— Payables for construction works and —BERTENEEMRE Y
purchase of machineries FETFRIE 167,794 36,027
— Accrued expenses and other payables — — &5 5 2 K H Ath fE 1~ FUAE 118,600 148,077
286,394 184,104

Accrued expenses and other payables mainly comprised of
purchase of material, legal and professional fee, subcontracting
charge and accrued rental expenses.

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$15,084,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received from
customers for sales of coal products to the respective sales
contracts before the control of the products are passed to the
customers.

A REMENRATERREER
W ERMREEER  DBERNE
AHEERX -

R-_ZE-_—_F—F—HB A0 EBY
15,084,000/ 7T °

BHNABEREREFRERERP
Al RIBRHEEAOMALHEERKER
A& P B TR 308 e
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023, certain creditors of the Group had
confirmed that they shall not demand settlement of the amounts
due by the Group of approximately HK$286,394,000 (2022:
approximately HK$184,104,000) before 1 July 2025 (2022: 1 July
2024), and the respective amounts are classified as non-current
liabilities.

The following is an aging analysis of the trade payables based on
the invoice dates:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. B 5 K H B 5OR ()

W_ZEBE-=F+-"FA=+—0 " &x&£H
ETERADER HETERZEZ
AE+A—H(CE-F : —E-UE
tA—RA)AEREEREBLEXRNR
TH#9286,394,0008 L (ZE = —F : 49
184,104,000 7L) + MABHRIEWHHIE
BIERBAE -

MTRERBEZAMAEZEHEMNK
TERRER D AT -

2023 2022

—EB=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30K~ - 19,876
31 days to 60 days 31E260X - -
61 days to 90 days 61290K - -
91 days to 180 days 91E180K - -
181 days to 365 days 181E365K 215 -
Over 365 days FBiB365K 23,923 1,796
24,138 21,672

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the amounts due to non-controlling
interests classified as current liabilities amounting to approximately
HK$5,621,071,000 (2022: approximately HK$5,700,952,000) of
which approximately HK$3,868,176,000 (2022: approximately
HK$3,954,932,000) are unsecured, interest bearing at rates
ranging from 3.10% to 6.19% (2022: 4.68% to 7.50%) per annum
and matured and overdue for repayment as at 31 December
2023 and 2022, while the remaining portion of approximately
HK$1,752,895,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,746,020,000) are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, non-controlling
interests waived interests with the amounts of approximately
HK$148,338,000 (2022: nil) accrued by the Group and recognised
as contribution from non-controlling interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes
to China OEPC Limited (“China OEPC”), a company indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang, which will be matured on the second
anniversary of the issue date with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$380,000,000 (“2018 Convertible Loan Notes A”) and with
coupon rate of 1.5% per annum, settled quarterly in arrears or
such other date as noteholder and the Company may agree in
writing. The 2018 Convertible Loan Notes A can be convertible
into up to an aggregate of 1,151,515,151 ordinary shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.33 per share. The notes were entitled
the holder to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company
on the second anniversary of the issue date. The Company may at
any time before the maturity date by written notices to the holder,
and with consent of the holder, redeem the 2018 Convertible
Loan Note A (in whole or in part) at 100% of the principal amount
of the part of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes A to be redeemed
together with accrued and unpaid interest. The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 13.12% per annum.

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with China OEPC to issue the convertible
notes (the “2020 Convertible Loan Notes A”) with principal amount
of HK$380,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes A.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A is unsecured, interest-free
and will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date.
The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A entitle the holder to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment, if necessary).
If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October 2022 at par. The
2020 Convertible Loan Notes A was issued on 21 October 2020.

26. TRRERRE

AE—E-\FTEREREE
AE_ZE_ZFRRERERE
R-ZE—NFLtA=+H  AQFMA
FERER(BE)IERABRAF (B
Bl —RARLTEMEZ2EEENA
A)) 31T & 48 %8380,000,0008 7T « E
HEXREFF1.5%KEHHE AETAEE
FoRF2BRRERER(AE-_Z—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. R ERZE (8

2018 Convertible Loan Notes A/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A (continued)

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes A was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

On 20 October 2022, 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A was
matured and remained unsettled at the end of the reporting
period and classified as “other borrowings”. The Group is in the
negotiation with the holder of 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A
to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s financial
obligations.

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B

On 30 July 2018, the Company issued convertible loan notes
to Ms. Hao Ting (“Ms. Hao”), the spouse of Mr. Zhang, which
will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 (the
“2018 Convertible Loan Notes B”) and with coupon rate at 1.5%
per annum, settled quarterly in arrears or such other date as
noteholder and the Company may agree in writing. The 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B can be convertible into up to an
aggregate of 45,454,545 ordinary shares at a conversion price
of HK$0.33 per share. The notes were entitled the holder to
convert them into ordinary shares of the Company on the second
anniversary of the issue date. The Company may at any time
before the maturity date by written notices to the holder, and with
consent of the holder, redeem the 2018 Convertible Loan Note
B (in whole or in part) at 100% of the principal amount of the part
of the 2018 Convertible Loan Notes B to be redeemed together
with accrued and unpaid interest. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 13.12% per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

2018 Convertible Loan Notes B/2020 Convertible Loan
Notes B (continued)

On 22 July 2020, the Company entered into a conditional
subscription agreement with Ms. Hao to issue the convertible
notes (“2020 Convertible Loan Notes B”) with principal amount
of HK$15,000,000 to settle the outstanding principal of the 2018
Convertible Loan Notes B.

The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B is unsecured, interest-free
and will be matured on the second anniversary of the issue date.
The 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B entitle the holder to convert
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between
the date of issue of the notes and the maturity date at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.22 (subject to adjustment, if necessary).
If 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B have not been converted or
redeemed, they will be redeemed on 20 October 2022 at par. The
2020 Convertible Loan Notes B was issued on 21 October 2020.

At initial recognition, the equity component of 2020 Convertible
Loan Notes B was separated from the liability component. The
equity element is presented in equity heading “convertible loan
notes equity reserve”. The early redemption option is considered
as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest rate of
the liability component is 14.4%.

On 20 October 2022, 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B was
matured and remained unsettled at the end of the reporting
period and classified as “other borrowings”. The Group is in the
negotiation with the holder of 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B
to restructure the repayment timetable of the Group’s financial
obligations.
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EETFEBE T _TFABBRERE
A ANETER  WEAAEEMS
EAZEREEER -
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26. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED) 26. R ERERE (&)
The movements of the liabilities components of the convertible HREFREEEEIAS> 228
loan notes are set out below: IR
2020 2020
Convertible  Convertible
Loan Notes A Loan Notes B Total
AE BE
“2-BF  ZEBCERE
B3 R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAL FAET
Liabilities component aEHS
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_Z%—F—H 341,299 13,472 364,771
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) ERM SR (#/229) 38,701 1,528 40,229
Transfer to other borrowings BRTHMER (380,000) (15,000) (395,000)
As at 31 December 2022, as at 1 January 2023 R-B--FE+-f=+-H"
and as at 31 December 2023 “R-=¥-A-BRK
“BC=f+tZA=+-H = = =
27.SHARE CAPITAL 27. &7
Number of shares Amounts
R#E k|
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=E —E_CF - - —E_-%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 ERRER0.0018 T
each
Authorised: iy
Asat 1 January and R-A—-AR+=A=+-AH
as at 31 December 2,000,000,000,000  2,000,000,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BREITRER
Asat 1 January and “-A—AR+=A=+-A
as at 31 December 526,260,404 526,260,404 526 526
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28.PROVISION FOR RESTORATION,
REHABILITATION AND

28. 18 - BERBREKASEE

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

HK$'000
FET
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE__f—HA—H 88,859
Imputed interest expense (Note 9) E NS FXZ (HE9) 2,535
Exchange realignment P 5 AR (7,268)

As at 31 December 2022 and as at RZBEZZF+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2023 —ZT-=%—A—H 84,126
Imputed interest expense (Note 9) HEN B (F29) 3,830
Exchange realignment VE % 2 (3,494)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+=-A=+—H 84,462

The restoration and rehabilitation works will be performed in the
years from 2023 to 2040. The provision is carried at amortised
cost at effective interest rate at 6.96% per annum.

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the movements of deferred tax liabilities during the

MEREERZTERR T _=F5_
THTFET - BEHDRERFNEX
6.96%xT 5 2 # $5 A 2N 51 B

20 EEHERR
AEERBAFEZEEHAR MBS

current and prior year: wmr

Mining rights
g
HK$'000
FHT
As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_F—F—H 1,183,237
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) BNk #F11) 119,665
Exchange realignment b 5 SR (99,575)

As at 31 December 2022 and as at 1 January 2023 RZEZZF+ZA=+—HK
—E-=%—H—H 1,203,327
Credited to profit or loss (Note 17) STABE (1) (652,270)
Exchange realignment bE 5 AR (20,324)
As at 31 December 2023 RZB-=f+-A=+—H 530,733
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29.

30.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$378,118,000 (2022:
approximately HK$430,330,000) that will be expired on or before
2028 (2022: 2027). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Under the New EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”). As
at December 2023, deferred taxation has not been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
difference of approximately HK$561,561,000 (2022: approximately
HK$567,978,000) attributable to the “Post-2008 Earnings” as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2023, for the purpose of impairment
assessments on mining rights and property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) in relation to mining operation, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s mining operations were
allocated into four CGUs namely |1 PE &L iR 5B $H 6 B T T SHRE /%
BBR AT (Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group
Guijiao Bolong Coal Industry Company Limited*) (“Bolong”), 1L/7
WRGB I EE S R FERIEZ AR QA (Shanxi Coal Transportation
and Marketing Group Gujiao Liaoyuan Coal Industry Company
Limited*) (“Liaoyuan”), ILFAH REHEE R BIERZEER A A
(Shanxi Coal Transportation and Marketing Group Guijiao Xinfeng
Coal Industry Company Limited®) (“Xinfeng”) and Fuchang (2022:
Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng, Fuchang and Jinxin), which
represented four subsidiaries (2022: five) in the mining operation
segment to determine their recoverable amounts.

*  For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the four (2022: five) CGUs in the
mining operations were determined from value-in-use calculation.
Their recoverable amounts are based on certain similar key
assumptions. The management of the Group prepared cash flow
forecast derived from the most recently available financial budgets
approved by management and cash flows beyond 5-year period
were extrapolated using 2% (2022: 2%) growth rate which does
not exceed the long-term growth rate, assuming the extension
of mining licenses is available and administrative in nature. In
preparing the forecast, management made reference to the
latest verified levels of mineral reserves presently verified and the
production cost projection and the future production capacity.

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those
regarding discount rates, anticipated changes to future selling
prices, future production costs, future recovery rates regarding
coal washing process, and anticipated production capacity, as
follows:

— Management used a pre-tax discount rate which was derived
from the Company’s cost of capital, representing the expected
return on the Company’s capital, and assigned the following
pre-tax discount rates to each mine approximately at:

Bolong $ARE
Fuchang BE
Liaoyuan EIR
Xinfeng =2
Jinxin &8

30. RIREURME - BMER

& R (E ()

RBEBReELEBENFINECET =
F A ZAKEEEREREENE
SREEE - Hnlkm e R EE THEMU
FTERBRRET ALEEEERKOB
KEBABMECYBEERREBE SR
2HEA BAAFHMAZRESREIE
2% (ZB - 0% )RR EBIE
RHER)HE 2R BREBEESTA
BRESHALESHBITREYE - EE AR
L2ERBEAT 2 T ENTEYHE
K - EERATER KR RERRRTE

Pl

BERBEEE AR 2 RBEURY

¥ BERRFERENR
ERBEEABEEMAZEIERRS L
BE KRREEENED  REEEK
A EEBEORKED KK IEE
B FBWT

- BEEABMABARERRART
BEARAKNBNARRERN 2 FAHE
) R TS ERER 2 EEMOBA

ARIR R
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E-=

% %

16.73 17.64

12.60 23.60

20.46 20.32

14.42 14.40

= 23.33
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30. IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,

plant and equipment in relation to mining operation

(continued)

— Future recovery rates regarding coal washing process from
raw coal to clean coal were estimated with reference to
historical data.

—  Future selling prices were estimated with reference to existing
and past quoted commodity prices in the mining industry.

— Future production costs were derived in accordance with
feasibility reports issued by JT Boyd with reference to the
mines’ preliminary design report and current industry cost
indicators.

— Future production capacity estimation was made in
accordance with the feasibility report issued by JT Boyd
dated 28 February 2017.

As extracted from valuation reports prepared by Greater China
Appraisal Limited for the recoverable amounts as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 (the “Valuation Reports”), the recoverable amounts
of the relevant mining operations CGUs are determined as follows:

Bolong fnEe
Liaoyuan BIR
Xinfeng £
Fuchang BE
Jinxin Gk

30. RIRELUR X - BMEK
= R (B ()

BERBEBERE 2 REREUARY
% BERRERENREE

- EREFBEN R BIZARKD
WK 2R S BURhET

- ARKEEZ2ERAEMBEBREH®
WEME -

- RREERADRBITERELZ
TR EL2ERRE 2 KRG
HBEMBATTRRAERAE

- RREREBEJIBEZLZBHA
—E—+F-A -+ NBZAITH
WEHET -

BIEETFEER A RREZGERS
(MEEREDMINR_EZ=FR_F
—ZF+_A=Z+—BZAKEE&EE
EHRBEESRSEABMNZ AT RES
HETMOT

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

—E-= —_=F_—
+=ZA=+—8 +TZHA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
2,349,365 4,886,392
1,435,474 1,931,056
364,670 477,262
174,570 459,765
- 702,914
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30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. FRIEEURR - BERR
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT &R E (58)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment testing of mining rights and property, HERBEERER I RERUARY
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation ¥ BERZERENSRE
(continued)
The recoverable amounts of the mining rights in relation to Bolong, RZBE-_=ZF+_A=+—8  B@EHN
Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and Fuchang (2022: Fuchang) was lower than B BR BEREECZEZ=ZF:18
their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2023. E)NREEN KL S EENERE

& -

The recoverable amounts of the relevant property, plant and RZEZ=%+=ZRA=+—H8 ' 5@#H
equipment under mining operation in relation to Bolong, Liaoyuan B -EEREKEECZE_F:E8)K
and Fuchang (2022: Fuchang) was lower than their carrying BEBKIBTHOMEBME  BERRED
amounts as at 31 December 2023. AW E S REENEREE -
The directors were of the opinion that, based on the Valuation BERE BEAERE  CHERES
Reports, impairment loss for the relevant mining operations CGUs FEEBHeEEEN 2 RBEFBETIR
were recognised and were allocated to the assets of the relevant EREmELMN D EEHEREELERS
mining operations CGUs, except for goodwill, pro rata with their EEBNNEEGEBRI -

carrying amounts.
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30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND 30. RXBHEURYZE  BER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT RERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment testing of mining rights and property, EREEREEZFEEURY
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation ¥ BRERZHRENRE
(continued)
The following table shows the (impairment loss)/reversal of TRETHERBEXBRESELESNL Y
impairment loss recognised in respect of property, plant and ¥ BERSBAREEE (RES
equipment and mining rights of the relevant mining operations B),/ REFBEELD
CGUs:

Property, plant and equipment Mining rights Total

N¥ - BERERE R wst

(Impairment loss recognised)/ (Impairment loss recognised)/ (Impairment loss recognised)/
reversal of impairment loss reversal of impairment loss reversal of impairment loss

CRIFESR,FEFERE CEIAESE) AESERE CRIARESR RESESE

For the year ended For the year ended For the year ended
BZUTHHLEE BZEUTRHILEE BEUTHEILFE
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—EC-=E —E-CF —EC-=E —E-F —EC-=HE —EC-F
+=B=+-A +=ZA=+—-8 +=B=+-8 +=-A=+—-H +t=ZA=+-B +tZA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TEx TER TET TER TEx

Bolong il (677,543) 114,452 (1,603,028) 306577 (2,280,571) 421,029
Liaoyuan BB (67,927) 45,648 (164,681) 109,359 (232,608) 155,007
Xinfeng Bk 938 9,237 (88,861) 103,095 (87,923) 112,332
Fuchang s (128,599) (30,569) (35,559) (15,786) (164,158) (46,355)
Jinxin 48 (37,618) 183,205 (61,070) 309,200 (98,688) 492,495
Total @it (910,749) 322,063 (1,953,199) 812445  (2,863,948) 1,134,508
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30.IMPAIRMENT OF MINING RIGHTS AND

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of mining rights and property,
plant and equipment in relation to mining operation
(continued)

If the budgeted sales covering 5-year period were reduced by
5% (2022: 5%), while other parameters remain constant, the
recoverable amount of Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng, Fuchang and
Jinxin would be reduced to approximately HK$2,076,337,000
(2022: approximately HK$3,460,416,000), HK$1,316,411,000
(2022: approximately HK$1,414,255,000), HK$331,744,000
(2022: approximately HK$301,542,000), HK$148,314,000 (2022:
approximately HK$414,431,000) and nil (2022: approximately
HK$590,773,000) respectively and further impairment of Bolong,
Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and Fuchang of approximately HK$273,028,000
(2022: decrease in reversal of impairment of approximately
HK$1,038,419,000), HK$119,063,000 (2022: decrease in reversal
of impairment of approximately HK$364,657,000), HK$32,927,000
(2022: decrease in reversal of impairment of approximately
HK$175,732,000) and HK$26,256,000 (2022: decrease in reversal
of impairment of approximately HK$15,440,000) respectively
and impairment of Jinxin of nil (2022: decrease in impairment of
approximately HK$70,410,000) for the year ended 31 December
20283.

30. RIREURME - BMER

RERE (&)

BREEB A2 REEARY
% BERRERERNR(E

WEERFH2BEHEBERL5%
(ZE2E-—F :5%)  MEML2HER
1% BEE_ZT-_=F+-A=+
—HIEFERE BER -S& - &5
egs B EED RO ELD
2,076,337,0008 L(ZFE =4 : 4
3,460,416,000%7T) * 1,316,411,000
BIL(ZZEZZF 1 491,414,255,00078
7T) ~ 331,744,000 T (Z 2= =

43301,542,000/%87T) * 148,314,0007%
TT(ZZT =~ : #9414,431,000 7T)
RE(ZT=Z=% : 4590,773,000%
TL)  REAEE  BER BBEREEZE—
SRED F4273,028,0008 L (ZF =
—F R EREE R %1,038,419,000
WIT) ~ 119,063,000 t( =2 - =
F - RERELE R %364,657,0008
JT) ~ 32,927,000 0 (=T = —4F :
BB R A #9175,732,0008 7T) &

26,256,000 L (ZF = —F : FERE
@M #115,440,000870) €82
BENAZE(ZZEZZ_F : ALY

70,410,000/ 7T) °
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31.LEASE LIABILITIES NHEEERE
2023 2022
—EB-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
Within 1 year —FR 2,363 1,622
Between 1 year — 2 years —EMF 3,240 804
Between 2 years — 5 years MERF 7,367 2,839
Over 5 years HFLAE 5,379 6,528
18,349 11,793
Less: Amounts due for settlement within -~ & : B ABE TR 1FR
1 year shown under current FIHAEE 2B
liabilities (2,363) (1,622)
Amounts due for settlement after 1 year ~ 3ERENEEIE TR
shown under non-current liabilities P FEREIBEE 2508 15,986 10,171
Lease liabilities with the amounts of approximately HK$17,266,000 HEAEBELTEA17,266,0008 (=%
(2022: approximately HK$11,508,000) denominated in RMB. — 4% : #4911,508,000/F7T) * MAR
MEETE o
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to ERREE R E 2 NETIESERN
lease liabilities was 11% (2022: 12%). KE1%(ZBZ_F : 12%) ©
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32. Hftfg &

32. OTHER BORROWINGS
The exposure of the Group’s other borrowings are as follows:

AEBEMERZREBRIT -

2023 2022

—Eg-= —_EFq-
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest-bearing borrowings (Note j) FREE W) 312,000 312,000
Interest-free borrowings (Notes i and i) % B S (KL Kiii) 395,921 395,921
707,921 707,921

Notes:

M

(i)

(i)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group have other borrowings
related to 2017 Convertible Loan Notes with the remaining
outstanding principal amount of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$312,000,000) which were matured on 10 July 2020 and remain
unsettled at the end of the reporting period. The amount is interest
bearing at coupon rate of 6.5% and default interest rate of 20%. The
Group is in the negotiation with the 2017 Noteholder to restructure
the repayment timetable of the Group’s financial obligations.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group have other borrowings related
to 2020 Convertible Loan Notes A and 2020 Convertible Loan Notes
B with the amounts of HK$380,000,000 due to China OEPC and
HK$15,000,000 due to Ms. Hao respectively which were matured
on 20 October 2022 and remain unsettled at the end of the reporting
period. The amount is unsecured and interest-free. The Group is
in the negotiation with the holder of both to 2020 Convertible Loan
Notes A and 2020 Convertible Loan Notes B to restructure the
repayment timetable of the Group’s financial obligation.

The remaining portion of approximately HK$921,000 (2022:
approximately HK$921,000) is matured convertible loan notes issued
in prior periods that remain unsettled at the end of the reporting
period. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

Hrat

(i)

(i)

(i)

R-E-—ZFR-_T-_—F+-A=+
—B AEBEE_ZT—+LFRBRE
REBREBROEMEE  KEEANSH
£40,000,0003% 7T (18 & 74312,000,000
BIL) ZSEEER T -_ZTF+A
THEHE - BRBEBRDKRLEE - Z
IR EME B R6.5% M E K FR20%5T
B REBIR-Z—+HEZHEHEAFA
B NEAAEEVBEIZERE
HER

RZB-_=F+-_A=+—08 &x&£E
HAB-_ZT-_ZFABRERZELB
T _THFARREREEEENE
18 & 5 511380,000,0005% 7T (FE A F o
Bl 82 7) &% 15,000,000 7t (FEfT F i &
) BERZZE=—_F+A=+RHIH "
BERBREBMKRNALE - ZEAER
HRRE AEBETFEAB-_T-_TF
AR EREEEBA S _SEAH
REFREERFEAETER - LEAXR
SEVBETZERFME -

#921,000B L(ZF - % : 4§
921,000/ 7T) B84 T B 0 R B 1 HAR
BITZERHARRERER - NS
HRMAREE - ZEHER/ERR 2
B RARBERER -
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33.RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS B.HABEAIRS
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEEREZHE
The remunerations of the key management personnel during the FRN - EE2EEEXNE2HFMOT -

year were as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ EE#4E - HF2 REWEF 2,304 2,304
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 32 K& Fll 5+ 2] it 7% 12 30
2,316 2,334
The remunerations of directors and other members of key EEREMFEEEENE 2 H A
management were determined by the remuneration committee MEEeZBARREMSBAERE -
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
34.COMMITMENTS 34 7 IE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEA&EIE
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Contracted but not provided for BRTHMB R -
in respect of:
- acquisition of property, plant and - WY - BE REE
equipment 321,450 457,573
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34. 42 (&)
(b) RERBEH

34. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Environmental contingencies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has not incurred any
significant expenditure specific for environmental remediation
and, apart from the provision for restoration, rehabilitation and
environmental costs (Note 28), has not accrued any amounts
for environmental remediation relating to its operations. Under
existing legislation, the directors believe that there are no
probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on
the financial position or operating results of the Group. Laws
and regulations protecting the environment have generally
become more stringent in recent years and could become
more stringent in the future. Environmental liabilities are
subject to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s
ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation efforts.

These uncertainties include:

() the exact nature and extent of the contamination at the
mine;

(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts;

(i) varying costs of alternative remediation strategies;

(iv) changes in environmental remediation requirements; and
(v) the identification of new remediation sites.

The amount of such future cost is indeterminable due
to such factors like the unknown magnitude of possible
contamination and the unknown timing and extent of the
corrective actions that may be required. Accordingly, the
outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed for future
environmental legislation cannot be reasonably estimated at
present but could be material.

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H ' XK
SEYEELETMNERREEAR
X BT IR - BERRERA
B (aE28)5h - TREBLEE 28
EFRNRREHERAREMNSE - R
BRITAG > EFRG - LEATRE
EEBEHUAKEEM B RNKEE
RKEERERTNZENEL - R
BRENEELERNOFERBY
BEE  KRITAAIGEEREE
BRREETARTRZITHEEREM
o MZEREReg 8 KB G
R TIERARAEEEN

It EIHEEREEE

() BIBASENEEEE R
=3

(i) FIBBEIIENRE
(i) EMAREBEAOTRKA
(v) RIEBWmBEENES : &

(v) FrERtRaER o

ERZERR - BIRAEAER LS
PSR BRE M MR BE R T AL

ZELEETHNREREE &
REEERRKASE - Fiut - B
BT E A AT ARAIRFIAPIFTZ
FENRBEAEMEER - BRI
BEX -
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35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 5. ROBEZNARS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2015 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible
employees and loan arrangement with an independent third
party (the “Lender”), and will expire on 27 May 2025. Under the
Scheme, the directors may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors and directors of its subsidiaries, to subscribe
for shares in the Company.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open
for acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the date
of adoption or the termination of Scheme or the participant to
whom such offer is made has ceased to be a participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
by the grantee upon acceptance of an option. An option shall
be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the participant
together with the said consideration of HK$1.00 is received by
the Company. The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion but in any event will not be less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the share on the date of
grant.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
and remain outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was
1,000,000 (2022: 1,000,000), representing 0.19% (2022: 0.19%)
of the shares of the Company in issue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

=+ A=+—AILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:
(continued)

The following is details of specific categories of options which are
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Vesting Vesting Exercisable
Grantee proportion  period period
ERA BRILE  BED s

Option granted on 24 May 2018

Consultant 50.00% Immediately vested 24 May 2018 to
23 May 2028
Eli SIREE ZE-\ERAZTHMAZR
R \FRAZT=A
50.00% 24 May 2018 to 24 May 2019 to
23 May 2019 23 May 2028

“E-\ERAZtWEE ZZ-A5TAR-1tMAZ
“E-hERAZt=R ZE-\f¥RAB-1=H

The exercise price and number of share options outstanding were
adjusted as a result of share consolidation which has become
effective on 7 August 2020.

2T

35. R IR 5 (%)

RRFzESEERRESS -

(%)

RZB_=ZFR_F-__F+-A=+

Exercise
price

8
HKS$
B

Exercise
price
(adjusted)

ke
(&)
HK$
B

Fair value
at grant date

REHAG
NV E

HK$

B

R-B-NFEA-THARLZERE

0.35

0.35

7.000

7.000

0.08127

0.08315

MARITEBRE 2 ABERIF B
T

Number of
share options
exercisable
asat

31 December
2023 and
2022
R=BZ=f
kR=B==f
t-A=t-H
Tz
BREZA

500,000

500,000

TR R T R B A B AR =
ToTE N\ AR ERZ IR

A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

(continued)
Details of the numbers of outstanding share options during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

35. R < X5 (&)

KRRz EREERBRETE

(%)

REBEZE-_ZE-_=FRK_FT_—_F+-A
=+ HIEFEERITEBRESEF

BT -

Outstanding as at

1 January 2022,

Exercisable as at
1 January 2022,

as at as at
31 December 31 December
2022, as at 2022, as at
1 January 2023 1 January 2023

and as at 31 and as at 31
December 2023 December 2023

N-EB-—F R-EE-_—F

—A—B- —A—8"

—E-F —E-CF

+=A=+-B- +=A=+-8B-
—E-=F —EC-=F

—~A—H —A—H
E=—ZTE-=Ff R-E-=F

t=A=+-8  +=A=+-=
i RATE AIFATHE
’000 000
F F5
Option granted on 24 May 2018 R-ZE—NFHA-+MWAH 1,000 1,000

s qunprd i g
1,000 1,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$) Ml#E 517 E (B T) 7.000

There was no granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 35. R X+ 5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company: AATRZERGEBRESTS
(continued) (&)
These fair values were calculated using Black-Scholes model with ZENFEDNFEAMKER - § RETEE
binomial tree method. The inputs into the model were as follows: EEEN R -IEABREEBETE - 18
B8 ASBOT
Options
granted on
24 May 2018
R=ZZB-N\#F
EA=+MA
Bz ERE
Weighted average share price (HK$) N AR E (B T) 0.280
Exercise price (HK$) TEECET) 0.3500
Expected volatility (%) T8 B 1 (%) 39.28
Expected life (year) TEHAF B (5F) 10.01
Risk-free rate (%) &R E (%) 2.2141
Expected dividend vield (%) TEHARR B R (%) -
Suboptimal factor EES
Directors 5= N/A 38 B
Senior management and employees SREEERES N/AT 3 A
Consultants B8 R 1.5
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility TEHRBIEAR QA RIRMREREF 2 E
of the Company’s share price over the previous year. The SREET - HAMA BT HE R
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on REBE 2 &EME - BAATEEN -
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, TERBIRITREZERZZEELHRE -

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A2 BB AR R &
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—E-=HE B CF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEMERE 1,089 175
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARIZIRE 3,803,764 5,208,132
3,804,853 5,208,307
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables Be - BAFERE M EREIR 1,850 1,852
Cash and cash equivalents HERBREEEY 880 368
2,730 2,220
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H i e 30A 738,716 551,800
Amount due to a director B —HEERIE 14,863 14,863
Other borrowings HifEE 707,921 707,921
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,083 181
1,462,583 1,274,765
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (1,459,853) (1,272,545)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERADERE 2,345,000 3,935,762
Capital and reserves BEXRREE
Share capital [REN 526 526
Reserves fEB 2,256,372 3,858,574
Total equity ERBE 2,256,898 3,859,100
Non-current liability ¥RBaE
Amount due to a related company S —fEEE A B RIA 88,102 76,662
2,345,000 3,935,762
Signed on its behalf of the board of directors by: ATIEERREFGEE -
Mr. Zhang Sanhuo Mr. Tse Michael Nam
R=E%4% MEELE
Director Director
EE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A< B Bt B AR R 3k (4E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Reserves of the Company RATEE
Convertible
Share loan notes
Contributed options Other equity Accumulated
surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRRER

#ARG BRERE  AUER RERFRE  RIER Eh
HK$000  HKB0OD  HK$000 HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
TAR TAR TAT TAT TAT TATL

As at 1 January 2022 RZE-—f-f-H 9,049,712 831 128,349 49054 (4791,789) 4,436,207
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEFERZER RS

for the year - - - - (677,633 (677,633
Expiry of conversion option of the AHARE R R A RES S

convertible loan notes - - - (49,054) 49,054 -
As at 31 December 2022 and as at 1 RZE-ZE+ZA=T-H

January 2023 kZE-=F-f-H 9,049,712 831 128,349 - (5320318 3858574
Loss and total comprehensive expense ~ £EBERZERSLE

for the year - - - - (1,602,202  (1,602,202)
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=f

+ZA=t+-H 9,049,712 831 128,349 - (69225200 2,256,372
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(a)

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37.&®IT A
Categories of financial instruments (a) EMTEZDHE
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FHBT
Financial assets SREE

At amortised cost BESER AR 522,700 439,503
Financial liabilities kA==

At amortised cost B HACAS 8,267,879 8,040,306

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables (exclude
other tax receivables), amounts due from related companies,
restricted bank balances, cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other payables (exclude contract liabilities, accrued staff
costs and other tax payables), amount due to a director,
other borrowings, amounts due to related companies and
amounts due to non-controlling interests. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37.£M T A(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MBREKREEBZEREEGE)
(continued)
Market risk 5 A B
Currency risk B E e

ETeREERERBENEER
AEBMREEE AN EEEE -

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the respective group companies.

RIERHETIEEEEZER K
SEZEBRRIT :

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information
provided to key management is as follows:

HK$ RMB Us$ Total
B AR¥ En B
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TEn TEn THL TER
As at 31 December 2023 R-EZ=fF
+=A=+-H
Non-derivative financial assets FTESREE
Restricted bank balances ZRHFETES = 16,669 = 16,669
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELZEY 880 100,538 12 101,430
Amounts due from related companies  EEE N AlFUE 9 5,863 - 5,872
Trade and other receivables excluding 2 5 & E el FE
non-financial assets TRREFEHEE 1,342 397,387 - 398,729
2,231 520,457 12 522,700
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRER
Trade payables B SEFUE - 24,138 - 24,138
Other payables excluding Hit g - TR%E
non-financial liabilities FeRaR 30,114 1,012,292 713,622 1,756,028
Amount due to a director EN—2EERE 14,821 = = 14,821
Amounts due to non-controlling interests & ¥ JFiE kR FUR = 5,621,071 = 5,621,071
Amounts due to related companies [EEEARZA 88,102 55,798 = 143,900
Other borrowings g 395,000 = 312,921 707,921
528,037 6,713,299 1,026,543 8,267,879
Net non-derivative financial ETESR
liabilities BEFE (525,806) (6,192,830) (1,026,531) (7,745,167)
Currency exposure of MBS EEE
non-derivative financial EXHEZHITESR
liabilities net of those SEFECERAER
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - - (1,026,531) (1,026,531)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. £ I A (A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

(b) BIEEBEE

745 B B (4B)

R B RBER ()

Currency risk (continued) B m b ()
HK$ RMB Us$ Total
B ARE £ =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAEL FAL FET
As at 31 December 2022 W-E-—F
+-A=+-H
Non-derivative financial assets et mEE
Restricted bank balances TRFIRITES - 2,594 = 2,504
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 268 161,395 12 161,675
Amounts due from related companies  EEE D AlFUE 9 5,087 = 5,996
Trade and other receivables excluding 2 5% & E el B
non-financial assets TeREFeRERE 1,324 267,899 15 269,238
1,601 437,875 27 439,503
Non-derivative financial liabilities HTESeRmAR
Trade payables ZSEAFA = 21,672 = 21672
Other payables excluding HiENE - TRE
non-financial liabilities FemaR 29,138 891,604 527,500 1,448,242
Amount due to a director EN—2EERE 14,821 - - 14,821
Amounts due to non-controlling interests F§1'HH Hﬂ’éﬁﬁ?ﬂ = 5,700,952 = 5,700,952
Amounts due to related companies FEREE DR F 76,662 70,036 = 146,698
Other borrowings EffEE 395,000 = 312,921 707,921
515,621 6,684,264 840,421 8,040,306
Net non-derivative financial FETESR
liabilities BEFE (514,020) (6,246,389) (840,394) (7,600,803)
Currency exposure of NHBEEER®
non-derivative financial BN E TSR
liabilties net of those BEFEC EBER
denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective
group entities - - (840,394) (840,394)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37. ¢ IT A&
(b) MBEMEE B EREEE)

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2023, assets and liabilities denominated
in US$ arise mainly from entities with functional currency of
HKS$ (2022: HKS). For the sensitivity analysis related to the
currency risk of US$, as HK$ is pegged to US$, management
considered the foreign currency risk exposure to these US$
assets and liabilities is insignificant.

The transactions and monetary assets denominated in
Cambodia Riel (“KHR”) is minimal, the Group considers there
has no material foreign exchange risk exposure in respect of
KHR.

As assets and liabilities denominated in RMB arise mainly from
entities with functional currency of RMB, the Group considers
there has no material foreign exchange risk exposure in
respect of RMB.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate amounts due to non-controlling interests and
convertible loan notes.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

5 /3 e ()
E¥mk (&)
AE BB AL BINELPBEK - A
- BEEEEEINERR  TER
BERERZREPERINERLR

HEE ST
R-ZB-=F+-A=+—8 "}
ENFECEERBEETEZRN
BIL(ZEZZF : BL) RMEE
MoERMESL - HHEXTTEER
BB BREINME - ARE
TTHETEN  HEEERAE%ZS
ELEENBEBEEHINERRE
o

R ERB((RBDAEZRS
REBEE®RYD  AEERRIYE
BRmB 2 EASMNERR o

HRAARBHEZEERBET
ERENEEE/ARB ZER
AEERR/ABBBEARBZEX
SINEE R\ o

T 7
AEEmRB BRI ERTE
ERERTBEERZRZ AVE
X

7 £2 18 3R B 30 A A ] ) 2R 5 I
Ko R EREEENERAR -
TERERFERERBEHPERNN X
R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZT —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to

37. ¢ IT A&
(b) HBEMREEBEREE(E)

FE

the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s

maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises

the following categories:

Category

Pl

Performing

R1f

Doubtful

R

In default

E Q]

Write-off

A

Description

EL:

The counterparty has a low

risk of default and does
not have any past-due
amounts
HFEREHRRE  B&E
E{sE B R IE

There has been a significant

increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

BT EAREERRA
R

There is evidence indicating

the asset is credit-
impaired

EEBRAEECREE
IE

There is evidence indicating

that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty
and the Group has
no realistic prospect of
recovery
BEBRABBEARNE
BB EE R A EEE
IR & Y [0 78 £

200 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 %

EERRBEHEFIRERNESH
BEERMEFAKENBEROR
R RBEHPR - AEESKSHA
SEERMBERENRSEERR
ik O Ty R 7 RBER
B DEAREAMBRREAR
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TEEM

AEEBRNEERRFBIERE

TR -

Basis for recognising
ECL of trade
receivables

BREZEWREERE
EFBEzEX.E

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

BEGEHSNEHREER
EiE - W REERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

EEFEHNRBEER
B8 - Y EREERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired

EEFEHNRBER
B8 - EERE

Amount is written off

SRR M 55

Basis for recognising ECL of
other financial assets

BREtEREEABEERSE
2BEE

12m ECL

12{8 AR EEEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

EEFENNEREERRE -
T EEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
BEFEPROHEREESE -
EERE

Amount is written off

SO 8



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R ERRMEE
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37. ¢ IT A&
(b) MBEMEE B EREEE)

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk at 31
December 2023 on trade receivables from the Group’s
top trade debtor and top five trade debtors amounting
approximately to 81% and 100% (2022: 98% and 100%) of
the Group’s trade receivables respectively.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated
its finance team to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categorise exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The finance team uses
publicly available financial information and the Group’s own
historical repayment records to rate its major customers and
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

Trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of
approximately HK$363,498,000 (2022: approximately
HK$266,144,000) and HK$5,292,000 (2022: approximately
HK$146,000), which are trade receivables classified as
significant balances and trade receivables classified as
credit-impaired respectively, that are assessed individually.
The Group performed impairment assessment for the trade
receivables equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

=B ()
RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H8" ' K
SEREREAEEZAESHER
AREXREGEBAE S EWFIE
FEETRE  HihAEEES
FEUW R TB81% R100% (-8B~ —
F 1 98% K 100%) °

RBERIEERR  ARECZ
M EL B 7S B B B R R M N
BEERBRFR  URBEORR
RESRRSE - VHEFERR
A MM BEMEAEBEEEBE
EFRCBUFEREETERFRER
A AEEZEERREEHFS
ZEEFEZHEEE - MEKR
ZNREEIHRZERSZHTE
o

BRH 4458 49363,498,0008 L (=&
T - 49266,144,0005%8 ) B
5 UGB & BRE 856 495,292,000
B (ZEZZF 1 #9146,0008
TOME SERGESBDEAER
EHNE FEWGEREEREN
B SR RIES ER®ITHMG - A
EERBRHENEHEHEERBRE
MEeREETE SR KIERNRERT
- EESTEUBREEETE - B
BAEEMNBEEEBELR T
AEFHBELEEENERILER
EER2 ARAERBBHMKIGTE
EIEBEERTRE— PRI AEE
W TRRZRFEEE -
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2023, impairment losses with
the amounts of approximately HK$7,856,000 (2022:
approximately HK$5,695,000) and HK$5,292,000 (2022:
approximately HK$146,000) were related to trade receivables
considered as significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed individually respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE -_=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

37. ¢ IT A&
(b) MBEMEE B EREEE)

37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For refundable deposits, other receivables and amounts due
from related companies, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits and
other receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

Based on ECL assessment, except for amounts of
approximately HK$33,347,000 were considered as default
and recognised as lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) as at 31
December 2022, the credit exposures for refundable deposits,
other receivables, amounts due from related companies and
amounts due from directors are considered as performing
under the Group’s current credit risk grading framework
because the counterparties have a low risk of default and
does not have material past-due amounts. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, no impairment loss (2022: nil) was
recognised.

As at 31 December 2022, deposits and other receivables
with the amounts of approximately HK$33,347,000 of loss
allowance considered as credit-impaired.

The Group sets different categories for customers settling
with bills according to internal credit rating assessment. The
Group does not accept bills from customers with low credit
rating.

The credit risks on bank balances and restricted bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.
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fili o
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2 _Ff+ZRAR=+—8%
33,347,000/ L 1% B E L 1R
AEEFEREHEEESEEBERR
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37.£M T A(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BiiEE B EE B ERBUR ()

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) B EZE R (E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TRZHEEXRPFIARERIEDT
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the EEBMBERTEHIEBR -
agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based ZERBBERNEEZEAIHERMNRK
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on AffZemABE s R MBERERE
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. HmE - XPEEMNERASREN
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. =

Within More than More than

1 year {yearbut  2years but Total Carrying
oron less than less than More than undiscounted amount as at
demand 2years 5years 5years  cashflows 31December
AER Rt+=A

—-FRg -EHE MELL BenE =t-8
EEX EREER  ERIFR BEHRE &8 ZIBEE

HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
TATL TATL TATL TATL TAT TATL

2023 “ECEE
Non-derivative financial liabilities FfT4&REE
Trade payables BAREMATE 24,138 = = = 24,138 24,138
Other payables EREME 1,469,634 286,304 = - 1756028 1,756,028
Amount due to a director ER—2EZ5E 14,821 = o o 14,821 14,821
Other borrowings AtEE 707,921 = = = 707,921 707,921
Amounts due to related companies  JEf &R A5E = 143,900 = = 143,900 143,900
Amounts due tonon-contralling R IEERRER A

interests 5,621,071 = = - 561,01 5,621,071
Lease liabilfies HEER 2,665 4,405 10,125 9,251 26,446 18,349

7,840,250 434,699 10,125 9,251 8294325 8,286,228

2022 “E--E
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 £REE
Trade payables BAREMATE 21672 S S S 21672 21672
Other payables EfbENzE 1,264,138 184,104 = - 1448242 1,448,242
Amount due to a director ER—-ZEZ7E 14,821 S S S 14,821 14,821
Other borrowings HfbiEE 707,921 = = = 707,921 707,921
Amounts due to related companies  JEREE R AIFE S 146,698 S S 146,698 146,698
Amounts due tonon-contraling PR IFRRRERSE

interests 5,700,952 - - - 5,700,952 5,700,952
Lease liabilties HE&R 2,843 1,912 5,443 11,106 21,304 11,793

7.712,347 332,714 5,443 11,106 8061610 8,052,009
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
approximate to their fair values.

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
of the year or assets of the Group. To give details of the other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

37. €M I A (&)
(b) MBEMEE B EREEE)

WHRAEE M BEL N FEFEZ
FEEHTHBEERTHERBZ AT
]

BESZRA HBERAARZER
BERGRABZRAERAERYF
BHE% -

3. EARNFAEEMBLR 2515

TRIHEZRRIEFEAREFE
KENBEEZALTNBAR - EER
AMIEEMHBAR ZFBEEEHA
HiBMILE °

Place
[country of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
and kind of  share capital/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legalentity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities

AfpiIEE ERAR
/BERREA  HRBE/

aq BEEN  HfEs iR RH FRERELS ARAFERERLE  IEER

2023 2022 2023 2022

“g-c-f C-ZI-CF CECZE CEoCE

% % % %
Held directly:
BERE:
Guang Cheng Group Limited BWI USS1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
BHEEERAA ABRAER 1% i3] RERR
Sanmu Investment Holdings Limited BWI USS1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SARERRARAR ABRAER 1% i3] RERR
Held indirectly:
A -
Bilion Zone Development Limited HongKong'  HK$10,000 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
KEEERRAT B 10000%7 B RERR
Hong Kong OEPC Limited HongKong! ~ HKS2 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
FRERERRLERAA B 2% B RERR
North Asia Financial Investment HongKong' ~ HKS1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 187 L RERR
ITERREERERAR
Lexing Holdings Limited BWI USS1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
SALRERAR ABRAER 1% i3] RERR
Sky Rainbow Ventures Limited BVl US$1 Ordinary 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
RIERERAR ABRAER 1% i3] RERR
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. KAFETEMME L T 2515 (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Place
[country of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
andkindof  share capital/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital  shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities

AMAIEE BRAR
/EFREA BRBE/

x| ERER dRER FERAEH 2 ] RAAFBRZRLH  TTER
2023 2022 2023 2022
-“§-=f  -Z--fF  C-BCzE -“E-CE
% % % %

Held indirectly: (continued)

RERE: ()

Seasonal Global Investment Co., Ltd. Cambodia®  US$10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Cultivation and processing of
RHE 10,000,000%7 iER cassava starch for sale
BERMIAZRANMEHE
Bolong® PRC' RMB23,924,200 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
ik il AREB 40 AR BERE
Fuchang® PRC' RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 34 Rl 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
N e ARE2000000m  HHEA coal and other coal products
BRERIAHEERR
EfpfRER
Jiangxi Jin Chuang Information PRC! RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 IT service, system integration
Technology Limitect il ARE2000000n  HAEA BABHRE - 208K
IESEIESBNERAT
Jiangxi Hengchuang Energy Investments ~ PRC' RMBG0,300,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Coal trading and new energy
Co., Ltd* BE ARE60300000n  HEA development
IREEHMEREERAR RRE7 R RRE
Jinxin* PRC' RMB50,080,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
£l " ARE50080000m  HFER coal and other coal products
RIERIRHEERR
AfpfRER
Liaoyuan* PRC' RMB2,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mining and sales of coking
R e ARE2000000m  HHEA coal and other coal products
BRERIHEERR
EfpfRER
Shanxi Changtong Energy Share Co., Ltd*  PRC® RMB100,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Energy development and
WA ERHERHER LA G ARE1000000007  HAEA equipment trading
ERRERARES
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38. AN A EEME LA 2715 (&)

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Place
[country of
incorporation  Issued and fully paid
and kind of  share capital/ Class of Proportion of Proportion of voting power
Company legal entity  registered capital ~ shares held ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
AMELEE BROR
/EFREA HRRA/
A7 BEER  HfER FiERAER ERERRLH ARAFERERLE  TEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-cE -“5--fF CEIzE CE-CF
% % % %
Held indirectly: (continued)
REEE - ()
Shanxi Coal* PRC' RMB370,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal operating and trading
WE R e ARB370000000  #EERK EREBRES
Shanxi Green Leader Corporate PRC' RMB10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 [T senvice, system integration,
Management Trading Limitedt e AEE10000000  HHEA sales of equipments and
LEEELEEREHERAA senvices
BARBRE - RN - HE
ECHET
Shanxi Ruiying Investment and PRC' RMB10,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Management Co,, Li* e ARE10000000  EEL RARR
LEREREEEERAR)
Taiyuan Zhituo Investment Consultant PRC' RMB1,100,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
Co,, Lidf ! AEB1100000m  #EMAR AR
AETEAREERARLA
Xinfeng” PRC' RMB62,000,000 Registered capital 49 49 56 56 Coal mine development
B hE AREB20000007  HFER S
Gujiao Hengbattai Coal Trading Co., Ltd.*  PRC' RMB20,000,000 Registered capital 100 100 100 100 Coal processing
ERTEERERE SARAR e ARE2,000000m  HBEE FrmT

#  English name is for identification purpose only
*  Although the Group only held 49% of equity in interest in Shanxi Coal,
Jinxin, Bolong, Liaoyuan, Xinfeng and 34% equity in Fuchang, the

directors concluded that the Group has control over these companies
on the basis as set out in Note 5.

U Limited liability company
2 Private limited company

3 Corporation

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the reporting period or at any time during both years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

v EXEEERHS

Y BEAKEESBLUAERK 2% 0
B BRREBEZAONREARIEE 2
BA%MHE - MEERR - LIRS
A AEEHEAZERRZEHE -

T BREERAA

2 FAABRAH

s RHEIRFE

MENB R RBHA TR REHRIR
BE-_Z-_ =T -_—F+=-A=

T—BIEREFEEAGEHDREEZ
BERBES -
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. RKRTFEEME L T 2515 (&)

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries TREVNGEEAEERER 2 ASE
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: F2EWMBRTFE

Proportion of
ownership  Voting power

interest held by held by the

Country of incorporation and non-controlling non-controlling

Name of the subsidiary principal country of business interests interests
IEERER

MBI R R BEZHEER R
ME AR &R FEEXER Bl FHEZRERE
2023
—EB-=F
Shanxi Coal Group PRC 51% 44%
WL PR i H
2022
—F -
Shanxi Coal Group PRC 51% 44%
Moy S H
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents

3. ARAETEMBE AT 25F15 ()

AEBARERNFERERZHTEAR
ZHBERMBEZINWT o« Tl 2 B 7%
BN ZEREEREHEA S -

amounts before intra-group eliminations.

Shanxi Coal Group 2023 2022
Eipyo 3= —BZZ=H ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Current assets MEEE 601,169 623,133
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,518,355 8,259,224
Current liabilities meEnaE (5,494,752) (5,640,631)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE (976,693) (1,558,452)
Net assets BEFE (1,351,921) 1,683,274
Capital deficiencies attributable to RRBIER ANEMMEREA
owners of the Company (2,022,421) (438,387)
Non-controlling interests AR 670,500 2,121,661
Total equity EmAARE (1,351,921) 1,683,274
Dividend paid and payable to non- B R PR R AR R IR B
controlling interests 51,561 96,789
Revenue A 1,197,252 1,806,119
Expenses 53 (1,814,848) (1,642,461)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment B EYM% - ME K& A L IRE
loss recognised in respect of property, R CREER), S RIEE
plant and equipment and mining rights E#E D (2,863,948) 1,134,508
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(E18), % (3,110,288) 1,102,111
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of RREEE ARG (BB), &
the Company (1,574,242) 524,884
(Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling  FEIE A 25 FE(h (E512) i F
interests (1,536,046) 577,227
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EB),HF (3,110,288) 1,102,111
Other comprehensive expense KAREAE ABGEMAZE
attributable to owners of the Company Sz (9,792) (27,944)
Other comprehensive expense IR RS E M2 E
attributable to non-controlling interests X (11,892) (44,399)
Other comprehensive expense for the year & E i 2 HEF X (21,684) (72,343)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income RAREEAEGRZEA
attributable to owners of the Company (X)W A 4% (1,584,034) 496,940
Total comprehensive (expense)/income IR ERELEE
attributable to non-controlling interests (FI), M A 4258 (1,547,938) 532,828
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FE2EGFEX),WALLE
for the year (3,131,972) 1,029,768
Net cash inflow from operating activites &2 /EBIR SR AFE 193,512 445,671
Net cash outflow from investing activites & & /EBIR &R IR 58 (124,225) (336,573)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B2 & EB)IR &R R 58 (71,537) (64,431)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be(Rt) FAFEE (2,250) 44,667
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2022

On 27 January 2022, the Group completed to dispose the entire
equity interest in Hamford Enterprises Limited (“Hamford”) to
an independent third party and a sale loan of approximately
HK$1,233,000 at consideration of HK$700,000. The consideration
was settled against the convertible loan notes with the amounts of
HK$700,000 outstanding by the Company which included in other
borrowings. The net liabilities of Hamford at the date of disposal
were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

30. HEM B QT

BE-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H1L
FE

RZE-_—_F—A=-++H " xEEZ
KE—2BYE=FHEEREFED
¥ERAR(EHED 22 HBRERHEE
B 3491,233,000/8 7T + R {B/A700,000
BIL - REURXRBREESER
700,000 T2 AJ MR EREEGTAE
HEE)EN  EERNEERZaEF
BT

KEBHBEZ BERBEDT

HK$’'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment Y E J‘r‘ﬁ}%&“ﬁ 14

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERRIE -~ e RH M EWEIE 82

Other payables H e ﬁw\ (20)

Amount due to ultimate holding company FERT R AIERR A E 2 B (1,233)

Net liabilities disposed of BEHEA {; )R] (1,157)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—IME 2 Al z Wz

HK$'000

FHET

Consideration transferred BEERE 700

Net liabilities disposed of EHEAaEEE 1,157

Amount due to ultimate holding company R T H 2 RN RRIERAR 2 RIE
assigned to the purchaser (1,233)
Gain on disposal HE W 624

There is no cash inflow and outflow arising on disposal of a
subsidiary.
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40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
The Group entered into the followings major non-cash investing
and financing activities which are not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

(@

On 27 January 2022, the Group completed to dispose the
entire equity interest in Hamford to an independent third party
at consideration of HK$700,000. The consideration was
settled against the convertible loan notes with the amounts of
HK$700,000 outstanding by the Company which included in
other borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain property,
plant and equipment was acquired through settlement of
deposits of property, plant and equipment with the amounts
of approximately HK$4,477,000 paid in previous years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for 2 to
5 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$16,281,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, non-controlling
interests waived interests with the amounts of approximately
HK$148,338,000 (2022: nil) accrued by the Group and
recognised as contribution from non-controlling interests.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Fuchang
declared a dividend with the amounts of approximately
HK$51,561,000, in which amounts of approximately
HK$15,286,000 were included in other payables as at 31
December 2023.

40.FE2FBRERS

AEEFUUTEZHRREEERBRE
mE RFEBATERNGEREERER
MR

@ RZZTE——F—A=++tH £&&
Exfkm—&BYE=_THEER
Fitg 2 2 EpRx#E - KB /700,000
BIL e REUARRREESEAS
700,000/ 7T 2 AT R B R = 4% (R
AHAEE)ER -

b)) B2 -_=F+=-_A=+—HL
FE BETUVE BERREDNE
BRESBEFEENVE  BEX
BEIR S 44,477 00078 T UEE -

 HEZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H1t
FE AEEREAEEWEITL
FHEWRRE  AH-_E=ERTF - R
EREE  ASBERREAREE
FIEEEL16,281,0008 7T °

d) HE2ZFE=—_=F+=ZA=+—H1IL
FE TR ESNENEEER
MERBIEERERTENFES
%8 49/%148,338,000/ T (Z B ==
F:F)o

(e) HE-_ZT-_=%+=-H=+—8H
tFE - BEEERRESEHA
51,561,000 70 Hh - €8
15,286,000 TR = E=Z=F +=
A=1+—HE AHEMBTRIE -
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41

42.

.CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain assets were pledged
to secure the 2017 Convertible Loan Notes, including (i) share
charges of entire issued share capital of certain Company’s
subsidiaries; (i) charges on account receivables from one of the
Group’s debtors with nil balance as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil); and (jii) land charges over certain lands located in Cambodia
that to be acquired by the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 19 January 2024, Shanxi Coal Group complete a
reorganisation to the relevant government policies by the Shanxi
Provincial Government which 2 directors additionally onto the
Shanxi Coal Group by the Group pursuant to a resolution of
the shareholders of Shanxi Energy in 2009 shall abstain from
exercising their voting rights at the meetings of the board of Shanxi
Coal Group. As a result of the completion of the reorganisation,
the Group has loss of control over Shanxi Coal Group and no
longer to consolidated Shanxi Coal Group as subsidiaries and
will be accounted for as associates of the Group under equity
accounting method. Particular of the deemed disposal are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 19 January 2024 and 7
February 2024.
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